Pain After Breast Cancer Surgery is Predicted by Pre-Operative Immunological and Psychological Factors

Shannon Goodall

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

> Graduate Program in Kinesiology & Health Science York University Toronto, Ontario

> > April 2019

©Shannon Goodall, 2019

ABSTRACT

This study identified risk factors for pain intensity at rest and with movement, pain qualities and neuropathic pain 24 hours post-breast cancer surgery (BCS). Before surgery 86 women completed demographic, health status, and psychological questionnaires and blood was drawn to measure baseline cytokine levels. Numeric Rating Scale-Rest (NRS-R), NRS-Movement (NRS-M), Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ) and Short-Form Neuropathic Pain Questionnaire (SF-NPQ) were completed 24 hours post-BCS. Backward regression models found significant correlates for NRS-R: younger age, increased pain catastrophizing and bilateral surgery; NRS-M: younger age, increased trait anxiety, bilateral surgery, and mastectomy; SF-MPQ: increased pain catastrophizing, bilateral surgery, and previous breast surgery; and SF-NPQ: decreased interleukin-10 and increased pain catastrophizing. These results support the biopsychosocial model of pain and the importance of measuring multiple pain outcomes. Variables accounting for the most variance in each outcome (pain catastrophizing [NRS-R; SF-MPQ], trait anxiety [NRS-M] and baseline IL-10 [SF-NPQ]) are potentially modifiable.

ABSTRACT	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
ABBREVIATIONS	vii
1 INTRODUCTION	1
2 CURRENT STATE OF KNOWLEDGE AND RATIONALE	2
2.1 Breast Cancer Surgery	2
2.2 Pain Definition, Mechanisms and Theories	2
2.3 Changes to Pain Processing in Injury	8
2.4 Cytokines and Pain	13
2.5 Risk Factors for Post-Surgical Pain	55
2.6 Pain Outcomes	65
2.7 Consequences of Unrelieved Post-Surgical Pain	66
2.8 Relevance and Importance	66
2.9 Objectives	67
2.10 Hypotheses	67
3 METHODS	68
3.1 Measures	70
3.2 Data Analyses	73
4 RESULTS	77
4.1 Participant characteristics	79
4.2 Cytokine concentrations	83
4.3 Pain Outcomes	84
4.4 Bivariate Analysis	86
4.5 Models	90

TABLE OF CONTENTS

5 DISCUSSION	92
5.1 Pain Outcomes	92
5.2 Multidimensional Model of Pain	94
5.3 Predictors of Pain Outcomes	97
5.4 Limitations	108
5.5 Implications and Future Directions	109
6 CONCLUSIONS	113 114
APPENDICES	152
APPENDIX A: QUESTIONNAIRES	152
APPENDIX B: DATA COLLECTION TIMELINE	167
APPENDIX C: MODEL ASSUMPTION TESTING	168

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Literature Review for Inflammatory Cytokines and Pain	16
Table 2. Participant Baseline Characteristics	80
Table 3. Treatment History, Disease and Surgical Details	82
Table 4. Pre-operative Scores on Psychological Measures	83
Table 5. Pre-operative Cytokine Concentrations	84
Table 6. Bivariate Analysis with Pain Outcomes and Potential Predictor Variables	89
Table 7. Multivariate Backwards Regression Models for Pain Outcomes	91

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. CONSORT diagram of participants	.78
Figure 2. Proportion of patients selecting each item on the SF-MPQ	.85
Figure 3. Proportion of patients selecting each item on the SF-NPQ	.86

ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Meaning
ACC	Anterior cingulate cortex
ACL	Anterior cruciate ligament
ALND	Axillary Lymph Node Dissection
AMPA	lpha-Amino-3-Hydroxy-5-Methyl-4-Isoxazolepropionic Acid
APSP	Acute Post-Surgical Pain
ASA	American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Classification System
BCS	Breast Cancer Surgery
BMI	Body Mass Index
BMSC	Bone Marrow Stromal Cells
CCI	Charlson Comorbidity Index
CES-D	Center for Epidemiological Studies – Depression Scale
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase -2
CRPS	Complex Regional Pain Syndrome
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
CV	Coefficient of variation
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DRG	Dorsal root ganglion
ER	Estrogen Receptor
fMRI	Functional magnetic resonance imaging
GABA	gamma-aminobutyric acid
GCSF	Granulocyte colony stimulating factor
GCT	Gate control theory
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
НС	Healthy Controls
HER2	Her2/neu receptor
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
ICBN	Intercostobrachial Nerve
IFN-γ	Interferon-y
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 eta
IL-1Ra	Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist
IL-2	Interleukin-2
IL-4	Interleukin-4
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-8	Interleukin-8
IL-10	Interleukin-10
IL-17	Interleukin-17

KPS	Karnofsky Performance Status
LLOD	Lower Limit of Detection
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
MSD	Meso Scale Discovery
NeP	Neuropathic Pain
NK cells	Natural killer cells
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NRS-M	Numeric Rating Scale for Pain with Movement
NRS-R	Numeric Rating Scale for Pain at Rest
PAG	Periaqueductal Grey
PCS	Pain Catastrophizing Scale
PGE2	Prostaglandin 2
PPSP	Persistent Post-Surgical Pain
PR	Progesterone Receptor
RA	Research Assistant
RVM	Rostroventral medulla
SF-MPQ	Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire
SF-NPQ	Short-Form Neuropathic Pain Questionnaire
SLNB	Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy
SNI	Spared Nerve Injury
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
STAI-S	State-trait anxiety inventory – state subscale
STAI-T	State-trait anxiety inventory – trait subscale
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor- eta
TNF-α	Tumour Necrosis Factor- $lpha$
Treg	T regulatory cell
TRPA1	Transient receptor potential ankyrin 1
TRPV1	Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1
UD	Undetectable
UHN	University Health Network
VAS	Visual analog scale
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
VIF	Variance inflation factor
WPT	Widespread Palpation Tenderness

1 INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer is the most common cancer affecting Canadian women with 26,300 expected diagnoses in 2017¹. Mortality from breast cancer has declined since the mid-1980s, and the current five-year survival rate is 87%¹. This increased survivorship warrants a focus on preventing and reducing treatment sequelae. Surgery remains frontline treatment, however, it is associated with acute post-surgical pain (APSP) in 15-60% of patients^{2,3}. APSP can lead to complications involving multiple organ systems, psychological distress, reduced patient satisfaction, delayed discharge from hospital, unanticipated readmissions and persistent post-surgical pain (PPSP)⁴.

Pain is a biopsychosocial construct and therefore, to elucidate risk factors for APSP considering multiple dimensions is essential. In the biological domain, various inflammatory cytokines have been implicated suggesting they could be effective biomarkers to identify those at risk for APSP. However, most research has examined chronic pain populations or the post-operative inflammatory response rather than baseline levels. Studies on APSP have mostly focused on demographic, surgical and psychological risk factors. The current study was the first to our knowledge to develop models of APSP intensity at rest, with movement, general pain qualities and neuropathic pain (NeP) qualities after breast cancer surgery (BCS) using pre-operative factors, including baseline cytokine concentrations, demographic, biological and health status, surgical, and psychological variables. Identifying patients at high-risk for APSP and modifiable risk factors will allow tailored analgesic, psychosocial and educational initiatives, which may reduce the burden of APSP.

2 CURRENT STATE OF KNOWLEDGE AND RATIONALE

2.1 Breast Cancer Surgery

Most patients with breast cancer undergo lumpectomy or mastectomy, and possibly sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB) or axillary lymph node dissection (ALND)^{5,6}. Lumpectomy removes the tumour and some healthy tissue^{5,6}. Mastectomy removes the entire breast and can be followed by immediate or delayed reconstruction^{5,6}. SLNB removes the first lymph nodes from around the tumour and is performed to determine if there is involvement^{5,6}. If there is, then ALND, the removal of 10-40 lymph nodes from the axilla, will be carried out to determine the extent of the spread^{5,6}.

Unfortunately, post-BCS pain has been reported to occur in 15-60%^{2,3} of patients, and on average women report moderate pain in the post-anesthesia recovery room³. However, APSP varies widely with some patients reporting minimal pain and others experiencing severe pain⁷.

2.2 Pain Definition, Mechanisms and Theories

Pain is a multidimensional experience defined by The International Association for the Study of Pain as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage"⁸. Nociceptive pain is triggered by tissue damage and is usually throbbing, aching or pressure-like. NeP results from a lesion or disease of the somatosensory nervous system and is typically lancinating, shooting, electric-like or stabbing⁹. Often acute NeP occurs simultaneously with nociceptive pain¹⁰. Most attention to post-surgical NeP focuses on chronic NeP which occurs in 20-69% of patients¹¹. Few studies distinguish between nociceptive and NeP in the acute period despite different etiologies and management strategies. Other terms commonly used to describe pain that do not imply an underlying mechanism include: allodynia – pain from a stimulus that does not normally cause pain¹², and hyperalgesia – increased pain from a stimulus that normally causes pain¹².

Gate Control Theory

Melzack and Wall's (1965) Gate Control Theory (GCT), proposes that skin stimulation induces nerve impulses that are transduced by peripheral nociceptors to the dorsal horn¹³. At the dorsal horn, the impulse is integrated with signals from other afferent neurons, interneurons and descending modulatory signals¹⁴. This modulation affects the membrane potential of afferent fiber terminals and determines the excitatory effect of incoming impulses¹³. The balance between nociceptive and facilitatory signals with non-nociceptive and inhibitory signals in the dorsal horn will determine if the gate will be "open" or "closed", dictating whether the signal will be propagated to the brain^{13,15}. Negative emotions, such as helplessness and anger, "open" the gate, while positive behaviours such as stress reduction "close" the gate¹⁶. Importantly, this theory proposes one possible mechanism for the influence of higher cortical functions on the subjective perception of pain.

The GCT continues to be the most widely accepted model of pain^{17,18}. In 1999, Melzack updated the GCT, proposing the neuromatrix theory of pain, which defines pain as a multidimensional experience generated by a complex neural network in the brain rather than directly by sensory input¹⁹. In the following sections, I will first discuss the transmission of a nociceptive signals from the periphery to the central nervous system. Then I will explore the neuromatrix theory of pain and the complex interactions that occur within the central nervous system. Following that, I will explore how injury, such as surgery, may influence neurobiological changes in both the peripheral and central nervous systems and how cytokines influence these

processes. I will finish by exploring the evidence for various risk factors in the development of post-operative pain.

Nociception

The process of nociception begins when a noxious stimulus or tissue damage, such as that occurring during surgery, activates peripheral nociceptors²⁰. Nociceptors are sensory afferent fibres that respond to external and internal stimuli but are normally silent, only transmitting signals when a given threshold is reached²¹. Afferent fibres, whose cell bodies lie predominantly in the dorsal root ganglion (DRG), enter into grey matter of the spinal cord as dorsal roots and terminate primarily in the dorsal horn where the incoming signals are modified by many interacting neurons¹⁴. The signal is then transmitted to projection neurons that ascend to the brain²². Aδ and C afferent fibres, which carry predominantly nociceptive signals, terminate mainly in the tip of the dorsal horn, which corresponds to the substantia gelatinosa or Rexed's laminae I-II²³. These fibres principally release the excitatory neurotransmitter glutamate¹⁴. Low-threshold Aβ fibres and low threshold Aδ and C fibres, responsible for transmitting tactile information, terminate primarily in laminae II-IV²⁵.

Some projection neurons ascend to nuclei in the thalamus while others ascend to other brain regions including the parabrachial nucleus, the midbrain periaqueductal grey (PAG), the reticular formation, the hypothalamus, the nucleus of the solitary tract, and the ventrolateral medulla^{14,24}. The projection neurons that reach these regions in the brain then synapse with other neurons that extend to higher cortical areas of the brain, including the somatosensory cortices, insula, anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and prefrontal cortex^{22,26–28}.

Dorsal Horn Integration

Afferent fibres interact with interneurons and directly with ascending projection neurons in the dorsal horn¹⁴. Interneurons may be excitatory or inhibitory, and these neurons receive input from primary afferent fibres, other interneurons, as well as from descending pathways^{29– ³¹. Some inhibitory interneurons receive input from Aβ fibres and synapse with afferents innervating excitatory interneurons, causing presynaptic inhibition^{32,33}. Other inhibitory interneurons receive input from nociceptive afferents and synapse with either excitatory or inhibitory interneurons^{33,34}. Different types of excitatory interneurons also receive inputs from Aδ and C afferent fibres³⁵, while others respond to Aβ fibres^{33,34}. Inhibitory interneurons mediate their effect primarily via gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and glycine, while excitatory interneurons release glutamate^{29,33–35}.}

Consistent with the conceptual GCT, the total input to projection neurons directly from primary afferent fibres and from a variety of interneurons, determines whether a signal will be transmitted along the ascending pathways²⁴. Projection neurons found in lamina I contain most of the nociceptive-responsive ascending fibres³⁴. Projection neurons in deeper laminae, particularly lamina V, have wide dynamic range neurons that respond to both nociceptive and innocuous stimuli²⁴. The integration of signals in the dorsal horn is complex and various cell types and interactions continue to be elucidated however, current evidence continues to support the GCT.

Descending pathways

As suggested by Melzack & Wall in the GCT, descending pathways from the brain to the dorsal horn allow psychological factors to contribute to processing of nociceptive stimuli³⁶. These descending inputs influence which signals are transmitted, ensuring information relevant to a given situation is received, while other less relevant signals are silenced²³. Descending pathways, which contain serotonergic neurons, noradrenergic neurons, and dopaminergic neurons, as well as neurons that release GABA and endogenous opioids demonstrate both inhibitory and facilitatory effects directly on dorsal horn neurons and via interneurons in the dorsal horn³⁷. This contributes to the "gating" function in the spinal cord and affects whether a nociceptive signal from A δ and C fibres will be transmitted to nociceptive responsive ascending neurons³⁸.

Descending modulation may be influenced by context (pain beliefs, expectation, past experiences), cognition (attention, catastrophizing), mood (depression, anxiety), genetics and neurochemical changes³⁹. The prefrontal cortex⁴⁰, ACC⁴¹, amygdala^{42,43}, hypothalamus⁴⁴, PAG^{43,45} and rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM)^{43,46} have all been implicated in the descending modulatory systems. Importantly, many of these pathways are involved in or receive inputs from areas of the brain associated with emotion, fear, anxiety, and other higher order functions³⁷.

Some descending pathways have been well characterized while others are still being clarified. One of the most clearly described involves fibres descending from the RVM in the midbrain to the dorsal horn⁴⁶. The RVM receives input from the PAG, the nucleus cuneiformis, prefrontal cortex, the amygdala and the ACC^{28,47}. The RVM can have both an inhibitory and facilitatory effect, mediated through different cell types which is beyond the scope of this thesis^{48,49} (see Heinricher et al. (2009)⁴⁶ for more details). The effect in the dorsal horn depends

on the balance of inputs from the inhibitory and facilitatory cells²⁸. The various higher cortical areas with connections to the RVM descending pathway is one of many top-down systems implicated in the complex modification of nociceptive signals (see Millan (2002)³⁸ for an in-depth review).

Neuromatrix Model of Pain

Melzack later developed the neuromatrix model of pain which builds on the GCT^{19,36}. The neuromatrix involves networks of neurons, with loops connecting the thalamus and cortex and cortex and limbic system¹⁹. This network is initially genetically determined and modified by sensory inputs¹⁹. These loops diverge allowing processing in different regions of the brain and converge leading to integration of different processing outputs¹⁹. Melzack proposed that inputs to the neuromatrix include: cognitive related brain areas (past experiences, attention, memory, anxiety), sensory signaling systems (cutaneous, visceral, musculoskeletal) and emotion related brain areas (limbic system and associated homeostatic and stress responses)^{19,50}. These different dimensions of processing lead to outputs, referred to as the neurosignature, that travel to various brain areas to produce pain perception (sensory, affective, and cognitive dimensions), action responses (involuntary and voluntary movement) and stress regulation (cortisol, noradrenaline, endorphin and immune system responses)⁵⁰.

The pain neuromatrix is thought of as having two parts: a lateral component, which includes the somatosensory cortices, thalamus and posterior insula and is primarily responsible for sensory-discriminative aspects of pain; and a medial component, consisting of the anterior insula, ACC and prefrontal cortex, responsible for the affective-evaluative-cognitive aspect of pain^{26,27,39,51}. However, this proposed 'matrix' is dynamic and different components may be

activated in different situations, which could contribute to some of the disparities reported in functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies examining components of the pain matrix³⁹.

The primary regions involved in pain processing include somatosensory cortices^{52–59}, insula^{52–54,56–61}, ACC^{41,56–58,61}, prefrontal cortex^{57,58,61,62} and thalamus^{52,53,56–58,60,61,63} (see Apkarian et al. (2005)⁶⁴ meta-analysis). Other areas including the basal ganglia⁶⁵, cerebellum⁵⁸, amygdala and hippocampus^{43,56,66} may also be activated depending on the individual and context³⁹. Activation of motor areas was also observed ^{56–58,61,63} supporting that the output from the neuromatrix contributes to motor responses, as proposed by Melzack¹⁹.

Importantly, many of the regions involved in the pain neuromatrix are also involved in emotional processing and cognitive functions and activity in various areas involved in the neuromatrix are differentially activated in different emotional states⁶⁷. The outcome of these interacting factors that vary for each individual in different situations is proposed to, in part, explain varied pain experiences¹⁶, such as seen after BCS⁶⁸. Functional imaging studies have supported that varied activation and connectivity between different brain regions is related to different pain experiences⁶⁹.

2.3 Changes to Pain Processing in Injury

Tissue damage, such as surgical incisions, can lead to neurobiological changes at multiple levels of the pain processing pathway that result in increased pain sensitivity, which can be adaptive initially but may become problematic⁷⁰.

Peripheral sensitization

Peripheral sensitization is described as a reduced activation threshold in peripheral nociceptors and increased frequency of action potentials in response to stimulation⁷¹. Tissue damage results in the release of endogenous molecules, known as damage associated molecular patterns that activate innate immune cells⁷². Molecules released from damaged cells can also directly activate nociceptors⁷³. Activation of nociceptors and local non-neural cells results in the release of endogenous mediators including neurotransmitters, substance P, bradykinin, prostaglandin, leukotrienes, neurotropic factors, cytokines etc.^{74–76}. Importantly, nociceptors express receptors for many of these molecules leading to depolarization or activation of protein kinases that phosphorylate transducer proteins and ion channels, resulting in sensitization²⁰. The presence of these inflammatory mediators also upregulates various sodium channels in DRG neurons^{77–79}. In addition, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, important in excitatory neurotransmission, are upregulated and phosphorylated in peripheral nociceptors during inflammation, increasing excitability^{80,81}. Ultimately, the outcome is decreased firing threshold and an amplified response to suprathreshold stimuli.

The substances released into the local area also: increase vascular permeability, allowing the escape of prostaglandins, bradykinin, growth factors and cytokines into the local area^{71,82,83}; activate local immune cells that release more pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, components of the complement cascade and vasodilators^{70,75,76}; and they recruit circulating immune cells leading to an increase in immune cells at the site of injury^{84–86}. These actions further increase the accumulation of inflammatory mediators at the site of damage.

In addition to the above mechanisms, peripheral nerve damage also induces additional changes leading to peripheral sensitization. Nerve damage induces changes in gene expression in damaged neurons which leads to changes in excitability, transduction and transmission properties^{71,87}. For example, peripheral nerve injury leads to the upregulation of calcium channel subunits in DRG neurons which is associated with allodynia⁸⁸. In addition, increased expression of neurotransmitters and receptors normally expressed in nociceptors are upregulated in other fibres resulting in a phenotypic switch with fibres that respond to light touch being recruited into the nociceptive circuit^{71,87,89,90}. Nerve damage also leads to the recruitment of immune cells to the injured nerve and the DRG⁹¹ as well as activation of glia in the dorsal horn^{92,93}.

All of these changes contribute to increased spontaneous nociceptor activity, decreased activation thresholds, amplified response to suprathreshold stimuli and recruitment of silent nociceptors⁹⁴. The end result is increased input to the spinal cord⁹⁵.

Central sensitization

Peripheral tissue injury also induces changes in the central nervous system that contribute to increased sensitivity⁹⁶. Central sensitization is associated with spontaneous activity, decreased activation threshold, increased responsiveness and increased receptive field size of dorsal horn neurons⁹⁷. C fibres release glutamate, substance P, neurokinin-A and calcitonin gene related peptide into the dorsal horn⁹⁸. The repetitive stimulation of dorsal horn neurons by C fibres and the substances they release trigger a range of changes in dorsal horn neurons. Firstly, phosphorylation and removal of magnesium block from NMDA glutamate receptors in the spinal cord increases their susceptibility to activation by glutamate^{80,99}. The increased calcium entering the neurons strengthens the synapse between the nociceptor and the 2nd order neuron, leading

to hyperalgesia¹⁰⁰. Secondly, activation of receptors for glutamate and substance P further increases intracellular calcium in dorsal horn neurons and leads to activation of voltage-gated calcium channels^{20,74}. The increased intracellular calcium as well as binding of inflammatory and neurogenic mediators to neurons in the dorsal horn activates kinases that phosphorylate membrane channels increasing their excitability^{20,101}. The increased responsiveness mediated by one kinase, phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase, is associated with phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits as well as translocation of an α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) subunit to the membrane in dorsal horn neurons^{97,102}. Decreased GABA and glycinergic inhibitory regulation in the dorsal horn also contributes to central sensitization^{101,103–105}. GABAergic and glycinergic descending projections represent a subpopulation of descending modulatory projections from the brain¹⁵. Increased Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and Tumour Necrosis Factor $-\alpha$ (TNF- α) have both been shown to be involved in the reduction of GABA-mediated inhibition in the spinal cord^{104,106}. Loss of inhibition by the descending pathways leads to increased transmission of excitatory nociceptive signals, including signals from low-threshold A fibers which may contribute to allodynia¹⁰⁷. In addition, non-neural cells such as astrocytes, microglia, and T cells, are activated which triggers release of prostaglandins, cytokines (including Interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), Interleukin-6 (IL-6), Interleukin-8 (IL-8), TNF- α) and other molecules that sensitize dorsal horn cells^{20,100,108–111}. Overall, these changes result in increased synaptic strength, reduced activation thresholds, increased responsiveness to suprathreshold stimuli, expanded receptive fields and spontaneous activity in spinal cord neurons ^{112,113}.

In addition to the above mechanisms of central sensitization, nerve damage also induces specific changes in spinal cord structures. It downregulates glutamate transporters that maintain glutamate levels in the synapse, leading to increased glutamate in synapses and therefore increased activation of glutamate receptors on neurons¹¹⁴. In addition, non-neural cells such as macrophages, neutrophils and T cells, migrate into the dorsal horn after nerve injury^{70,101,115}. Nerve injury also induces proliferation of microglial cells in the spinal cord¹⁰⁸. Microglia and astrocytes release cytokines and reactive oxygen species that excite spinal neurons and act in an autocrine and paracrine fashion creating a positive-feedback loop of pain-enhancing signals¹¹⁶. Sprouting of sympathetic neurons into the DRG and of Aβ neurons into lamina II of the dorsal horn also contribute to increased activity of dorsal horn neurons after peripheral nerve injury^{117,118}.

Injury also induces changes in a number of supraspinal structures involved in pain processing¹¹⁹. In mice, peripheral inflammation upregulated the NR2B subunit of the NMDA receptor in ACC neurons and injection of an NR2B inhibitor into the ACC or systemically, inhibited behavioural allodynia, supporting the relevance of these changes to inflammation induced hypersensitivity¹²⁰. Tajerian et al. (2013)¹²¹ reported global changes in DNA methylation in the prefrontal cortex and the amygdala after nerve injury which correlated with mechanical and thermal sensitivity. In addition, dendrites in the prefrontal cortex of rats subjected to spared nerve injury were longer and had more branches¹²². These changes were also accompanied by increased NMDA currents that were inversely correlated with paw tactile thresholds¹²². See Jaggi et al. (2011)¹²³ or Boadas-vaello et al. (2017)¹²⁴ for an in-depth review on the supraspinal changes induced after peripheral nerve injury and in pathological pain states.

2.4 Cytokines and Pain

Cytokines are important mediators in inflammation and the many sensitizing changes that occur after injury such as surgery^{125,126}. Immune cells in the area of damage, including macrophages or mast cells, as well as those recruited to the site of injury secrete mediators including cytokines^{127–129}. Activated or damaged nerves and activated glia release neuropeptides, neurotransmitters and cytokines, including IL-6, TNF- α , substance P and prostaglandins, into the central nervous system^{93,127,130,131}. These mediators, released from immune cells and neurons, act directly on nerve terminals and immune cells to modulate the inflammatory response^{127,128} and neuronal sensitivity^{21,130}.

Some effects that alter the inflammatory response include: activating other immune cells like macrophages¹³², neutrophils^{75,76} and mast cells¹³³, to release more mediators; recruiting and activating leukocytes via expression of adhesion molecules^{84–86}; increasing vascular permeability allowing increased extravasation of other immune cells into the damaged area^{82,83,134}; and inducing changes to chemotaxic signaling^{84,135,136}.

Direct effects on neurons by cytokines, in both the peripheral and central nervous system, lead to increased excitability of nociceptive pathways^{21,105,137,138}. Cytokines trigger sympathetic sprouting in the DRG¹¹⁷; modify or change expression of ligand gated channels or voltage gated sodium channels in dorsal root ganglion neurons^{77–79,138,139}; and alter inhibitory interneurons resulting in disinhibition of nociceptive pathways^{105,106}. These changes lead to increased action potential generation and increased excitability of nociceptive pathways.

Pro-inflammatory cytokines also contribute to supraspinal changes that impact topdown control and processing of noxious stimuli after injury. Various cytokines, including IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α are increased in regions of the brain associated with pain processing, like the PAG and ACC, and contribute to changes in sensitivity^{140–142}.

The initial sensitivity mediated by the pro-inflammatory response may contribute to behavior aiming to protect the injured area to allow healing¹⁰⁰. This is usually accompanied by an anti-inflammatory response to attenuate the disturbances and damage caused by excessive inflammation¹²⁶. Alterations in the balance between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory signaling is believed to be involved in the generation of increased sensitivity that outlives its usefulness, and which may manifest as chronic pain¹²⁶.

Given the importance of the balance between the pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory responses in sensitization, higher baseline levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines or lower baseline levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines may predispose patients to sensitization before surgery or to exaggerated responses after surgery, leading to more post-operative pain. This project explored eight of these mediators (IFN- γ , Interleukin-2 (IL-2), IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, TNF- α , Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β)) and sought to determine if baseline levels, in combination with biomedical and psychological factors predict increased pain after BCS.

Many different signaling pathways activated by various cytokines have been identified and continue to be elucidated. While cytokines are important for many homeostatic processes, here I will present a select review of some of the downstream effects of each of the cytokines investigated in this project. First, I will discuss the cells that produce each cytokine and where the receptors are located. Then, I will discuss some of the effects of these cells in the body, with a

focus on changes that lead to inflammation or sensitization. Finally, for each cytokine I will describe animal and human data supporting the role of that cytokine in nociception, and where available, the role of that cytokine specifically in post-operative pain. See Table 1 for a table summarizing studies on cytokines and pain in humans.

Table 1. Literature	Review for	Inflammatory	Cy	ytokines	and	Pain
----------------------------	-------------------	--------------	----	----------	-----	------

	Population	Sample	IFN-γ	IL-2	IL-6	IL-8	IL-10	IL-17	TGF-β	TNF-α	Notes
Acute											
Cueller et al. (2010) ¹⁴³	Acute, unilateral knee pain undergoing arthroscopic ACL reconstruction (n=12, painless knee=15)	Synovial fluid	Ŷ	n.s	Ŷ	n.s	n.s	n.s		n.s	
Cueller et al. (2009) ¹⁴⁴	Acute, symptomatic meniscal tear (n=39, asymptomatic=31)	Synovial fluid	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ		¢				IFN-γ and IL-6 positively correlated to reported pain. IL-8, IL-17 and TNF-α listed as tested but no results
Arthritic											
Hussein et al. (2008) ¹⁴⁵	Rheumatoid arthritis (n=24, HC =6)	Serum					1	\uparrow		Ť	
Liu et al. (2012) ¹⁴⁶	Rheumatoid arthritis (n=18, HC= 18)	Serum			Ŷ			\uparrow		↑	IL-17 correlated with anxiety
Inflammatory											
Malhotra et al. (2012) ¹⁴⁷	Fibromyalgia (n=26, HC = 26)	Plasma	\downarrow	\downarrow	¢		\downarrow				IL-2, IL-10 and IFN-γ negatively correlated with VAS score. IL-6 positively correlated with VAS score.
Mendieta et al. (2016) ¹⁴⁸	Fibromyalgia (n=15, HC=14)	Serum	UD	UD	Ŷ	¢	UD		UD		IL-6 and IL-8 correlated with fibromyalgia impact questionnaire score
Wang et al. (2008) ¹⁴⁹	Fibromyalgia (n=20, HC= 80)	Serum			n.s	¢		n.s		↑	IL-8 correlated with VAS at the end of treatment
Üçeyler et al.	Chronic widespread pain	Serum					\downarrow		n.s	n.s	This population included 26
(2006) ¹⁵⁰	(n=40, HC= 40)	mRNA		n.s		n.s	\downarrow		n.s	n.s	patients with fibromyalgia
Lundh et al. (2013) ¹⁵¹	Chronic prostatitis-chronic pelvic pain syndrome (n=32, HC=37)	Plasma		n.s						Ŷ	TNF- α only significant when controls with health problems removed

Inflammatory Co	nt'd	Sample	IFN-γ	IL-2	IL-6	IL-8	IL-10	IL-17	TGF-β	της-α	Notes
Miller et al. (2002) ¹⁵²	Chronic prostatitis-chronic pelvic pain syndrome (n=48, HC=14)	Seminal plasma	¢	n.s		n.s	¢				IL-10 correlated with positively with pain intensity
Slade et al. (2011) ¹⁵³	Temporomandibular disorders w/ widespread palpation tenderness (WPT) vs without (n=84, no WPT= 115)	Plasma	UD	UD	n.s	¢	UD	UD		n.s	
Neuropathic											
Alexander et al. (2012) ¹⁵⁴	Complex regional pain syndrome (n=148, HC=60)	Plasma	¢	¢	n.s	¢	n.s			¢	
Üçeyler et al. (2007)a ¹⁵⁵	Complex regional pain syndrome (n=42, HC=34)	Serum		¢		n.s	\downarrow		\downarrow	n.s	
Backonja et al. (2008) ¹⁵⁶	Chronic pain from post- traumatic neuralgia or distal painful non-diabetic polyneuropathy (n=14, HC=6)	Plasma			n.s	n.s	\downarrow			n.s	IL-10 inversely correlated with pain intensity
Bäckryd et al. (2016) ¹⁵⁷	Chronic peripheral neuropathic pain (n=14, HC= 17)	Plasma			Ţ	n.s				UD	Mostly failed back surgery associated radiculopathy
Pedersen et al. (2015) ¹⁵⁸	Lumbar radicular pain secondary to disc herniation, severe VAS≥3 vs mild pain VAS<3 (severe n=52, mild n =75)	Serum			¢	Ŷ					IL-6 and IL-8 associated with pain intensity score on VAS

		Sample	IFN-γ	IL-2	IL-6	IL-8	IL-10	IL-17	TGF-β	TNF-α	Notes
Wang et al.	Severe (VAS >3) sciatica pain secondary to lumbar disc herniation vs mild VAS (\leq 3) (n=58, mild = 50)	Serum			1	n.s	Ļ			↑	
(2016) ¹⁵⁹	Severe (VAS>3) sciatica pain secondary to lumbar disc herniation vs HC (n=58, HC=30)	Serum			1	Ŷ	n.s			¢	IL-10 was increased in mild sciatica compared to HC
Üçeyler et al. (2007)b ¹⁶⁰	Painful vs. painless neuropathy (painful n=32, painless =20)	Serum		←			n.s			↑	
Üçeyler et al. (2010) ¹⁶¹	Small fibre neuropathy (n=24, HC=34)	mRNA in blood		\uparrow	n.s	n.s	\uparrow		\uparrow	n.s	
Mixed	•	•					•	•			
Koch et al. (2007) ¹⁶²	Chronic neuropathic, nociceptive or mixed pain (n=94, HC=6)	Plasma	n.s	n.s	Ţ	n.s	n.s			n.s	IL-2 and TNF-α elevated in patients with severe (NRS=7- 10) vs. light pain (NRS=1-3) but only severe pain above level of sensitivity
Post-operative											
Ko et al. (2018) ¹⁶³	Hip fracture surgery in pts >60 yrs of age (n=40) Correlation with POD 3 resting pain and walking pain	Plasma			n.s					↑	
Si et al. (2017) ¹⁶⁴	Patients undergoing total knee arthroplasty (n=96) Correlation with NRS-R and NRS-M pre and 24-hrs post-op	Serum			1	n.s				n.s	IL-6 also significantly associated with NRS-M 48 and 72 hrs post-op.
Other											
Dennis et al. (2014) ¹⁶⁵	Opioid addicted patients with comorbid pain vs. without (with pain n=58, no pain=177)	Serum	¢		n.s	n.s	n.s			n.s	IFN-γ only significant after adjusting for covariates

ACL: anterior cruciate ligament. HC: healthy controls. IFN- γ : Interferon- γ . IL- 2: Interleukin-2. IL-6: Interleukin-6. IL-8: Interleukin-8. IL-10: Interleukin-10. IL-17: Interleukin-17. mRNA: Messenger Ribonucleic Acid. n.s: not significant. NRS-R: Numeric Rating Scale at rest. NRS-M: numeric rating scale with movement. TGF- β : Transforming Growth Factor- β . TNF- α : Tumour Necrosis Factor- α . UD: undetectable. VAS: visual analog scale. WPT: widespread palpation tenderness

Pro-nociceptive

Interferon-γ

IFN- γ is produced primarily by T cells^{166,167}, including both cytotoxic T cells^{168,169} and T helper cells¹⁶⁶, and natural killer (NK) cells^{167,170–172}. It is also produced by astrocytes¹⁷³ and neurons^{173,174}. There are two subunits that make up the IFN- γ receptor: IFN- γ R1 is expressed on all cells¹⁷⁵. IFN- γ R2 is expressed at very low levels on all cells but can be induced¹⁷⁵ allowing the effect of IFN- γ to be closely regulated. Importantly, DRG neurons express both subunits^{174,176}, and receptors in the dorsal horn are most dense in the superficial layers, the location of nociceptive pathways^{176,177}, suggesting a direct effect on nociception is likely.

IFN- γ has diverse effects on different cell types. On macrophages, IFN- γ induces the release of IL-1, IL-6, TNF- α^{178} , reactive oxygen intermediates and reactive nitrogen intermediates¹⁷⁹, which increase the inflammatory response. On monocytes it induces complement protein production¹⁸⁰ and activates tumoricidal activity¹⁸¹. However, it also induces IL-10 production¹⁸² and inhibits IL-8 production from monocytes, effects which may counter the inflammatory response.

In addition, IFN- γ activates NK cells which further increases IFN- γ release¹⁸³. On the other hand, it inhibits proliferation of T_H2 cells and production of IL-4 and IL-5 by T_H2 cells¹⁸⁴. Additional control of the inflammatory response is generated by IFN- γ mediated inhibition of IL-17 release from T helper cells¹⁸⁵.

Effects on neutrophils are also diverse. IFN- γ increases phagocytosis, increases reactive oxygen species production, increases release of enzymes from granules and increases TNF- α and IL-6, all pro-inflammatory effects⁷⁵. However, evidence for its effect on neutrophil recruitment is

mixed and may suggest complex regulation. IFN- γ inhibits IL-8 production (chemokine for neutrophils)¹⁸⁶ and some reports indicate IFN- γ limits neutrophil recruitment¹⁸⁵, which would limit inflammation. Others, however, have found it is necessary for neutrophil attraction^{136,187}. Bonville et al. (2009)¹⁸⁷ suggested it was not sufficient to recruit neutrophils but was required in combination with another cofactor.

Although the effects on neutrophils are unclear, IFN-γ does play a role in the recruitment of other immune cells. It increases cell surface adhesion molecules, such as intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), and antigen presentation molecules on keratinocytes¹³⁵. It also induces keratinocytes to release chemokines including monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) (attracts monocytes, dendritic cells and T cells), and RANTES, which attracts T cells¹³⁵.

In addition to effects on a range of immune cells, IFN-γ is involved in signaling in the nervous system and is upregulated in the dorsal horn after nerve injury¹¹⁵. IFN-γ increases spontaneous activity in dorsal horn neurons and increases after-discharges¹⁸⁸ which may occur in part due to reduced GABA mediated inhibition¹⁰⁴. It also directly induces neuronal dysfunction by enhancing glutamate neurotoxicity via changes to AMPA receptors that lead to increased calcium influx which upregulates nitric oxide synthase¹⁸⁹. The hyperresponsiveness may also be related to increases in NMDA-induced currents¹⁹⁰.

Spinal-glial cell interactions also play a role in IFN- γ mediated hypersensitivity. IFN- γ activates microglia and astrocytes¹⁸⁹ and increases proliferation of microglia¹⁰⁸. Activation by IFN- γ upregulates nitric oxide synthase which increases production of nitric oxide in glial cells¹⁹¹ and increases cell surface adhesion molecules on microglia, such as ICAM-1 and vascular cell adhesion

molecule (VCAM-1)¹⁹². Activated microglia also release mediators that increase NMDA-induced currents on neurons, increasing reactivity of neurons in the substantia gelatinosa¹⁹⁰.

These diverse effects mostly serve to increase the inflammatory response and immune reaction at the site of injury and in the nervous system. The molecular mechanisms outlined above support an hypothesis regarding how IFN-γ may increase pain sensitivity after surgery. The pro-nociceptive effect of this cytokine is further supported by animal models. In knockout mice lacking IFN-γR1, mechanical allodynia after nerve injury was significantly reduced suggesting signaling through this pathway was essential for development of the neuropathic pain phenotype¹¹⁵. In addition, activation of the IFN-γ receptor on microglia induced tactile allodynia in rats, while ablating the receptor reduced allodynia¹⁰⁸. Furthermore, intrathecal administration caused mechanical allodynia and hyperalgesia^{108,188}.

Human studies have also supported the role of this cytokine in pain processes. IFN-γ was elevated in the plasma of patients with complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS)¹⁵⁴ and a reduction in IFN-γ predicted a reduction in NeP in spinal cord injury patients¹⁹³. In addition, it was elevated in patients with comorbid opioid addiction and pain compared to patients with opioid addiction but no pain¹⁶⁵. It was also elevated in the seminal plasma of patients with chronic prostatitis-chronic pelvic pain syndrome¹⁵². On the other hand, IFN-γ in the plasma of patients with chronic swith chronic nociceptive, neuropathic or mixed pain was not different from controls¹⁶². The heterogenous nature of the patient population in that study may have contributed to this discrepancy¹⁶². Interestingly, one study of patients with fibromyalgia reported a decrease in patients compared to healthy controls¹⁴⁷, however, a systematic review of cytokines in patients

with fibromyalgia compared to healthy controls found no difference in serum or plasma IFN- γ , although this included only two studies¹⁹⁴.

In the acute setting, in the synovial fluid of patients with acute knee pain undergoing anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction¹⁴³ or with symptomatic meniscal tear¹⁴⁴ IFN- γ was elevated relative to controls. There were few studies assessing IFN- γ in surgical settings. One study found non-neurological surgery did not correlate with a change in IFN- γ concentration compared to baseline but this study did not investigate pain¹⁹⁵. In addition, IFN- γ was not increased in the serum of patients after orthopaedic trauma compared to healthy controls¹⁹⁶. The lack of a response after surgery or trauma could be related to the time frame at which the effect was measured. Regardless, the involvement elucidated by molecular studies, animal studies and some human chronic and acute pain studies, suggests that baseline levels of IFN- γ could assist in identifying those at increased risk of sensitization and increased pain after BCS.

I was unable to identify any studies investigating IFN- γ concentrations in patients undergoing BCS. One study identified a short nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the gene for IFN- γ increased the risk of severe persistent pain after BCS¹⁹⁷ however, how this polymorphism impacts concentrations is unclear making conclusions difficult to draw.

While there is some conflicting evidence, IFN- γ clearly plays a significant role in inflammatory processes and in nociception and the balance of studies suggest it is pronociceptive. A better understanding of whether systemic levels of IFN- γ can predict for pain after BCS is warranted.

Interleukin-6

IL-6 is a 22-27kDa glycoprotein that can be produced by nearly all cell types¹²⁵ including immune cells such as macrophages¹⁹⁸, monocytes¹⁹⁹, T cells²⁰⁰, B cells²⁰¹, neutrophils^{75,202}, dendritic cells²⁰³, basophils and mast cells²⁰⁴. Cells in the nervous system such as neurons²⁰⁵, specifically DRG neurons²⁰⁶ and sympathetic neurons²⁰⁷, and glial cells²⁰⁶, also produce IL-6 providing a local source to effect changes in the nervous system. Non-immune cells such as hepatocytes²⁰⁸, fibroblasts²⁰⁹, endothelial cells²¹⁰, epithelial cells²¹¹, and adipocytes²¹² also contribute. Importantly, breast stromal cells secrete IL-6, and this may be altered in malignant breast tumors²¹³, although results have been mixed as to whether local IL-6 is protective or harmful in malignancy²¹⁴. Serum levels in patients with breast cancer have consistently been shown to be elevated compared to controls, with levels associated with stage of disease²¹⁴. In the current study, this could increase the risk of post-operative pain in patients with more significant or advanced disease prior to surgery.

There are two subunits to the IL-6 receptor complex, IL-6R and gp130^{215,216}. The gp130 subunit, the signal transduction portion, is expressed on all cells^{215,216}, including on DRG neurons and glial cells²⁰⁶. The IL-6R component, which has a more limited expression pattern, exists as a membrane bound receptor and in a soluble form²¹⁶. Membrane bound IL-6R is found on hepatocytes, monocytes²¹⁷, macrophages²¹⁸ and some lymphocytes²¹⁹. It is also expressed on epithelial cells²¹¹ and breast adipocytes²¹². In the nervous system, some have reported expression of IL-6R on neurons²⁰⁶ while others have not found neural expression^{220,221}. Microglia also express IL-6R^{218,222} and astrocytes express IL-6R mRNA but no protein²¹⁸. Cells that do not express the membrane bound version require soluble IL-6R in order to respond to IL-6. The

soluble receptor is released by cleavage of the membrane bound form²²³ or by alternative splicing²²⁴.

IL-6 binds either membrane bound IL-6R or soluble IL-6R, which then associates with gp130²²⁵, triggering dimerization and the initiation of signaling²²⁶. Signaling via the soluble IL-6R is thought to be predominantly responsible for the pro-inflammatory²²⁷ and the neuropathological effects of IL-6²²⁸.

As a result of the widespread expression of both IL-6 and its receptors, and the ability of cells to respond to IL-6 in the presence of the soluble form of IL-6R, this cytokine has extensive, pleiotropic effects. Firstly, it contributes to the acute phase response²²⁹ and angiogenesis²³⁰, suggesting it would be important in the immediate post-operative reaction and in healing.

IL-6 also promotes T_H2 and T_H17 differentiation and inhibits T_H1 differentiation and T regulatory (Treg) cell generation^{231,232}. Importantly, Treg cells are primarily responsible for dampening the immune response, so inhibition of Treg cell differentiation increases inflammation and the immune response²³². IL-6 also contributes to T follicular helper cell induction and expansion²⁰¹. In cytotoxic T cells, it increases development of effector functions, including release of TNF α and IFN- γ , two pro-inflammatory cytokines¹¹¹.

IL-6 also induces monocyte differentiation to macrophages²³³. Interestingly, it induces macrophage production of IL-1R antagonists (IL-1Ra) and soluble TNF α receptors, which dampen the inflammatory response²³⁴, likely a mechanism to prevent damage from too great an inflammatory response.

IL-6 increases neutrophil proliferation²³⁵ but inhibits neutrophil recruitment²³⁶. IL-6 is involved in the recruitment of leukocytes²³⁷ and researchers have suggested it is involved in the switch from the initial neutrophil immune response to a more robust leukocyte response²³⁸. It recruits leukocytes by increasing ICAM-1 on endothelial vessels and increasing the expression of the chemokines MCP-1 and IL-8 from peripheral mononuclear cells⁸⁴. It also increases MCP-1 from endothelial cells⁸⁴. Some have shown IL-6 reduces expression of IL-8 from endothelial cells, but this is debated^{84,239}. IL-6 also increases chemokine receptor expression on T cells²⁴⁰ further assisting with recruitment of immune cells that increase the inflammatory response at the site of injury. Increased concentration of IL-6 systemically may therefore increase the inflammatory response during and after surgery.

In the nervous system, IL-6 activates microglia increasing inducible nitric oxide synthase mRNA¹⁰⁹ and expression of TNF-α in microglial cells⁹³, increasing inflammatory mediators locally within the nervous system. IL-6 also directly affects neurons in a number of ways. It increases intracellular calcium in DRG neurons acutely and increases neurokinin-1 receptors in DRG neurons after extended exposure¹³⁷. It also alters voltage gated and receptor operated ion channels in various neural subsets, with some changes resulting in hyperexcitability and others having neuroprotective effects (see Vezzani & Viviani (2015)¹³⁸ for a review). IL-6 generates hyperexcitability in dural neurons by increasing a voltage gated sodium channel (Nav 1.7)²⁴¹. IL-6 also increases transient receptor potential vanilloid- 1 receptor (TRPV1, responsible for heat sensitivity) in DRG neurons, which also increases excitability⁷⁹. gp130, the signal transducer for IL-6 is required for expression of the transient receptor potential ankyrin-1 channel (TRPA1, important for chemical and mechanical sensitivity), so IL-6 signalling may also be involved in the

upregulation of this channel²⁴². These changes may explain the heat sensitization in spinal neurons and mechanical sensitization of C-fibres reported with increased IL-6 or IL-6 treatment ^{221,243}. IL-6 also reduces GABA-induced currents by changes in lamina II of the spinal cord¹⁰⁵ and in the PAG of the brain¹⁴⁰, leading to disinhibition and increased excitability. All of these changes in ion channels result in increased excitability of neurons and therefore increased susceptibility to hyperalgesia. In addition, IL-6 induces sympathetic sprouting, with sympathetic fibres invading into the DRG, an effect that leads to cross-talk between the two systems¹¹⁷.

On the other hand, IL-6 promotes neuronal survival^{207,244,245}. For example, it can reduce the number of sodium channels in spinal cord neurons, reducing excitatory currents and protecting neurons by decreasing release of excitatory transmitters or by reducing energy consumption²⁴⁴. This has been proposed as a compensatory neuroprotective mechanism¹³⁸. Although, IL-6 has a positive effect on neuronal survival and differentiation, its involvement in the physiology of nociception, suggests it may be an important mediator contributing to the postoperative pain experience²⁴⁵.

In animal studies, IL-6 was increased in the DRG²⁰⁵ and the spinal cord²⁴⁶ after nerve injury, and this increase was associated with mechanical allodynia²⁴⁷. In addition, IL-6 knockout mice had reduced hyperalgesia and reduced plasma extravasation in response to an inflammatory stimulus suggesting a reduced inflammatory response⁸³. Exogenous application of IL-6 *via* intraplantar injection in rats also caused hyperalgesia and injection of an IL-6 antibody attenuated this response²⁴⁸. Administration of an IL-6 antibody also delayed the nerve-injury-associated mechanical allodynia, supporting the role of IL-6 in the development of nerve-injury-related allodynia²⁴⁷. All of these studies suggest IL-6 is an important mediator of the behavioural

outcomes of both inflammatory and nerve injury related stimuli. As such, IL-6 is also likely important in the response to surgery, which includes both an inflammatory response^{249,250} and potential nerve damage⁶.

Studies in humans have also largely supported the pro-nociceptive effects of this cytokine. Most studies comparing patients with chronic pain to healthy controls have reported increased IL-6, including in patients with chronic peripheral neuropathic pain¹⁵⁷; chronic nociceptive, neuropathic or mixed pain¹⁶²; rheumatoid arthritis¹⁴⁶, and fibromyalgia^{147,148}. In addition, a meta-analysis reported higher plasma IL-6 in patients with fibromyalgia compared to controls¹⁹⁴. IL-6 was also positively correlated with pain intensity in patients with chronic pain receiving long-term intrathecal opioids²⁵¹. Furthermore, it was found to be elevated in patients with more severe lumbar radicular pain secondary to disc herniation compared to those with less pain^{158,159} or healthy controls¹⁵⁹.

Conversely, however, IL-6 was not associated with comorbid pain in patients with opioid addiction ¹⁶⁵ and no difference was found in patients with chronic post-traumatic neuralgia or distal painful non-diabetic polyneuropathy compared to healthy controls¹⁵⁶. There was also no difference reported in patients with temporomandibular joint disorder with widespread palpatory tenderness compared to those without widespread palpatory tenderness¹⁵³ or between patients with CRPS and healthy controls¹⁵⁴. These differences could be related to different time points within a disease process, as reflected in the wide range of disease duration. For example, Backonja et al. (2008)¹⁵⁶ examined patients a mean of 10 years (range .8-20.2) after disease onset and Alexander et al. (2012)¹⁵⁴ examined patients a mean of 8.8 years (range .7-36) after disease onset. Both of these studies found no difference in IL-6 in patients compared to

controls. On the other hand, Pedersen et al. (2015)¹⁵⁸ examined patients 6 weeks and 12 months after disease onset, and Wang et al. (2016)¹⁵⁹ examined patients with mild sciatica on average 23 weeks after disease onset and patients with severe sciatica on average 48 weeks after disease onset. Both of these studies reported significant differences between severe pain and mild pain. Another study found increased serum IL-6 levels after disc herniation predicted increased disability at 1 year²⁵² supporting the importance of IL-6 levels in the acute or early period following disease onset or injury. A study by Bäckryd et al. (2016)¹⁵⁷ examined patients on average 7.8 years after disease onset and found increased IL-6 in patients however, they did not exclude patients with other painful comorbidities which may have affected IL-6 levels. Despite discrepant findings, overall IL-6 seems to be involved in chronic pain, especially in the early period after disease onset, suggesting it could be effecting changes in the nervous system that increase sensitivity to pain.

Consistent with this, elevations in IL-6 have also been reported in acute pain. Plasma IL-6 was positively correlated with pain qualities in a study of older women with acute low back pain²⁵³. It was also elevated in knee synovial fluid in patients with acute, symptomatic meniscal tears¹⁴⁴ and acute, painful anterior cruciate ligament tears¹⁴³ compared to non-injured knees.

Studies on IL-6 in post-operative pain are limited. However, IL-6 is considered a marker of the extent of tissue damage after trauma²⁵⁴ and surgical procedures²⁵⁵. It is increased after abdominal surgery²⁵⁶. Interestingly, this increase was delayed and exaggerated in older patients compared to young adult patients²⁵⁶. In a study on total knee arthroplasty, serum IL-6 was positively correlated with resting and movement-related pain intensity pre-operatively and 24 hours after surgery¹⁶⁴. Serum IL-6 in this study continued to be correlated with movement related
pain intensity three days post-operatively¹⁶⁴. IL-6 was also locally elevated after surgical extraction of impacted third molars and levels correlated with pain intensity²⁵⁷. It was not however, associated with pain after acute hip fracture surgery in patients >60 years old¹⁶³. This study had a small sample size (n=40) and only measured IL-6 three days after surgery which may not have captured the early effects of IL-6 on post-traumatic sensitization. Although IL-6 continued to be associated with walking pain three days after total knee arthroplasty, these patients had severe arthritis, a progressive chronic condition²⁵⁸, while patients undergoing hip surgery had an acute condition¹⁶³, therefore the subsequent inflammatory responses may have differed. Only one study was available on BCS patients. This study identified an SNP in the gene for IL-6 that decreased the risk of mild persistent pain after BCS²⁵⁹. This gene is associated with lower serum levels of IL-6 protein²⁵⁹, suggesting lower levels of IL-6 could be protective in the post-operative period. The potential protective effect of lower serum levels of IL-6 suggests exploring how baseline levels of IL-6 could affect sensitization processes before surgery or the degree of inflammatory response to surgery is warranted.

In addition to the above studies on both chronic and acute IL-6 in human pain, an examination of immunotherapy for painful inflammatory conditions further supports the involvement of IL-6 in pain processes. A review of therapeutics targeting cytokines found intrathecal administration of IL-6 neutralizing antibody reduced mechanical allodynia and an IL-6 neutralizing antibody is currently in use for patients with rheumatoid arthritis²⁶⁰. This anti-human IL-6R antibody, Tocilizumab, reduced the number of tender and swollen joints and improved health-related quality of life in patients with rheumatoid arthritis²⁶¹. Case reports on

this neutralizing antibody have described reduced pain in other conditions including sciatica²⁶⁰, further supporting the importance of this cytokine in pain conditions.

The balance of the findings on the role of IL-6 at the cellular level, the increases found in both animal and human pain studies, and the effect of anti-IL-6 immunotherapy suggest IL-6 could be an important mediator in increasing risk for post-operative pain after BCS. This study explored whether IL-6, in combination with other risk factors, could identify patients at elevated risk for significant acute post-operative pain

<u>Interleukin 8</u>

IL-8 is a chemotactic cytokine involved in inflammation and nociception¹¹². It is produced by a wide range of cell types including monocytes²⁶², endothelial cells²⁶³, lymphocytes²⁶⁴, fibroblasts²⁶⁵, epithelial cells²⁶⁶, keratinocytes²⁶⁷, and microglia ^{222,268}. Receptors for IL-8 include CXCR1 and CXCR2²⁶⁹ and are expressed on immune cells including neutrophils²⁷⁰, monocytes²⁷¹, T cells^{169,272}, mast cells²⁷³, basophils²⁷⁴, NK cells²⁷⁵ and microglia²²². Neurons in the substantia gelatinosa also express a receptor for IL-8²⁷⁶.

IL-8 attracts neutrophils^{277,278} and T cells to the site of damage²⁷². In neutrophils, activation by IL-8 leads to degranulation, releasing enzymes and more chemotactic molecules⁷⁶. Activation of mast cells by IL-8 results in cell migration²⁷³. IL-8 also regulates expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules on endothelial cells⁸⁶, facilitating the recruitment of leukocytes to the site of injury. These effects increase the presence of other immune cells at the site of injury, leading to increased accumulation of inflammatory factors that could influence pain.

Increased IL-8 in animal models supports the association between IL-8 and inflammation and nociception. IL-8 was increased in the DRG and dorsal horn in an animal model of lumbar disc herniation and intrathecal administration of an IL-8 receptor antibody reduced associated mechanical allodynia, supporting the importance of IL-8 signaling in the development of allodynia²⁷⁹. IL-8 was also increased in the spinal cord and ACC in an animal model of inflammatory pain¹⁴². In the ACC, IL-8 increased synaptic transmission, *via* both pre and postsynaptic mechanisms and blocking IL-8 with an antibody reduced the observed excitability as well as thermal hyperalgesia¹⁴². These studies of both a nerve injury model and an inflammatory pain model support the direct role IL-8 has on the excitability of neurons and on nociception. This suggests IL-8 could play an important role in pain after surgery, which could include both nerve injury⁶ and inflammatory signals²⁴⁹.

Human studies have demonstrated mixed results on the association between IL-8 and chronic pain. Increased IL-8 in fibromyalgia^{148,149} and CRPS¹⁵⁴, compared to healthy controls, supports the pro-nociceptive effect of IL-8. In addition, patients with temporomandibular joint disorders and widespread palpatory tenderness had increased plasma IL-8 compared to those without widespread palpatory tenderness¹⁵³. IL-8 was also increased in patients with more severe (visual analog scale (VAS) \geq 3) lumbar radicular pain secondary to disc herniation compared to those with less pain (VAS<3)¹⁵⁸. Wang et al. (2016)¹⁵⁹ however, found increased IL-8 in patients with lumbar radicular pain due to disc herniation compared to healthy controls but not compared to patients with less severe pain (\leq 3). The reasons for the discrepant results in two studies investigating similar conditions is unclear, however, different cut-offs for mild and severe

pain were used and other methodological differences may have contributed. Regardless, IL-8 seemed to be involved in the pathology of this neuropathic condition.

Others have also reported no difference in IL-8 levels in patients with chronic pain conditions compared to healthy controls^{152,155–157,162,165}. These differences could be related to a range of methodological dissimilarities between studies, such as inclusion criteria, and small sample sizes¹⁹⁴. In addition, due to the chemotactic nature of the effects of IL-8, systemic levels may not be as informative as local levels^{155,277}.

Minimal human research has been completed investigating IL-8 and acute pain. A study on acute pain secondary to anterior cruciate ligament tear found no increase in IL-8 in synovial fluid from painful knees¹⁴³. This study found increases in other chemotactic proteins including MCP-1. It is possible that in this specific condition, other chemotactic molecules are more important than IL-8 whereas, in other conditions IL-8 is a more important chemotactic molecule.

Despite these mixed results in chronic and acute human pain conditions, IL-8 may be involved in immune and inflammatory responses after surgery. IL-8 was increased in response to lower abdominal surgery²⁵⁶, and the molecular mechanisms outlined above could affect subsequent pain experiences. The influence of IL-8 on post-surgical pain has been investigated in the local environment after impacted third molar extraction, where it was increased and correlated with pain intensity²⁵⁷. In another study however, serum IL-8 after total knee arthroplasty was not associated with resting or movement related pain¹⁶⁴. No studies exploring IL-8 levels and post-BCS pain were identified, however one study found there was no association between 3 different SNPs of the IL-8 gene with severe pain after BCS¹⁹⁷. This study however, did not investigate cytokine concentrations making it unclear if other mechanisms, aside from

genetic polymorphisms, such as post-translational changes, could influence IL-8 concentrations and post-BCS pain.

Notwithstanding some conflicting evidence, given the role of IL-8 in propagation of the inflammatory response and in sensitization, and the finding that IL-8 is increased after surgery^{250,256}, this study examined whether baseline levels are a risk factor for increased post-operative pain.

Interleukin-17

IL-17A is the prototypical cytokine in the IL-17 family. Some research specifies IL-17A while other studies report on IL-17, without specifying which member of the family. Although IL-17A was measured in this study, evidence regarding IL-17A and IL-17 will be reported here.

IL-17A is a 17-26 kDa protein with variable levels of glycosylation²⁸⁰. It is predominantly produced by T_H17 cells^{281–283}, however, others have shown that $\gamma\delta$ T cells²⁸⁴, invariant natural killer T cells²⁸⁵, lymphoid tissue inducer-like cells²⁸⁶, neutrophils²⁸³, B cells²⁸⁷, microglia¹⁹², and astrocytes^{81,288} are also able to produce IL-17.

The IL-17RA receptor is made up of two subunits: IL-17RA and IL-RC^{289,290}. IL-17R is expressed ubiquitously on all cells that have been tested in various studies including B cells, NK cells, peripheral blood mononuclear cells, endothelial cells, epithelial cells and fibroblasts^{280,290–} ²⁹⁴. Some have identified IL-17RA on C fibres in the DRG²⁹⁵ and spinal neurons⁸¹ while others have reported that IL-17 receptors are found on astrocytes and microglia but not on neurons¹⁹². Regardless, some direct effect on cells of the nervous system is likely.

IL-17 stimulates secretion of inflammatory mediators including IL-6, IL-8, granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), and adhesion molecules from synovial fibroblasts²⁹⁶; induces transcription of TNF-α and secretion of cytokines including TNF-α, IL-6, and PGE2 from macrophages¹¹⁰; induces IL-8 synthesis and release from epithelial and endothelial cells²⁹⁷; and increases production of nitric oxide and inducible nitric oxide synthase from chondrocytes²⁹⁸. IL-17 also stimulates granulopoiesis²⁹⁹ and stimulates T cells to proliferate²⁸⁰. In addition to the above molecules directly increasing inflammation, the above changes also recruit neutrophils^{283,292,300}, macrophages and T cells^{294,300}.

IL-17 also affects CNS cells. It induces microglia to produce neurotropic factors such as nerve growth factor, IL-6 and adhesion molecules¹⁹², leading to the accumulation of immune cells and inflammatory mediators that contribute to sensitization¹⁰⁰. In addition, IL-17A activates signalling cascades resulting in phosphorylation of protein kinase B and ERK in C fibres, which alters voltage gated ion channels enhancing excitability²⁹⁵. Meng et al. (2013)⁸¹ postulated that hyperexcitability of nociceptive neurons is mediated through IL-17 dependent phosphorylation of NR1, part of the NMDA receptor, on neurons.

The molecular changes induced by IL-17 result in an enhanced inflammatory response and sensitization of neurons. Data from animal models suggests that these molecular changes lead to pro-nociceptive changes. IL-17 was increased in injured nerves³⁰⁰ and in astrocytes in the DRG after an inflammatory stimulus⁸¹, and the elevated IL-17 resulted in increased mechanical allodynia and reduced withdrawal thresholds^{81,300}. In addition, IL-17 deficiency decreased hypersensitivity normally observed after nerve injury³⁰⁰ and local injection of IL-17 antibody reduced hyperalgesia⁸¹. These findings further support the involvement of IL-17 in both neuropathic and inflammatory pain. Given that surgery causes tissue damage that induces inflammation²⁴⁹ and may cause nerve damage⁶, IL-17 could contribute to the mechanism behind post-operative pain.

Despite evidence for the role of IL-17 in pain processes, human research on IL-17 has been limited and focused primarily on autoimmune disorders, including those with pain as one of the primary symptoms such as rheumatoid arthritis. IL-17 was elevated in patients with rheumatoid arthritis compared to controls^{145,146}; and a meta-analysis further supported this finding³⁰¹. One study in a non-autoimmune population found IL-17 was elevated in patients with intervertebral disc degeneration compared to healthy controls, and IL-17 levels correlated with reported pain³⁰². It was however, not elevated in fibromyalgia patients compared to healthy controls¹⁴⁹. Given the limited number of studies in chronic pain conditions, it is difficult to draw conclusions about the effect of IL-17 on pain processes outside of autoimmune conditions like rheumatoid arthritis.

In addition, the only study on acute pain that was identified demonstrated no significant difference in IL-17 in the synovial fluid drawn from the symptomatic knee of people with acute knee pain secondary to anterior cruciate ligament tear compared to the asymptomatic knee or healthy controls¹⁴³. No studies examining the effect of IL-17 on post-operative pain or post-BCS pain were identified. Despite limited evidence in human pain populations, the role of this cytokine on propagating the immune response and its direct effect on nociceptors, suggest an increased basal level of IL-17 could predispose patients to greater inflammatory responses and increased pain after surgery. A better understanding of the role of this cytokine in pain is needed and this study investigated whether baseline IL-17 levels contribute to post-BCS pain.

<u>Tumour Necrosis Factor - α </u>

TNF- α is another pro-inflammatory cytokine that has been implicated in pain processes and is an early mediator in the inflammatory response after surgical procedures, trauma or infection^{125,303}. TNF- α exists as a 26 kDa transmembrane molecule as well as a soluble 17 kDa molecule³⁰⁴. It is produced by a wide range of cells including monocytes³⁰⁵ and macrophages^{132,306}, dendritic cells³⁰⁶, T cells^{307,308}, mast cells³⁰⁹, endothelial cells, fibroblasts¹³², synoviocytes^{305,310} and supportive cells in the nervous system including glia³¹¹ and Schwann cells¹³². TNF- α does not appear to be produced by neural cells and production in the DRG seems to be limited to non-neural cells³⁰⁶.

There are two receptors for TNF- α , TNFR1 and TNFR2. Receptors are found on all nucleated cell types³¹², including on immune cells¹²⁶. The distribution of these receptors in the nervous system is debated. Some report expression of both TNFR1 and TNFR2 in DRG neurons^{313–316}, while others have found TNFR1 only on neural cells, and both TNFR1 and TNFR2 on non-neuronal cells in the DRG^{91,306}. TNFR1 on primary sensory neurons may be primarily responsible for effects on nociception^{317–319}. TNFR2 is expressed on Treg cells and may have an anti-inflammatory effect to prevent overactivation of inflammatory responses³²⁰. TNF- α signalling through TNFR1 upregulates TNFR2³¹⁰. An upregulation of both receptor types has been observed after nerve injury³²¹ and in inflammatory models^{91,306}.

This cytokine's sensitizing effect is mediated via both direct and indirect mechanisms. Indirect effects lead to increased concentrations of other cytokines and an accumulation of inflammatory mediators. TNF- α induces IL-6 which activates PGE2 synthesis²⁴⁸. It also increases release of IL-8²⁶⁵, nerve growth factor and IL-1 β , other factors involved in propagating the

immune response and sensitization³²². TNF- α increases vascular permeability⁸², in part by upregulating vascular cell adhesion molecule-1¹³⁴ and E-selectin²³⁶, allowing infiltration of macrophages⁹¹ and neutrophils to the injury site³⁰⁹. In addition, TNF- α signalling activates glial cells which contribute to inflammation by releasing other mediators^{116,191}.

Not only does TNF- α increase immune cells and inflammatory mediators at the site of injury, but direct effects on neurons are also widespread. TNF- α signalling results in changes to a number of ion channels in neurons. Upregulation of Nav1.7⁷⁷, Nav1.3⁷⁸ and Nav1.8^{78,139} in A and C fibre DRG neurons occurs in response to TNF- α . AMPA receptors are also inserted into neuronal membranes³²³ and an increase in the number of DRG neurons expressing TRPV1, a channel that mediates thermal hyperalgesia, has also been reported³¹⁵. In addition, TNF- α inhibits tonic firing of inhibitory interneurons in lamina II¹⁰⁶. These changes result in increased responsiveness of C fibres^{82,313,324} and ectopic activity^{82,324}. Furthermore, TNF- α triggers the release of intracellular calcium stores and activates stress kinases in sensory neurons³¹⁴. It is also involved in activating sympathetic tone observed in inflammatory states³²⁵.

The effects of TNF- α in the peripheral and central nervous system are widespread but include indirect effects on immune cells that result in upregulation of various inflammatory mediators involved in enhancing neuronal sensitivity as well as direct actions on neural cells. Ultimately, TNF- α initiates changes in the peripheral and central nervous systems that could presensitize individuals to increased pain after surgery. A higher baseline level could also result in an increased response to an insult such as surgery.

The connection between the changes observed in molecular studies with behaviour has been demonstrated in animal models. Animal models have demonstrated that TNF- α is upregulated after nerve injury¹³², in both injured neurons and neighbouring intact neurons³²⁶. Increased TNF- α locally in inflamed skin³²⁷, in non-neural DRG cells³⁰⁶ and in cerebrospinal fluid³⁰⁴ after inflammation has also been reported. In addition, increased TNF- α after an inflammatory stimulus was associated with hypernociception in mice and TNFR1 knockout mice displayed reduced hyperalgesia to inflammatory stimuli³²⁷ supporting the importance of this cytokine in the behavioural response to inflammation. Furthermore, administration of exogenous TNF- α led to increased firing in sensory afferent fibres³²⁴, hyperalgesia^{322,327–329} and mechanical allodynia³²⁹ in both rat and mice models. The increased TNF- α observed after nerve or inflammatory injury and association with hyperalgesia suggest this is an important mediator of pain responses after injury and thus, could be important in post-operative pain.

While molecular studies and animal models support the involvement of TNF- α in the response to injury, further evidence for the involvement of TNF- α in pain processes comes from studies on chronic pain patients. TNF- α was elevated in patients with a variety of chronic pain conditions including: CRPS¹⁵⁴; chronic prostatitis-chronic pelvic syndrome patients¹⁵¹; and in patients with rheumatoid arthritis^{145,146}. In addition, TNF- α inhibitors reduced pain in rheumatoid arthritis, supporting the role of this mediator in pain processes³³⁰. Furthermore, patients with painful neuropathies had elevated TNF- α compared to those with painless neuropathies or healthy controls¹⁶⁰. Patients with diabetic neuropathy also had increased TNF- α ³³¹ and serum TNF- α was associated with pain intensity³³². Moreover, TNF- α was increased in patients with severe sciatica pain (VAS>3) compared to mild sciatica pain (VAS≤3) and healthy controls¹⁵⁹.

Others however have not found an elevation in patients with chronic pain^{150,153,155,156,165}. Reasons for these discrepancies are unclear particularly since studies on similar patient populations demonstrate conflicting results (ex. CRPS). Methodological differences, such as the duration of disease may have contributed. For example, Alexander et al. (2012)¹⁵⁴ investigated patients with CRPS on average 8.8 years (range .7-36) after disease onset and found increased TNF- α while Üçeyler et al. (2007a)¹⁵⁵ investigated patients with CRPS on average 12 weeks (range 1-70) after disease onset and found no significant difference in TNF- α compared to controls. Therefore, different stages in disease pathology may have played a role in these discrepant findings. In addition, cross-study variability in the inclusion criteria for healthy controls may also have contributed to differences. For instance, Lundh et al. (2013)¹⁵¹ found significant differences between patients with chronic prostatitis and controls but only after removing participants with comorbidities. Other studies did not explicitly exclude participants with health problems that could impact immune and inflammatory processes (for example see Slade et al. (2011)¹⁵³) potentially obscuring any effects. Regardless, taken together, the evidence from molecular and animal studies and the large number of studies that have a found an association between TNF-lphaand chronic pain support the importance of TNF- α as a potential predictor of risk for postoperative pain.

Available research on acute pain and TNF- α in humans is limited. TNF- α in the synovial fluid from acutely painful knees secondary to anterior cruciate ligament tears was not significantly different than those with non-painful anterior cruciate ligament tears¹⁴³. In post-operative pain, TNF- α was positively correlated with resting and walking pain after surgical repair of acute hip fracture in older patients (>60 years)¹⁶³. However, it was not correlated with resting

or walking pain before or after knee arthroplasty¹⁶⁴. Surgery for hip fracture was related to an acute traumatic event¹⁶³ while knee arthroplasty was performed in patients with osteoarthritis, a progressive chronic painful condition²⁵⁸. This difference in study populations may explain the conflicting results of these two studies. The only study identified on TNF- α and post-BCS pain found an SNP in the gene for TNF- α was associated with mild persistent pain after BCS²⁵⁹. These results require replication and at present, the effect of this polymorphism on protein concentrations is unclear, making conclusions difficult to draw.

Despite discrepancies in the literature, given the available evidence of the role of TNF- α in pain sensitization, in animal models and some findings in human pain populations, an examination of how baseline levels may impact post-operative pain is warranted. Baseline levels of this cytokine could result in heightened baseline sensitization or could increase the response to surgical injury, resulting in greater sensitization changes during and after surgery. As such, this study explored the relevance of this cytokine in predicting pain after BCS surgery.

Anti-nociceptive

Interleukin 10

IL-10 is an 18kDa anti-inflammatory cytokine involved in attenuation of the inflammatory response. It is synthesized mainly by monocytes^{333,334}, macrophages^{334,335}, and T helper cells, including T_H1, T_H2 and T_H17 cells ^{184,336,337}. It is also produced by other immune cells including: Treg cells³³⁸, $\gamma\delta$ T cells³³⁹, cytotoxic T cells³⁴⁰, neutrophils³⁴¹, NK cells, B cells³³³, mast cells³⁴², dendritic cells³⁴³ and by microglia in the nervous system³⁴⁴.

The receptor for IL-10 consists of 2 subunits: IL-10R1 and IL-10R2, both of which are necessary for signalling³⁴⁵. IL-10R1 is expressed predominantly on immune cells including macrophages³⁴⁶, monocytes, NK cells, B and T cells^{182,333}, neutrophils³⁴⁷, dendritic cells, and mast cells¹⁸². This receptor subunit is also expressed on non-immune cells but typically at lower levels requiring upregulation to be effective³⁴⁸. Some non-immune cells that express IL-10R1 include fibroblasts³⁴⁹ and epidermal cells^{350,351}. Expression has also been observed in DRG neurons³⁵² and on glial cells in the central nervous system³⁵³. IL-10R2 is expressed on most cells³³³ and expression is not usually significantly impacted by induction signals³⁴⁸.

Given the extensive receptor expression, IL-10 has a wide range of effects on immune cells including influencing immune mediators, antigen presentation and phagocytosis³⁵⁴. Here I will focus on the release of immune mediators that mediate inflammation and changes in nociception.

IL-10's effect appears to be strongest on macrophages and monocytes³⁵⁴. In macrophages and monocytes it inhibits release of immune mediators including TNF- α , IL-6³⁵⁵, IL-1 β , IL-8, granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and granulocyte colony stimulating factor (GCSF)³⁵⁶; stimulates release of IL-1Ra³⁵⁷; stimulates release of TNF- α soluble receptors (TNF- α antagonist) and downregulates surface TNF- α receptors³⁵⁸; inhibits cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) reducing production of PGE2³⁵⁹; and inhibits the release of reactive oxygen intermediates³⁶⁰. It also reduces the recruitment of macrophages³⁶¹. In neutrophils it has similar effects including inhibiting release of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-8³⁶²; increasing release of IL-1Ra³⁶³; and inhibiting COX-2 protein expression³⁴¹. All of these changes dampen the inflammatory

response and reduce the amount and effectiveness of pro-inflammatory and pro-algesic molecules.

IL-10 acts differently on different classes of T cell. It inhibits the release of IFN- γ and IL-2 from T_H1 cells³³⁶ and activates Treg cells to reduce T_H17 mediated inflammation³⁶⁴. It also decreases T_H2 differentiation and survival³⁶⁵. In addition, IL-10 reduces IL-8 mediated chemotactic responses of T helper cells³⁶⁶. These effects further dampen the inflammatory response by decreasing the presence of pro-inflammatory T cell subsets.

IL-10 also directly affects cells in the nervous system. It decreases IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6 and CCL2 (chemotactic factor for monocytes and basophils) expression by astrocytes³⁶⁷. It also increases TGF- β expression by astrocytes, which in turn inhibits microglial activation³⁶⁷. IL-10 reduces IL-6 expression by microglia³⁶⁷ and induces β -endorphin, an endogenous opioid peptide, expression by microglia³⁶⁸. Direct effects on neurons include reducing baseline expression of Nav1.6 and Nav1.8 at the mRNA and protein level in DRG neurons³⁵². It also abolishes TNF- α induced upregulation of Nav1.3, Nav 1.6 and Nav1.8³⁵². These changes reduce the inflammatory mediators present locally in the nervous system and directly reduce the excitability of the neurons in the DRG.

Data from animal models of pain link these molecular changes to behavioural responses, further supporting the anti-nociceptive effects of this cytokine. For instance, after partial nerve ligation and chronic constriction injury, rats exhibited significant mechanical allodynia and IL-10 levels were significantly decreased³⁶⁹. Further, blocking IL-10 signaling with intrathecal administration of an IL-10 antibody delayed resolution of inflammatory hyperalgesia³³⁴ and prevented recovery from paclitaxel-induced allodynia³⁷⁰ supporting the role of endogenous IL-10

signaling in the resolution of inflammatory and nerve-injury-induced sensitization. In addition, intrathecal delivery of IL-10 attenuated allodynia in rat nerve injury models^{352,368,371} and inhibited spontaneous DRG discharges triggered by paclitaxel therapy, reducing allodynia³⁷⁰. These studies further support the importance of IL-10 in attenuating sensitization, particularly after nerve injury.

Although IL-10 seems to be important in recovery from nerve injury and preventing allodynia associated with nerve injury in animal models, studies on IL-10 in patients with chronic pain have reported conflicting results. In support of findings in animal models, IL-10 was decreased in patients with chronic pain from post-traumatic neuralgia or distal painful non-diabetic polyneuropathy¹⁵⁶, fibromyalgia¹⁴⁷, CRPS¹⁵⁵ and chronic widespread pain¹⁵⁰ compared to healthy controls. Some studies also reported IL-10 was inversely correlated with pain intensity^{147,156,251}. In addition, patients with painful neuropathies had decreased IL-10 mRNA compared to patients with painless neuropathies¹⁶⁰. IL-10 was also decreased in patients with severe sciatica pain secondary to lumbar disc herniation compared to those with mild pain¹⁵⁹.

Overall, the above studies support that IL-10 reduces pain, however, some studies did not find a significant difference in patients with pain compared to controls^{154,162,165}. Surprisingly, a few studies found increased IL-10 in patients with certain chronic pain conditions including in patients with chronic prostatitis-chronic pelvic pain syndrome¹⁵², in patients with small fiber neuropathy¹⁶¹ and in patients with rheumatoid arthritis compared to healthy controls¹⁴⁵. These increases could reflect protective mechanisms in which increased IL-10 was produced to counter the pro-inflammatory and pro-algesic responses, in order to re-establish homeostasis.

The regulatory role of IL-10 makes interpreting these discrepant findings in chronic pain conditions difficult. Findings on the acute effects of IL-10 were also mixed. IL-10 in the synovial fluid of acute, painful knees secondary to anterior cruciate ligament tear were not significantly different from levels in controls¹⁴³. On the other hand, a study on IL-10 in synovial fluid from acute, painful knees secondary to meniscal tear found significantly higher levels in painful knees compared to non-painful knees¹⁴⁴. Different timelines in these studies (examination within six weeks of injury¹⁴³ vs. within six months of injury¹⁴⁴) may have influenced these differences. The fact that one study showed increased IL-10 and one showed no difference in the acute pain setting makes understanding if and how IL-10 may affect one's risk for post-operative pain unclear and suggests more research is needed.

The only study identified investigating IL-10 and post-surgical pain found an IL-10 haplotype that was associated with reduced risk for severe persistent post-surgical pain after BCS however, they did not report on the effect of the polymorphism on protein levels¹⁹⁷ making these findings difficult to interpret.

While evidence in animals strongly supports the anti-nociceptive effect of IL-10, human studies report discrepant findings. Gene vector therapies currently being developed to treat neuropathic pain support the anti-nociceptive effect of IL-10. Intrathecal delivery of plasmid IL-10 gene vector has been shown to successfully reduce allodynia in rats, and animal studies are ongoing to develop IL-10 gene therapy treatments to be used for neuropathic pain³⁷¹. See Milligan et al. (2012)³⁷² for a more complete description of the IL-10 gene therapy options being explored. Importantly, this supports not only the anti-nociceptive effects of IL-10 but also that IL-10 is potentially modifiable.

Human data on IL-10 and pain is mixed, possibly due to the regulatory function of this cytokine. However, the strong evidence from cellular and animal models suggests increased research on IL-10 and pain in humans is needed. Understanding IL-10 as a risk factor for post-operative pain is particularly important as with the development of gene therapies, prophylactic treatment to prevent post-surgical pain may be possible³⁷². This study aimed to determine if there is an association between baseline IL-10 and post-operative pain.

Immunoregulatory

In addition to cytokines that can be classified as primarily pro-inflammatory or antiinflammatory, some cytokines have bimodal effects and immunoregulatory effects.

Interleukin-2

IL-2 is a 15 kDa protein produced primarily by T helper cells, particularly Th1 cells^{373–375}. IL-2 is also produced by other T cells, including cytotoxic T cells³⁷⁶, dendritic cells, NK cells^{375,377}, and B cells³⁷⁸.

The IL-2 receptor has three subunits: IL-2R α , IL-2R β and IL-2R γ . IL-2R β and IL-2R γ form a receptor with low affinity for IL-2. The low affinity receptor is expressed at low levels on memory T helper cells and high levels on memory cytotoxic T cells³⁷⁵. A trimeric receptor containing all three subunits forms the high affinity receptor³⁷⁹. The differential expression of the high affinity receptor is believed to contribute to the bimodal effects of IL-2 signalling³⁸⁰. High expression of the IL-2R α subunit, which helps form the high affinity receptor, is associated with Treg cells while low expression is associated with T effector cells³⁸⁰, indicating different sensitivities and providing a potential explanation for the different responses to low and high concentrations of IL-2 (see below). Expression of IL-2R α on T and B cells and monocytes requires induction by antigen

presentation^{380,381}. Functional receptors have also been identified in primary sensory neurons in the DRG³⁸², in the spinal cord³⁷⁹, in higher brain structures such as the hippocampus³⁸³, and in microglia³⁸⁴.

IL-2 mediates a range of effects in the immune system that contribute to inflammatory responses. Firstly, it alters the expression of cytokine receptors on T helper cells, signalling cells to differentiate into subsets³⁸⁵. IL-2 plays a particularly important role in the balance between Treg cells and T_H17 cells. It inhibits T_H17 differentiation³⁸⁶, promotes Treg development³⁸⁷ and maintenance³⁷⁶, and promotes T_H2 responses³⁸⁸. IL-2 also expands and activates cytotoxic T cells³⁷⁶ and upregulates the IL-2R α subunit on cytotoxic T cells^{381,389}, increasing the response to IL-2. It also induces the expression of chemokine receptors on T cells (CC-CKR1 and CC-CKR2) enabling recruitment^{388,390} and induces proliferation of NK cells^{171,391}.

Different levels of IL-2 have differential effects on T cells which may contribute to the bimodal effects observed in animal and human studies. High doses of IL-2 preferentially activate NK cells and T effector cells while low doses selectively activate Treg cells³⁸⁷ and T memory cell differentiation³⁸⁰. The balance between the activation of T effector cells (pro-inflammatory) and Treg cells (anti-inflammatory) will determine whether the effect will be predominantly proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory.

One important way IL-2 exerts pro-inflammatory effects is by activating a range of immune cells to release pro-inflammatory cytokines. It triggers IFN- γ and TNF- α release from peripheral blood mononuclear cells, including NK cells¹⁷¹, cytotoxic T cells and T helper cells¹⁶⁶. It also activates monocytes rendering them cytotoxic¹⁸¹, and induces release of IL-6³⁹² and IL-8³⁹³ from monocytes.

On the other hand, some anti-nociceptive effects are mediated by direct interaction with the nervous system. Peripherally, IL-2 triggers membrane hyperpolarization, reduced calcium currents and reduced intracellular calcium concentrations in DRG neurons by activating μ opioid receptors³⁹⁴. In the central nervous system, IL-2 exerts its anti-nociceptive effect at least partially by activating opioid receptors and also by increasing leu-enkephalin in the paraventricular nucleus and locus coeruleus, two regions of the brain involved in pain processing³⁹⁵.

These bimodal effects make teasing apart the impact of IL-2 on nociception challenging. However, the effect of exogenous IL-2 or IL-2 gene therapy has helped to elucidate how this cytokine affects nociception. One study demonstrated different responses to different intrathecal doses of IL-2 with high intrathecal doses resulting in thermal and mechanical hyperalgesia and low doses resulting in thermal anti-nociception³⁹⁶. These differential effects at high and low doses could be related to the varied expression of the high affinity receptor on different cell types³⁸⁰. More recent research is investigating muteins or antibody complexes that specifically target IL-2R signalling on T effectors instead of T regulatory cells, which would preferentially inhibit pro-inflammatory signalling. However this research is in its infancy³⁷³.

As a result of the immunoregulatory properties of IL-2, and the differential effects of different concentrations and signalling on different cell types, the effect of IL-2 on pain in humans is difficult to predict. Studies in human chronic pain populations have presented conflicting results. IL-2 was elevated in some chronic pain populations, including in patients with CRPS compared to controls^{154,155}, in patients with small fiber neuropathies compared to controls^{164,155}, in patients with small fiber neuropathies compared to controls^{164,160}. A study on chronic neuropathic, nociceptive or mixed pain found no significant difference in the

patient group compared to the controls but did report IL-2 was increased in patients with severe pain compared to "light" pain¹⁶². All of these studies support a pro-nociceptive effect. However, others found evidence of an anti-nociceptive effect. IL-2 was decreased in fibromyalgia patients compared to controls,¹⁴⁷ and in spinal cord injury patients with neuropathic pain an increase in IL-2 was associated with a decrease in pain¹⁹³. The bimodal effects of this cytokine exerted through differential expression of high affinity receptors may be involved in these discrepant results³⁸⁰. Some studies have also reported no difference between patients and controls including in patients with chronic widespread pain¹⁵⁰ and in patients with chronic prostatitischronic pelvic pain syndrome compared to controls^{151,152}. The pathophysiology of both of these chronic pain syndromes is varied which could make it difficult to find differences between patients and controls in these studies.

In terms of acute injury, results are also varied. In one study of acute, meniscal tear, IL-2 was increased in the synovial fluid of painful knees compared to non-painful knees¹⁴⁴. However, IL-2 did not differ between synovial fluid from knees with acute, anterior cruciate ligament tear and asymptomatic knees¹⁴³. The reasons for these discrepancies are unclear however, different time frames were used in these two studies (onset within 6 months¹⁴⁴ compared to onset within 6 weeks¹⁴³), thus the inconsistent findings may reflect a timing specific role for IL-2 in nociception and sensitization. The small number of studies on IL-2 and acute pain make drawing conclusions about how IL-2 may influence sensitization in the acute setting challenging.

Few studies have examined IL-2 and surgical responses. One study found IL-2 is increased during and after non-neurological surgery, but they did not investigate the correlation with reported pain¹⁹⁵. No studies were available that investigated the relationship between IL-2 levels

and intensity of any type of post-operative pain, including after BCS. However, given the bimodal effects of this cytokine on immune and inflammatory responses, further research is warranted to better understand how changes in this cytokine may influence pain. The current study was the first to investigate the relationship of baseline IL-2 to pain after BCS.

Transforming Growth Factor- β

TGF- β is a 13 kDa cytokine that may also have both pro-nociceptive and anti-nociceptive effects depending on the context¹³⁰. Many cells produce TGF- β including Tregs^{397,398}, T_H17 cells³⁹⁷, monocytes³⁹⁹ and macrophages³⁹⁸, B cells^{398,400}, platelets⁴⁰¹, endothelial cells⁴⁰² and astrocytes in the nervous system³⁹⁹. Breast tumour cells can also produce TGF- β making this a particularly relevant cytokine in the context of the current study population⁴⁰³.

Receptors are found on monocytes⁴⁰⁴, B cells⁴⁰⁰, T cells⁴⁰⁵, NK cells⁴⁰⁶, mast cells¹³³, neutrophils⁴⁰⁷ and fibroblasts⁴⁰⁸. They are also found on cells of the nervous system including neurons (both ventral horn motor neurons and DRG sensory neurons) and glial cells^{246,409} suggesting direct effects are likely.

One of the roles TGF- β plays in the immune response to infection or injury involves T cells. It inhibits T cell proliferation^{405,410} and inhibits cytotoxic T cell maturation⁴¹⁰. TGF- β also inhibits T cell differentiation into T_H1⁴¹⁰⁻⁴¹² and T_H2 cells^{410,413} and prevents cytokine production by T_H1 (IFN- γ)⁴¹¹ and T_H2 (IL-4)⁴¹³ cells. TGF- β also induces Treg differentiation⁴¹⁴, which suppresses the inflammatory response. On the other hand, TGF- β induces T_H17 differentiation^{386,397} when IL-6 is present⁴¹². T_H17 cells are usually pro-inflammatory, however, strong activation of T_H17 cells by TGF- β also stimulates production of IL-10 inhibiting the

inflammatory properties of $T_H 17$ cells⁴¹². It is unclear at what level of endogenous TGF- β this switch to anti-inflammatory effects on $T_H 17$ occurs.

Effects on monocytes and macrophages also appear to be multimodal. In early stages of inflammation TGF- β appears to have pro-inflammatory effects. It increases monocyte chemotaxis and induces IL-1 expression from monocytes⁴⁰⁴. However, TGF- β also inhibits monocyte release of TNF- α , reactive oxygen intermediates, reactive nitrogen intermediates¹⁷⁹, and IL-1 and IL-2 induced production of IL-6³⁹². Other pro-inflammatory effects of TGF- β include increased chemotaxis of mast cells¹³³, neutrophils⁴⁰⁷, fibroblasts⁴⁰⁸ and dendritic cells⁴¹⁵. The accumulation of all these cell types contributes to an increased inflammatory response. TGF- β also induces COX-2 expression resulting in increased PGE2 in muscle cells⁴¹⁶. Other anti-inflammatory effects include inhibiting IL-2-dependent proliferation and antigen presentation functions of B cells⁴⁰⁰, inhibiting cytolytic functions of NK cells⁴⁰⁶ and inhibiting IL-6 and IL-8 expression by endothelial cells⁴¹⁷.

In the nervous system, both pro-nociceptive and anti-nociceptive effects have also been described. TGF- β increases capsaicin-induced calcium influx in primary sensory neurons in the DRG⁴¹⁸ and results in a less negative resting membrane potential and reduced activation threshold of DRG neurons⁴⁰⁹. The mechanism behind these changes likely involves modulation of the expression of voltage-gated potassium channels in DRG neurons and downregulation of potassium currents⁴⁰⁹.

On the other hand, TGF- β inhibits activation of microglia and astrocytes^{246,419,420} and inhibits microglia proliferation^{246,420}. It also reduces TNF- α production by astrocytes, microglia and neurons in the dorsal horn⁴¹⁹ and inhibits IL-8²⁶⁸, IL-1, IL-6 and superoxide anion production

by microglia⁴²⁰. In addition, TGF- β increases expression and function of μ - and δ -opioid receptors⁴²¹ and increases synaptic release of enkephalins^{421,422} in the spinal cord, reducing allodynia⁴²¹. Furthermore, TGF- β upregulates glutamate transporters in the dorsal horn, responsible for clearing glutamate from synaptic clefts reducing excitotoxicity⁴¹⁹. Together, this results in a reduction of pro-nociceptive mediators and an increase in anti-nociceptive mediators.

While TGF- β seems to be involved in changes relevant to nociception, the ultimate outcome of these pro-nociceptive and anti-nociceptive findings is unclear and may depend on the local environment. Effects may also differ in the peripheral nervous system vs the central nervous system and in healthy vs chronic inflammatory states⁴⁰⁹.

Research on animal models has supported mixed effects of TGF- β . Increased endogenous TGF- β signaling in mice resulted in decreased mechanical allodynia⁴²². In addition, increased TGF- β secreted from transplanted bone marrow stromal cells reduced mechanical allodynia and/or heat hyperalgesia and decreased neuroinflammation in the spinal cord and DRG⁴²³. Intrathecal infusion also prevented hypersensitivity from nerve injury and reversed mechanical allodynia and thermal hyperalgesia²⁴⁶.

The above studies support an anti-nociceptive effect; however, TGF- β may have pronociceptive effects in the periphery and anti-nociceptive effects in the central nervous system⁴²⁴. In a rat model of chronic pancreatitis, increased TGF- β was observed in the pancreas, and this was associated with peripheral nociceptor sensitization and hyperalgesia⁴²⁴. Infusion of TGF- β into the pancreas induced sensitization while intrathecal administration of TGF- β reduced hyperalgesia⁴²⁴. Others have refuted this suggestion of different effects in the periphery compared to the central nervous system. Lantero et al. (2012)⁴²⁵ found that systemic

administration of TGF- β reduced mechanical allodynia in mice, and administration of a systemic neutralizing antibody that does not cross the blood brain barrier increased mechanical allodynia, suggesting anti-nociceptive effects in both the periphery and the central nervous system⁴²⁵. Another study proposed the effects of TGF- β in chronic inflammation may differ when compared to healthy states⁴⁰⁹. They found in a rat model of chronic pancreatitis TGF- β antagonism decreased hypersensitivity; however, in healthy rats, antagonism increased hyperalgesia⁴⁰⁹.

The above studies in animals indicate the effects of TGF- β on inflammation and nociception are complex and not easily categorized as pro-nociceptive or anti-nociceptive. Human studies have also reported varied conclusions about the effect of TGF- β on pain experiences. TGF- β was increased in migraine patients during headache free periods compared to controls⁴²⁶ suggesting it could be involved in risk for migraines. It was also increased in patients with small fiber neuropathies compared to controls¹⁶¹. However, it was decreased in patients with CRPS¹⁵⁵ and was not significantly different between patients with chronic widespread pain and healthy controls¹⁵⁰. Although the pathophysiology behind each of these conditions is poorly understood, these discrepancies could reflect differences in the pathologies of the conditions examined. Firstly, in small fiber neuropathy it has been proposed that the diseased fibres have increased sensitivity to pro-inflammatory cytokines so the increased TGF- β observed may have contributed to an anti-inflammatory compensatory process with IL-10¹⁶¹. CRPS on the other hand is believed to occur due to exaggerated post-traumatic neurogenic inflammation¹⁵⁵. Therefore, the decrease observed in CRPS patients may have reflected ongoing inflammation with decreased anti-inflammatory cytokines (including IL-10). In addition, in patients with chronic widespread pain the finding that TGF- β was equivalent in patients and controls¹⁵⁰ may be due to

the heterogenous nature of the patient population. Chronic widespread pain includes multiple subgroups and these different groups may have different underlying etiologies¹⁵⁰.

Given that Zhu et al. $(2012)^{409}$ found different effects of TGF- β in healthy compared to chronically ill animals, understanding TGF- β 's effects in the acute setting is important. However, most research on acute or post-operative pain has not examined TGF- β concentrations and no studies were identified that correlated TGF- β with reported pain after surgery. One study found it was significantly increased after orthopaedic trauma, although, they did not report pain ratings¹⁹⁶. A study of BCS found TGF- β decreased after surgery⁴²⁷. However, TGF- β was elevated in patients with breast cancer before surgery, possibly due to secretion from the tumor itself and then decreased after the removal of the tumour⁴⁰³. Therefore, the observed decrease may not be an effect of tissue damage from surgery but rather could be related to the removal of the TGF- β secreting tumour. The effect of TGF- β on post-operative pain in the breast cancer setting is therefore particularly intriguing. The diverse effects on nociception described in cellular and animal studies, and the discrepant findings reported in humans make predicting how TGF- β levels before surgery may impact sensitization and inflammatory processes challenging. However, this cytokine seems to play a role in inflammation and nociception, and given that breast tumour cells can secrete it, it may be particularly relevant in pain responses after BCS. This study was the first to investigate the role of pre-operative TGF- β in predicting pain outcomes after BCS.

Summary

As this review has shown, a number of cytokines are important in sensitization and pain. While gaps exist, taken together, the balance of the available evidence suggests the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-8, IL-17, IFN- γ , and TNF- α contribute to increasing pain

perception, while the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 is involved in decreasing pain perception. The evidence regarding IL-2 and TGF- β is mixed but overall supports the involvement of these cytokines in pain processes. In this study, we predicted the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-8, IL-17, IFN- γ , and TNF- α would be positively correlated with pain outcomes, while the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 would be negatively correlated with pain outcomes. The direction of the relationship between IL-2 and TGF- β and pain outcomes was difficult to predict *a priori* based on the available literature. Nonetheless, we predicted IL-2 would be positively associated with pain outcomes, particularly neuropathic pain, given that several studies on patients with neuropathies demonstrated a positive association. We predicted TGF- β would be negatively associated with pain outcomes as in two out of three studies in humans, the difference between TGF- β in patients and healthy controls paralleled differences found in IL-10, suggesting an anti-inflammatory role.

Given the evidence for the changes induced by each of the cytokines described, a greater pro-inflammatory cytokine profile may facilitate pain susceptibility⁴²⁸ as was found in PPSP after inguinal hernia repair⁴²⁹. Some studies have examined the post-surgical inflammatory response; however, baseline levels need to be further explored. Studies examining pre-operative cytokines have almost never considered psychological factors simultaneously. This was the first study, to our knowledge, to measure baseline levels of IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-17, IFN- γ , TGF- β and TNF- α , and other biopsychosocial variables simultaneously to identify risk factors for APSP.

2.5 Risk Factors for Post-Surgical Pain

The biopsychosocial model of pain was developed from the Gate Control Theory and is compatible with the Neuromatrix Model of Pain. It conceptualizes pain as a dynamic, bidirectional interaction between a range of biological, psychological and social factors¹⁶. Importantly, these contributing factors all influence one another, suggesting various complex interactions rather than unidirectional effects. According to this framework, post-surgical pain is likely to be predicted by a range of biopsychosocial factors.

Surgical factors

Surgical procedure is associated with APSP, partly due to differences in extent of tissue damage. Tissue damage and potential nerve damage lead to inflammation and sensitization which increases pain⁹⁸. Patients undergoing breast <u>reconstruction</u> are at greater risk than those undergoing mastectomy without reconstruction³ and patients having <u>mastectomy</u> are at greater risk for post-operative pain than those undergoing lumpectomy^{430–432}. Breast reconstruction increases the risk of damage to nerves including the lateral pectoral, thoracodorsal and long thoracic nerves⁴³³. <u>ALND</u>, which is more invasive, increases risk of post-operative pain compared to SLNB^{432,434,435}. Importantly, ALND increases risk of damage to the intercostobrachial nerve (ICBN), which innervates the skin of the axilla and the medial, proximal arm, and could lead to NeP⁶. Nonetheless, surgical procedure cannot fully explain the variance in APSP, necessitating consideration of other factors.

Demographic Factors

<u>Age</u>. The relationship between age and APSP is unclear with reports of no relationship^{436–} ⁴³⁸ and decreases^{3,7,430,432,434,435,439–443} with age. Mechanisms for any potential relationships are unclear⁴⁴⁴ but may include changes in life stage and psychosocial factors⁴⁴⁵ as well as changes in the immune system⁴⁴⁶. Younger women may show greater levels of distress compared to older women prior to surgery which could contribute to their post-operative pain^{6,434}.

Correlations between aging and cytokine levels have been extensively studied; however, conclusions vary due to differences in subject selection and assay method. IL-6 elevations with age are the most consistently reported^{446–448} although some have found no significant difference⁴⁴⁹. Increased TNF- α has been reported^{446,447} but not by all^{449,450}; and increased IL-10 ^{446,447} with age has also been reported but not by all^{448,449}. Baseline IL-8 is increased in older adults⁴⁴⁶ in some studies but not all⁴⁴⁹. Greater increases in IL-6 and IL-8 in older than younger surgical patients suggest a more robust immune response with age that could influence pain²⁵⁶. While the relationship between age and APSP as well as the mechanism behind any relationship is unclear, the influence of age on APSP was examined in this study.

Biological and Health Status Factors

<u>Elevated body mass index (BMI)</u> has been linked to chronic inflammation⁴⁵¹ and may contribute to post-surgical pain by sensitizing the nervous system pre-operatively. Motaghedi et al. (2014)⁴⁵² found obesity was related to the severity of the post-surgical inflammatory response however they did not measure the association with pain. Some have proposed that obesity affects handling of the ICBN, and thereby, post-surgical NeP⁴⁵³. Although several studies have found no correlation between BMI and post-BCS pain^{3,432}, others have found increasing BMI was associated with greater opioid consumption, even after correcting for weight⁴³⁵. Some studies of PPSP after BCS have reported positive associations with BMI^{3,454,455} however, others have not^{456,457}. In general surgery populations, results have also varied with reports of positive correlations^{253,458,459} and no associations^{429,437,442,443,452}. One study found BMI predicted APSP quality in younger but not older surgery patients⁴⁶⁰. Importantly, BMI may be positively correlated to movement-related pain but not pain-at-rest one year post-BCS⁴⁶¹ suggesting the outcome measure may contribute to the discrepancies. Other methodological differences, especially in pain measurement, may have also contributed to discrepancies^{457,462}. Many APSP studies have not considered BMI, and a systematic review found only 2/48 studies included BMI as a possible predictor⁴⁴¹. Given the inflammatory status associated with elevated BMI, clarification of how BMI, inflammatory cytokine levels, and psychological factors influence APSP is needed.

Psychological Factors

When nociceptive signals arrive at the brain, various regions are involved in formulating the perception of pain through a complex network of interacting pathways¹⁹. Crucially, many of these supraspinal structures are also involved in emotional and cognitive functions⁶⁷. Emotional and cognitive factors may influence pain pathways in a number of ways: by contributing to changes in inflammatory cytokines; by activating descending modulation pathways, therefore affecting spinal processing; or by affecting cerebral processing. Various psychological factors have been consistently associated with post-surgical pain outcomes.

Anxiety. 75% of patients awaiting BCS experience anxiety⁴⁶³, the most consistently reported psychological risk factor for severe APSP after BCS^{430,431,435,464}. Anxiety was positively correlated with pain after other surgeries as well^{7,437,441–443,465–467}. The association between pain and anxiety is well established⁴⁶⁸ and dysregulation of cytokines implicated in pain processes have been observed in patients with anxiety. Liu et al. (2012)¹⁴⁶ found increased IL-17 in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and anxiety compared to those without anxiety. Others have reported increased IL-6 in anxious participants⁴⁶⁹. This group postulated that the increased threat perception associated with anxiety may lead to more frequent and amplified activation of the stress response⁴⁶⁹. Others however, did not find this association⁴⁷⁰. In patients with colorectal cancer, serum IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α were found to be positively correlated with anxiety, and serum IL-10 was negatively correlated with anxiety⁴⁷¹. This suggests the association between psychological factors and pain could be partially mediated through changes in inflammatory cytokines.

In addition, anxiety is related to dysfunction in the ACC and the prefrontal cortex, resulting in reduced top-down control of emotional regulation tasks, particularly in the amygdala⁴⁷². Long term potentiation and changes in the ACC and prefrontal cortex in chronic anxiety conditions may result in neuronal activity that impacts normal sensory processing, resulting in increased sensitivity and activity in pain-related brain areas⁴⁶⁸. Activation in the prefrontal cortex, and ACC is observed with anxiety and with pain^{473,474}. Increased activity in the entorhinal cortex (part of the hippocampus), an area important for memory consolidation, prior to pain predicted activity in areas of the brain associated with affective (perigenual cingulate) and intensity (mid-insula) processing⁶⁶. Fairhurst et al. (2007)⁵⁶ also reported anticipation prior

to a noxious stimulus was correlated with increased activity in the entorhinal cortex in addition to the PAG and VTA and the activity in these regions predicted pain-related activation in the posterior insula. The more anticipatory anxiety the patient reported prior to the stimulus, the greater activation of the PAG and reported pain intensity during the stimulus⁵⁶. Individuals demonstrating increased trait anxiety had greater activity in the anterior insula and the amygdala in response to an emotional processing task⁴⁷⁵ and lorazepam, an anxiolytic drug, reduced activity in these brain regions, further supporting their involvement in anxiety⁴⁷⁶. The amygdala, a component of the limbic system associated with the emotional-affective dimension of pain⁴⁷⁷, is particularly important for fear and anxiety processes⁴⁶⁸, and may be involved in fear associated with pain^{71,477}. The activation and dysfunction of multiple brain areas that are implicated in pain processes during anxiety supports the relationship between anxiety and pain. The relationship between anxiety and pain is bidirectional⁴⁷⁴, and this study considered anxiety as a pre-operative predictor of post-surgical pain outcomes.

<u>Depression</u> has also been associated with increased APSP after BCS^{431,464} and other surgeries^{439,442,465–467}. The bidirectional relationship between depression and chronic pain is well established, with individuals who are pain-free and depressed at increased risk of developing chronic pain, and patients with chronic pain at increased risk of developing depression⁴⁷⁴.

In 1991, Smith proposed the macrophage theory of depression which suggests excessive secretion of inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α , is the underlying cause of depression⁴⁷⁸. Since, multiple studies have implicated a number of pro-inflammatory cytokines in depression, particularly IL-6 and TNF- α^{479} . Depression has been positively correlated with IL-6^{470,479–483} and a greater IL-6 response to experimental stressors has been found in depressed than non-depressed

patients^{481,484}, suggesting patients with depression may not only have pre-sensitized immune systems but may have greater post-surgical IL-6 increases. Cells from individuals with depressive symptoms have also shown increased production of IL-8 in response to inflammatory stimuli⁴⁸⁵, so depression could predispose individuals to a greater inflammatory response after surgery, and therefore increased APSP. Increased TNF- α has also been found in depressed patients⁶⁹ but not consistently^{480,486}. Another study found the magnitude of depressive symptoms in women after BCS correlated with TNF- α^{482} . In colorectal cancer patients, serum IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α were found to be positively correlated with depression and serum IL-10 was negatively correlated with depression⁴⁷¹. Therefore, both the increased resting levels of inflammatory cytokines in patients with depression as well as increased inflammatory reactivity to stress⁴⁸⁰ could increase the risk of APSP in depressed patients. (For an in depth review of the effects of cytokines on depression see Felger & Lotrich (2013)⁴⁸⁰ or Slavich & Irwin (2009)⁴⁸⁷).

Dysfunction in the serotonin⁴⁸⁸ and norepinephrine⁴⁸⁹ neurotransmitter systems are also implicated in the proposed pathophysiological mechanism of depression⁴⁹⁰ and these systems are involved in descending pain pathways⁴⁹¹. A number of functional imaging studies have found depressed mood to be associated with changes in activity in brain regions associated with processing of nociceptive stimuli, particularly areas implicated in affective processing⁴⁹². Giesecke et al. (2005)⁴⁹² compared cortical responses to painful pressure stimuli in the brains of patients with major depressive disorder compared to healthy controls and found no difference in activity in somatosensory cortices (sensory-discriminative dimension of pain) but found increased activity in the anterior insula and in the amygdala in patients with major depression. Increased activity in response to painful stimulation has also been reported in the thalamus, the

prefrontal cortex⁵⁷ and the amygdala⁴⁹³ in patients with depression. Decreased activity in the ACC and PAG, regions involved in descending modulatory pathways, has also been observed in depressed patients exposed to painful stimuli⁴⁹³. Further evidence from fMRI studies suggests depressed patients may experience increased levels of affective processing before experiencing pain⁵⁷, demonstrated by increased activity in the amygdala, anterior insula and ACC⁴⁹³. Depression has also been linked to a reduction in inhibitory descending modulation⁴⁹¹ and malfunctioning in the ACC⁴⁷⁷. Taken together, depression could predispose patients to APSP by altering inflammatory cytokine levels or reactivity, or by supraspinal mechanisms in areas of the brain associated with both depression and pain.

<u>Pain catastrophizing</u> is an amplified negative response to actual or expected painful experiences⁴⁹⁴. It has been positively correlated with pain after BCS^{430,434} and other surgeries^{438,441,465,495,496}. It is one of the most important factors predicting pain intensity and disability and is associated with poorer pain treatment outcomes^{497,498}.

The association between inflammatory cytokines and pain catastrophizing has been less extensively studied however, pain catastrophizing was associated with greater pain-related increases in IL-6 in an experimental pain study⁴⁹⁹ suggesting alterations in cytokines could play a role in the effect of pain catastrophizing on pain outcomes.

Pain catastrophizing is also believed to mediate increased pain via increased attention to stimulation and increased emotional responses⁴⁹¹. In response to painful mechanical stimuli, high catastrophizers demonstrated increased activity in the medial frontal cortex and cerebellum (anticipation of pain), the dorsal ACC and prefrontal cortex (attention to pain) and the claustrum (closely linked to the amygdala; emotional processing of pain)⁵⁰⁰. According to an fMRI study,

during mild pain, activity in brain regions, including the ACC and the insula, were positively correlated to PCS scores, suggesting increased emotional processing⁵⁰¹. During moderate pain, PCS scores were negatively correlated with activity in brain regions associated with top-down control, including the dorsolateral frontal cortex, which may suggest impaired descending control⁵⁰¹.

<u>Pain expectations.</u> Higher pain expectations have been associated with increased post-BCS pain intensity⁴³². No studies were identified that examined the association between cytokine levels and pain expectations.

However, in brain imaging studies the anterior insula, ACC, thalamus and PAG are all activated during anticipation of pain⁵⁶. In a study on healthy volunteers, expectations of reduced pain were associated with a reduction in the pain intensity reported after painful heat stimulation as well as a reduction in activity in brain areas associated with pain processing, including the thalamus, primary and secondary somatosensory cortices, insula, ACC, prefrontal cortex and cerebellum⁵⁰². Based on nocebo experiments, negative expectations are mediated by hyperactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, increased CCK, and decreased dopamine and opioid activity in the nucleus accumbens⁵⁰³. Activity in the PAG, a region important in descending pathways, is also associated with anticipation of pain and perceived pain intensity⁴⁷⁷. Increased anticipation of pain is associated with increased activity in the anterior insula, and the amount of activity correlates with ratings of pain intensity⁴⁷⁷.

Pain and Treatment History Factors

<u>Pre-operative pain</u> has been reported as a risk factor for APSP in general surgical^{7,437,439,441–443,465,466,496} and BCS populations^{435,436}. Pre-operative pain could contribute to pre-operative nervous system sensitization due to alterations in pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines⁵⁰⁴. In addition, nerve or tissue damage by tumour growth could contribute to pre-operative pain and neuroplastic changes prior to surgery⁵⁰⁴. Pre-operative pain could also influence pain beliefs and expectations, and therefore, modulation in the spinal cord and brain, leading to more severe APSP⁷. Patients with pre-operative pain, particularly chronic pain, may also be predisposed to post-surgical pain due to shared genetic and psychosocial risk factors⁴⁵⁵.

<u>Previous breast surgery</u> may also increase the risk of post-surgical pain due to changes in the patient's expectations and response shifts as a result of previous experience⁵⁰⁵. Neurobiological changes in the surgical area may also occur after previous surgery predisposing these patients to pain⁵⁰⁶. Previous surgical experience has been reported as a risk factor in a general surgical population⁴⁶⁰.

<u>Hormonal therapy</u> is associated with musculoskeletal pain⁵⁰⁷ and has been associated with increased risk of PPSP after BCS⁴⁵⁴. Researchers have suggested the association between hormonal therapy such as aromatase inhibitors with joint pain is related to reduced estrogen levels⁵⁰⁸. In one study, increased IL-4 and reduced IFN- γ were correlated with reduced pain intensity from aromatase inhibitors suggesting inflammatory mediators may contribute to the mechanism of aromatase inhibitor related pain⁵⁰⁸.

Previous radiation or chemotherapy could also increase the risk of post-operative pain due to neurobiological changes. Studies have reported post-operative radiation or chemotherapy was associated with increased PPSP^{456,509,510}. Both radiation and chemotherapy treatment, particularly regimens with taxanes, platinum agents or vinca alkaloids, are associated with neuropathic pain⁵¹¹. Chemotherapy induces axonal injury which activates an inflammatory response that is, in part, mediated by cytokines⁵¹². Different mechanisms of neurotoxicity have been reported for different types of chemotherapy, however all involve upregulation of gene expression associated with inflammatory and immune responses, including inflammatory cytokines⁵¹². In addition, radiation induces fibrotic changes, which are associated with increased IL-6 and TGF-β, and decreased IL-10⁵¹³. These cytokine changes could affect excitability of neurons in the breast and axilla area.

Many patients receive chemotherapy, radiation or hormonal therapy after surgery. As a result, only one study was identified that investigated pre-operative chemotherapy and radiation and they did not find an association with APSP³. Since some women may have had a previous cancer that was treated with chemotherapy, radiation or hormonal therapy and some women receive neo-adjuvant chemotherapy in order to shrink the tumour to facilitate surgery, this may be an important variable to assess pre-operatively. Therefore, these variables were considered in the current study because of their association with both PPSP and non-surgical pain.
2.6 Pain Outcomes

Pain intensity, or how much it hurts⁵¹⁴, was considered both at rest and with movement. Different correlates have been reported for resting pain and movement-evoked pain in both APSP^{442,515} and PPSP⁴⁶¹. For example, signs of neuropathic pain 1 week after BCS, contributed to the model predicting pain at rest one year after surgery, but was not included in the model predicting movement-related pain⁴⁶¹. BMI was included in the model for movement-related pain but was not included in the model for pain at rest⁴⁶¹. Movement-evoked pain is also a proxy for mechanical hyperalgesia⁸ and provides information on the impact of pain on physical functioning⁵¹⁶. Opioid medications may be less effective at reducing movement-evoked pain than resting pain^{4,517} so understanding risk factors for each could help tailor analgesia plans. Despite these differences, a systematic review found 39% of post-operative pain studies did not include movement-evoked pain as an outcome, and 52% did not specify whether they were measuring resting pain or movement-related pain⁵¹⁶. The current study measured both resting and movement-related pain intensity to better elucidate differences in factors contributing to APSP.

Pain quality, or how the pain feels⁵¹⁸, was also assessed in this study. APSP is often described as aching, tender, throbbing, sharp and tiring-exhausting⁵¹⁹. Changes in pain quality have been reported to impact interference beyond changes in intensity, supporting the importance of assessing both intensity and quality⁵²⁰. Evaluating pain qualities may provide information about the etiology of pain which could lead to more effective treatment⁵²¹. For instance, Minocycline had no impact on overall pain intensity but reduced scores on the affective scale of the Short Form-McGill Pain Questionnaire, a measure of sensory and affective pain qualities⁵²². IL-6 and depression symptoms explained 21% of the variability in pain quality in

patients with back pain²⁵³ so understanding the impact of cytokines and psychosocial factors on pain qualities may further our understanding of those at risk for particular types of pain.

NeP was also investigated in the present study. Nociceptive pain and NeP may respond to different pharmacological interventions so determining risk factors for each is essential⁵²³. Given the importance of pain qualities, this study developed biopsychosocial models predicting pain intensity at rest and with movement, pain qualities and NeP separately.

2.7 Consequences of Unrelieved Post-Surgical Pain

The amplified sympathetic activity associated with severe APSP increases the risk of complications in the cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, immune, muscular, pulmonary and renal systems^{4,524}. APSP also impacts psychological functioning and leads to reduced patient satisfaction, delayed discharge from hospital and post-anesthesia recovery units and unanticipated readmissions⁴. In older people, it can increase the risk of post-operative delirium and cognitive dysfunction⁴. Severe APSP is also a predictor for PPSP, which occurs in 22-70% of patients^{3,455}. Improved management of APSP is essential to reduce the likelihood of these complications.

2.8 Relevance and Importance

Despite advances in surgical technique and our understanding of pain, post-operative pain control remains inadequate. Identifying high-risk patients prior to surgery will allow preoperative and post-operative care to be adjusted based on risk. Modifiable factors identified in the pre-operative period will also provide a basis for research on targeted pre-operative interventions. While multiple studies have examined psychological, surgical and demographic

variables as risk factors for APSP, this is the first study, to our knowledge, that considered these factors simultaneously with baseline inflammatory cytokine levels to develop models predicting pain at rest, pain with movement, pain qualities and NeP after BCS.

2.9 Objectives

To develop biopsychosocial models of pre-operative risk factors to predict pain intensity at rest; pain intensity with movement; sensory and affective pain qualities; and neuropathic pain.

2.10 Hypotheses

- At 24 hours after surgery, each pain outcome (NRS-R, NRS-M, SF-MPQ and SF-NPQ), will be predicted by a range of preoperative biopsychosocial factors. We predict that psychological factors will most strongly predict the outcomes, although surgical factors and inflammatory cytokine concentrations at baseline will also contribute significantly to each model.
- There will be overlap between each of the models developed, however, we expect there to be differences in the variables that contribute to each model.
- 3. IFN- γ , IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-17, TNF- α will be associated with increased pain, while IL-10 and TGF- β will be predictive of decreased pain.

3 METHODS

This study was part of a larger, ongoing longitudinal study of post-operative pain after BCS (Canadian Cancer Society Research Institute Grant no. 18367). Ethics approval was obtained from the University Health Network (UHN) and York University.

Sample, Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria. 300 women scheduled for unilateral or bilateral mastectomy at UHN were recruited to the larger study. The 86 women who consented to a pre-operative blood draw and who completed a post-operative follow-up were included in this analysis. Inclusion criteria: ≥18 years old, able to read and write English sufficiently to provide informed consent and complete questionnaires, Class 1-3 on the American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Classification System⁵²⁵. Patients with a variety of breast cancer diagnoses (including ductal carcinoma in situ, invasive ductal carcinoma and invasive lobular carcinoma), stage 0-4, and those undergoing prophylactic surgery were recruited. Exclusion criteria: significant central nervous system, respiratory, cardiac, hepatic, renal or endocrine dysfunction and/or any significant associated sequelae; cognitive impairment or documented diagnosis of a DSM-IV Axis 1 disorder; contraindication to opioids or acetaminophen; documented substance abuse or dependence within one year; pregnant or breastfeeding within six months; use of exogenous hormones within three months; immunization within 30 days; blood donation within 60 days; acute or infectious illness, allergic reactions, herbal supplements, physical injuries or dental work within two weeks.

Procedure. Preadmission. Patients were recruited from the survivorship class at Princess Margaret Cancer Centre and the preadmission clinic at Toronto General Hospital. All patients approached were documented, and the reason for exclusions recorded. Informed consent was obtained, and the Short Orientation-Memory-Concentration Test was administered. No patients had scores suggesting cognitive impairment. Patients completed a comprehensive package including demographic information, menopausal status, pain expectations, history of chronic and ongoing pain problems, history of breast surgery and a measure of pre-operative pain at rest. A research assistant (RA) certified in phlebotomy requested permission to obtain a blood sample or to add additional vials to blood work ordered by physicians. Two lavender EDTA-coated Vacutainer[®] blood collection tubes were filled, allowing for a backup sample. Immediately after blood was drawn, it was centrifuged and plasma was separated and frozen at -80°C until analysis. Patients were given a take-home package including measures of anxiety, pain catastrophizing, and depression, which they completed and returned on the day of surgery. The RA also completed a chart review for disease and health information (Charlson Comorbidity Index, Karnofsky Performance Status, diagnosis, stage and history of cancer related treatment). BMI was calculated based on patient's height and weight as measured at the preadmission assessment (BMI=weight (kg)/height² (m)).

Intraoperative Management. Intraoperative management followed standard practice and may have differed slightly between patients. Decisions regarding intraoperative anesthesia and analgesia were made at the discretion of the anesthesiologist.

Post-Operative Follow-up. Post-operative management followed standard practice. Decisions regarding management were made by the patient's care team and therefore may have differed slightly between patients. Typically, patients received IV morphine 2-4mg and 650-1000mg of acetaminophen every six hours as needed. On the first post-surgical day, an RA visited or called the patient if they had been discharged. The Confusion Assessment Method was completed to assess delirium. There were no cases of scores suggesting delirium that required nursing intervention. Measures of pain at rest, pain with movement, pain qualities, and NeP were completed. When a patient could not be reached, pain ratings were abstracted from the patient's chart. Only pain at rest and occasionally movement-evoked pain were available from patient charts. Surgical information (type and length, complications, intraoperative and post-operative medications) and adverse events were recorded. See Appendix 2 for a summary of measures collected for the larger, longitudinal study.

3.1 Measures

Measures of Cognitive Status. <u>The Short Orientation-Memory-Concentration Test</u> assessed cognitive impairment pre-operatively. Scores can range from 0 to 28 with <18 indicating cognitive impairment. It has been used in cancer patients⁵²⁶. <u>The Confusion Assessment Method</u> was used to assess for post-surgical delirium. It is valid and reliable⁵²⁷.

Measures of Pain. <u>Numeric rating scale at rest (NRS-R) and with movement (NRS-M).</u> Patients selected a number from 0 (no pain), to 10 (worst possible pain). The NRS-R measured pain at rest. For movement-evoked pain, patients completed NRS-Ms after taking two maximal inspirations. NRSs are valid for post-surgical pain⁵²⁸. <u>The Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire</u> (SF-MPQ) was used as a multidimensional rating of the intensity of 11 sensory and 4 affective pain qualities as none, mild, moderate and severe. It is valid and reliable in the assessment of cancer pain⁵²⁹ and post-surgical pain^{518,519}. Total scores can range from 0-45 with higher scores indicating increased total affective and sensory pain intensity. The Short-Form Neuropathic Pain <u>Questionnaire (SF-NPQ)</u> is a valid and reliable measure of intensity of NeP qualities⁵³⁰. Patients reported the intensity of tingling, numbness and pain due to touch from 0-100⁵³⁰. Total scores can range from 0-300, with higher scores indicating increased intensity of neuropathic pain qualities. Answers were scored in two ways: firstly, the sum of responses to the three questions was used for the model outcome as this study was primarily interested in the presence of any neuropathic pain qualities; secondly, a validated scoring system⁵³⁰ which aims to categorize patients as experiencing neuropathic vs. non-neuropathic pain was used to better characterize the population of patients with probable neuropathic pain. Pain expectations were assessed by asking patients to answer three questions on a scale of 0 to 10: how intense do you expect the pain to be immediately following your surgery when you first wake up?; How intense do you expect the pain to be after you are given the pain medication?; How intense do you expect the pain to be one week following your surgery? The average of the answers to the three questions was used.

Measures of Health Status. <u>Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI)</u> is a weighted index of 19 comorbid conditions that was used to obtain a total comorbidity score. Higher scores indicate more comorbidity. It is valid and reliable in breast cancer and surgical patients⁵³¹. <u>Karnofsky</u> <u>Performance Status (KPS)</u> was used as a measure of functional status (0= "dead" to 100= "no evidence of disease"). It is valid and reliable in cancer patients⁵³².

Measures of Psychosocial Status. <u>The Centre for Epidemiologic Studies – Depression</u> <u>Scale (CES-D)</u> was used to measure depression. It is a 20-item measure that is valid and reliable in breast cancer patients⁵³³. Total scores range from 0-60 with higher scores indicating more depressive symptoms. <u>The Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS)</u> is a 13-item questionnaire that was used to measure pain rumination and magnification and helplessness in managing pain. Scores range from 0-52 with higher scores indicating increased pain catastrophizing. It is valid and reliable in adult pain populations⁵³⁴. <u>The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory</u> measured state anxiety (STAI-S), anxiety in response to specific situations, and trait anxiety (STAI-T), a general tendency towards anxious feelings, each with 20 items. Possible scores on each scale range from 20-80 with higher scores indicating increased anxiety. It is valid in surgical and cancer patients⁵³⁵.

Plasma Cytokine Levels. The Meso Scale Discovery (MSD) V-PLEX Cytokine Panel 1 (human) kit measured plasma IL-17. Plasma TGF-β1 was measured using the MSD 96-Well Multi-Array[®] Human TGF-β1 Assay. Plasma IFN-γ, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10 and TNF- α were measured using the MSD V-PLEX Proinflammatory Panel 1 (human) kit. The manufacturer's instructions were followed (MSD, Rockville, MD, USA). These enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays are validated. Plates came pre-coated with primary antibodies and calibrators, diluents, secondary antibodies and read buffer solutions were provided. Briefly, multi-analyte lyophilized calibrators were diluted to create seven solutions that were included on each plate. Plasma samples were thawed on ice. Two-fold dilutions of each sample were made. Each sample was tested twice and the mean was used. Samples were incubated for two hours in separate wells on each plate allowing cytokines to bind to primary antibodies on the well surface. After washing, detection antibodies conjugated with electrochemiluminescent labels were added to each well and incubated for two

hours. The secondary antibodies then bound to the bound analytes. Next the plates were washed and a read buffer, which creates the environmental conditions necessary for electrochemiluminescence, was added. The plates were read using an MSD SECTOR[®] Imager which applied a voltage to the plates causing the bound secondary antibodies to emit light. The MSD SECTOR[®] Imager measured the intensity of emitted light to quantify the analytes in the sample. Intensity of light from calibrators allowed for the development of a standard curve from which concentrations could be calculated. The use of this curve allowed samples below the detection limit but within the curve to be extrapolated. The lower limits of detection (LLODs) were: IFN- γ : 0.02pg/ml, IL-2: 0.09pg/ml, IL-6: 0.06pg/ml, IL-8: 0.04pg/ml, IL-10: 0.03pg/ml, IL-17: 0.74 pg/ml, TGF- β 1: 17pg/ml and TNF- α : 0.04pg/ml. Interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), Interleukin-4 (IL-4), Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) were also explored however, most samples were below the detection limit and are therefore not presented.

3.2 Data Analyses

Missing Data. All data were double checked for data entry errors prior to analysis. Missing data was assessed using Little's Missing Completely at Random test⁵³⁶ and was found to be missing completely at random. The mean item response for a particular participant was imputed for questionnaires with less than 20% items missing⁵³⁷. When participants were missing more than 20% of items on questionnaires used as predictors, total questionnaire scores were imputed using maximum likelihood estimates⁵³⁸. No data were imputed for any pain outcome (NRS-R, NRS-M, SF-MPQ, SF-NPQ) missing >20% of items. These patients were excluded from the model for which their score was missing. Cytokine values below the curve fit were imputed with zero. Analyses were conducted with pairwise deletion and with imputed data. No significant differences were found so data are presented with imputed data. The intra-assay coefficient of variation (%CV), a measure of precision between duplicate samples was examined. A %CV<25 was considered acceptable⁵³⁹. There were some samples above this limit: one sample for IFN- γ , one for IL-2, three for IL-6, three for IL-8, one for IL-10, one for IL-17, and three for TNF- α . These were excluded from subsequent analyses using pairwise deletion.

Descriptive Statistics. Means and standard deviations were calculated for normally distributed continuous variables, medians and interquartile range for non-normally distributed continuous variables, and frequencies for categorical variables. Data were examined for skewness and kurtosis. Z-scores for skewness and kurtosis were calculated by dividing by the corresponding standard error. A cut-off of 3.29 was used to determine normality⁵⁴⁰. Scores on the SF-MPQ were not normally distributed (z-score skewness= 6.46, z-score kurtosis = 6.77); therefore, a square root transformation was applied as the data were positively skewed and contained zero values⁵⁴¹. After square root transformation, the z-score of skewness was 1.00 and the z-score of kurtosis was 0.69. Age-related differences in descriptive characteristics were assessed using Pearson's correlations for normally distributed continuous variables, Spearman's correlations for non-normal continuous and ordinal variables, and independent t-tests or one-way analysis of variance tests for categorical variables⁵⁴¹.

The proportion of patients selecting each pain quality on the SF-MPQ Sensory and Affective subscales and the SF-NPQ scale was determined. The average number of words chosen on each was also calculated. The SF-NPQ was also scored to distinguish between neuropathic and

non-neuropathic pain. Independent samples t-tests, Mann Whitney U-tests of medians and Fisher's Exact tests were used to identify group differences.

Bivariate Analyses. Models to identify pre-operative predictors of acute post-surgical NRS-R, NRS-M, SF-MPQ Total, and SF-NPQ were developed. Potential predictors included demographic (age), biological and health status variables (pre-operative plasma cytokine concentrations, BMI, menopausal status); psychological variables (anxiety, depression, pain catastrophizing and pain expectations); surgical variables (surgical procedure, time in hours from surgery to follow-up, surgical indication); pain and treatment history variables (pre-operative pain (NRS-R pre-op), chronic pain or analgesic use in previous 6 months, ongoing pain problem, core biopsy prior to surgery, previous radiation or chemotherapy, previous hormonal therapy). Independent t-tests assessed differences in age and pain outcomes for any categorical variable with small cell size (<15% of total sample). When no significant differences were found (p>.05), these variables were not included as potential predictors. Associations between continuous predictors and outcomes were assessed with Pearson's correlations for normally distributed data and Spearman's correlations for non-normal and ordinal variables⁵⁴¹. Associations between outcomes and categorical predictors were assessed using independent t-tests. Levene's test for Equality of Variances was used to determine if the assumption of homogeneity of variances was met. When Levene's test was significant at p<.05, Welch's t-test was used to compare group differences on outcomes⁵⁴¹.

Model Building. Predictor variables that were correlated with any of the outcomes at a significance level of p<0.1 were considered for inclusion in all of the multiple regressions. In cases where predictor variables were highly correlated (r>0.7), the variable with the least missing data or greater literature to support its importance was included⁵³⁸. Backward multivariate regressions determined significant pre-operative predictors of acute post-surgical pain outcomes. Criteria for removal was p>0.15.

Assumptions of multiple regressions were investigated. Durbin-Watson's test was used to test for independence of residuals for each model. Partial regression plots of each independent variable with each dependent variable were visually analyzed to confirm the presence of a linear relationship. Standardized residuals were assessed for normality using the standard error of skew and kurtosis. Standardized residuals >±3.3 were considered to indicate an outlier⁵³⁸. Leverage values were also examined to identify cases that may be influencing the model. The average leverage ((k+1)/n) times 3 was used as a cut off⁵⁴¹. Cook's values were also analyzed as a second technique to identify influential points. A cut-off of 1 was used⁵⁴². Variance inflation factor (VIF) values were examined to confirm there was no multicollinearity. All data were analyzed using SPSS Version 24.0 for Windows (SPSS. Inc., Chicago, IL).

4 RESULTS

Of the 300 patients included in the larger study, 105 consented to a blood draw. 19 of these patients did not complete any portion of the post-operative follow-up and were therefore excluded from this analysis. A flow diagram of recruited patients is presented in Figure 1. A total of 86 patients had scores on the NRS-R, 83 had scores on the NRS-M, 78 had scores on the SF-MPQ and 73 had scores on the SF-NPQ. Most missing data involved pre-operative questionnaires measuring anxiety, depression, pain catastrophizing and pain expectations. The largest amount of missing data was on the STAI-T with 15% of patients missing the entire scale and two patients missing one or two items.



Figure 1. CONSORT diagram of participants.

4.1 Participant characteristics

61 patients were recruited from Toronto General Hospital and 25 patients were recruited from Princess Margaret Cancer Centre. Demographic information is presented in Table 2. Age ranged from 24-81 years. The sample was predominantly white (84.9%) and spoke English as their primary language (84.9%). 40 (46.6%) patients underwent prophylactic surgery, 27 (31.4%) had non-recurrent breast cancer, 16 (18.6%) had a recurrence to the same breast, 2 (2.3%) had residual disease from a previous surgery, and 1 (1.2%) had a recurrence to the opposite breast. The majority (84.9%) did not have pain prior to surgery, with only 13 people (15.1%) indicating NRS-R pre-op >0.

	Mean ± SD or Frequency (%)		
Age	50.62 ± 10.96		
VI 27.39 ± 4.569			
CCI>0	68 (79.1)		
KPS	93.37 ± 5.972		
Race			
Caucasian	73 (84.9)		
Asian	5 (5.8)		
South American	3 (3.5)		
African	2 (2.3)		
Missing	3 (3.5)		
ASA			
I	7 (8.1)		
II	49 (57)		
III	29 (33.7)		
Missing	1 (1.2)		
Menopause	50 (58.1)		
Chronic pain >6 mos /analgesic use	25 (29.1)		
Ongoing Chronic Pain from past Sx.	15 (17.4)		
Ongoing pain problem	38 (44.2)		
Missing	1 (1.2)		
Education			
High School or Less	13 (15.2)		
Community College	18 (20.9)		
Bachelor's Degree	36 (41.9)		
Graduate Degree	13 (15.2)		
Professional Degree	6 (7)		
Living Arrangement			
Alone	4 (4.7)		
w/ partner	25 (29.1)		
w/ partner, children	46 (53.5)		
w/ children	6 (7)		
w/ other	4 (4.6)		
Missing	1 (1.2)		
Marital Status			
Common Law	14 (16.3)		
Married	57 (66.3)		
Single	4 (4.7)		
Separated/Divorced	9 (10.5)		
Widowed	2 (2.3)		
Have Children	71 (82.6)		

Table 2. Participant Baseline Characteristics

BMI: Body mass index. CCI: Charlson Comorbidity Index. KPS: Karnofsky Performance Status. ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Classification System. Ongoing pain problem for which treatment has been sought.

Previous treatment, disease and surgical details are presented in Table 3. Most patients underwent a mastectomy (84.8%) and 73.3% of the sample underwent reconstruction. One patient had a lumpectomy on one side and a mastectomy on the other side. Duration of surgery ranged from 80 to 1034 mins in duration with a mean of 471.44 ± 268.71. Four patients had intraoperative complications. One patient experienced intraoperative premature ventricular contractions. One experienced venous congestion of a flap. In another patient, at the end of surgery flaps were found cool and a re-exploration was done. The fourth complication involved insufficient flow from venous anastomoses.

The median time between the end of surgery to the post-operative follow-up was 23.79 hours (IQR: 18.56, 41.01). Three patients underwent second surgeries before the post-operative follow-up was completed. Two were for hematoma evacuations and one was for failing free flaps. One patient experienced reduced levels of consciousness and oxygen desaturations postoperatively which resolved with Narcan[®] treatment.

Younger patients were more likely to have undergone bilateral surgery (p=.019), and reconstruction (p=.003) than older patients. Younger patients also had higher pain expectations than older patients (p=.001). Older patients were more likely to have had SLNB (p=.029). There were no age-related differences in KPS, CCI, other psychological (CES-D, STAI-S, STAI-T, PCS), pain or treatment history (pain medicine taken in past two weeks, chronic pain or analgesic use, previous chemotherapy or radiation, previous breast surgery, core biopsy prior to surgery), or surgical variables (mastectomy compared to lumpectomy, prophylactic surgery compared to cancer diagnosis). There was also no age difference in WHO analgesic ladder score at 24 hours.

	Frequency (%)
Prev. Hormonal Therapy	25 (29.1)
Prev. Chemotherapy/Radiation	39 (45.3)
Prev. Breast Surgery	57 (66.3)
Pre-surgery Core biopsy	40 (46.5)
Diagnosis	
DCIS	8 (9.3)
Invasive Ductal Carcinoma	30 (34.9)
Invasive Lobular Carcinoma	4 (4.7)
Other	4 (4.7)
Prophylactic	40 (46.5)
Stage	
0	9 (10.5)
I	21 (24.4)
II	11 (12.8)
III	5 (5.8)
Prophylactic	40 (46.5)
BRCA	
1	10 (11.6)
2	7 (8.1)
Not Tested	49 (57)
Missing	4 (4.7)
ER positive	31 (36)
PR positive	27 (31.4)
HER2 positive	3 (3.5)
Procedure	
Uni. Lumpectomy	12 (14)
Uni. Mastectomy	34 (39.5)
Bilat. Mastectomy	39 (45.3)
Mastectomy+Lumpectomy	1 (1.2)
SLND	43 (50)
ALND	11 (12.8)
Reconstruction	63 (73.3)

Table 3. Treatment History, Disease and Surgical Details

ER: Estrogen receptor. PR: Progesterone receptor. HER2: Her2/neu receptor. Note 40 prophylactic women and those diagnosed with DCIS did not have ER, PR or HER2/neu testing.

Baseline scores on psychological measures are presented in Table 4. 41.9% of the sample had scores 16 or higher on the CES-D, indicating a risk for clinical depression⁵⁴³. On the STAI-S, 44.2% of patients had state anxiety classified as low (20-39)⁴⁵⁵, 45.3% had state anxiety levels classified as moderate (40-59)⁴⁵⁵ and 10.5% of patients had high state anxiety levels (60-80)⁴⁵⁵. On the STAI-T, 61.6% of patients had low anxiety (20-39)⁴⁵⁵, 30.2% had moderate anxiety (40-59)⁴⁵⁵ and 7% had high anxiety (60-80)⁴⁵⁵.

	Mean ± SD
Average Pain Expectation	4.23 ± 1.63
CES-D	16.11 ± 11.75
PCS	14.51 ± 9.35
STAI-S	41.99 ± 12.52
STAI-T	38.09 ± 12.52

 Table 4. Pre-operative Scores on Psychological Measures

CES-D: Centre for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression Scale. PCS: pain catastrophizing scale. STAI-S: State-trait anxiety scale – state subscale. STAI-T: state-trait anxiety scale-trait subscale.

4.2 Cytokine concentrations

There were 5 patients with IL-2 values below the curve fit, 2 cases with IL-6 values below the curve fit and 1 case with IL-17 values below the curve fit. Results using pairwise deletion were the same as with imputation therefore medians and interquartile ranges with imputed data are presented in Table 5. GM-CSF, IL-1 β and IL-4 all had less than 30% of samples in the detection range so these were excluded from all subsequent analyses. Data for these cytokines are not presented.

	Median Concentration (pg/ml) (IQR)
IFN-γ	3.248 (2.229 <i>,</i> 5.350)
IL-2	.123 (.057, .221)
IL-6	.492 (.247,.818)
IL-8	3.317 (2.115, 4.380)
IL-10	.201 (.121, .320)
IL-17A	.516 (.318, .991)
TGF-β	2110.847 (1399.004, 3246.473)
TNF-α	1.353 (.933, 1.855)

Table 5. Pre-operative Cytokine Concentrations

Note: IFN- γ : interferon- γ . IL-2: interleukin-2. IL-6: interleukin-6. IL-8: interleukin-8. IL-10: interleukin-10. IL-17A: interleukin-17A. TGF- β : transforming growth factor- β . TNF- α : tumour necrosis factor- α .

4.3 Pain Outcomes

Mean post-operative NRS-R was 3.07 ± 2.2 with a range of 0-8. 6 patients (7%) had severe resting pain (NRS-R=7-10⁵⁴⁴), 28 (32.6%) had moderate resting pain (NRS-R=4-6⁵⁴⁴), 38 (44.2%) had mild resting pain (NRS-R=1-3⁵⁴⁴) and 14 (16.3%) had no pain (NRS-R=0). Mean post-operative NRS-M was 5.4 ± 3.05 (n=83) with a range of 0-10. 34 patients (41%) had severe movement-related pain (NRS-M=7-10), 26 (31.3%) had moderate movement-related pain (NRS-M=4-6), 15 (18.1%) had mild movement-related pain (NRS-M=1-3) and 8 (9.6%) had no movement-related pain (NRS-M=0).

The median (IQR) score on the SF-MPQ total scale was 6 (3.00, 10.63) and ranged from 0-36. The median (IQR) scores on the SF-MPQ affective and sensory subscales were 0.5 (0, 3.00) and 5 (2.00, 8.25), respectively. The median (IQR) number of words chosen on the SF-MPQ total scale was 3.5 (2, 6); on the sensory subscale, patients chose a median of 3 words (1, 5) and on the affective subscale patients chose a median of 0.5 words (0, 1). The frequency that each item on the SF-MPQ was selected is presented in Figure 2. Words chosen by \geq 33% of patients have

been shown to be characteristic of a specific type of pain^{545,546}. On the sensory subscale the words meeting the criterion of \geq 33% were: tender (75.6%), aching (55.1%), heavy (38.5%) and sharp (34.6%). On the affective subscale only tiring-exhausting (44.95%) was selected by \geq 33% of patients.



Figure 2. Proportion of patients selecting each item on the SF-MPQ

Note: Green= sensory subscale, Blue=affective subscale.

The mean score on the SF-NPQ was 72.2 \pm 59.9 and ranged from 0-210. The SF-NPQ can also be scored to distinguish between neuropathic and non-neuropathic pain. Using this discriminant scoring method, 22 (30.1%) patients had scores suggesting NeP and 51 (69.9%) had scores indicating non-neuropathic pain. Those in the probable neuropathic group were more likely to have had previous chemotherapy or radiation (p=.041). Patients classified as having probable NeP were also more likely to have had a mastectomy (p=0.013) and to have undergone reconstruction (p=.012). The most commonly chosen item was "increased pain due to touch" with 72.6% of patients endorsing this descriptor. Numbness was chosen by 43.8% of patients and tingling by 19.2% (see Figure 3).



Figure 3. Proportion of patients selecting each item on the SF-NPQ

4.4 Bivariate Analysis

There were only 11 patients (12.8%) who underwent ALND. This group of patients was compared to the patients who did not have ALND using independent t-tests on the four outcome variables and age. There were no significant differences so this variable was not considered in the regression models. Only 12 patients (14%) had lumpectomies however; scores on post-operative NRS-R (p=.045), NRS-M (p=.001) and SF-NPQ (p=.027) were significantly different between patients who underwent mastectomy compared to lumpectomy so this variable was considered in the bivariate analysis. Results for the bivariate analyses with NRS-R, NRS-M, SF-MPQ and SF-NPQ are presented in Table 6.

Demographic factors. Younger age was associated with increased NRS-R, NRS-M and SF-MPQ but was not associated with SF-NPQ scores.

Biological and health status factors. Increased IL-10 was significantly associated with reduced SF-NPQ scores (p=.046). Increased IL-8 was non-significantly associated with reduced NRS-R scores. No baseline cytokines were associated with NRS-M or SF-MPQ. BMI, CCI, KPS, and menopausal status were not associated with any of the outcome variables.

Psychological factors had the greatest number of correlations meeting the criterion for inclusion (p=.10), with 17 out of 20 correlations reaching significance (85%). Average pain expectations, PCS and STAI-T were significantly positively associated with all four outcomes. STAI-S was only associated with increased NRS-R and SF-MPQ. CES-D was also significantly associated with all four outcomes however, due to significant multicollinearity with STAI-T (r=.76) and STAI-S (r=.70) it was not included as a potential predictor in the final models. Anxiety has been found to be a better predictor of acute post-operative pain than depression^{431,441}.

Surgical factors. Increased NRS-M had correlations meeting the criteria for inclusion with more surgical variables than the other outcomes (duration, time to follow-up, bilateral surgery, mastectomy, prophylactic surgery and reconstruction). SF-NPQ had the fewest significant correlations with surgical variables and was only associated with mastectomy (p=.002) and reconstruction (p=.023). Reconstruction and mastectomy were the only surgical variables associated with all four outcomes. Bilateral surgery, prophylactic surgery and surgical duration were correlated with increased NRS-R, NRS-M and SF-MPQ, however they were not significantly associated with SF-NPQ. Surgical duration was excluded as a potential predictor due to high correlation with reconstruction (r=.78). Reconstruction is more frequently reported in the literature on acute post-operative pain after breast cancer surgeries^{3,197}. The number of hours

from the end of surgery to the follow-up was only significantly associated with increased NRS-M. SLNB was not associated with any of the outcome variables.

Pain and treatment history variables demonstrated correlations meeting the criteria for inclusion with several pain outcomes however, there were no variables associated with all four outcomes. The SF-MPQ was associated with more pain and treatment history variables in comparison to the other pain outcomes (57%). Core biopsy prior to surgery was associated with reduced NRS-R, NRS-M, and SF-MPQ. Previous hormonal treatment was associated with increased NRS-R, NRS-M, and SF-MPQ. Previous radiation or chemotherapy was associated with increased NRS-R, SF-MPQ, and SF-NPQ. Previous breast surgery was associated with increased SF-MPQ and SF-NPQ. History of chronic pain or analgesic use greater than 6 months, having an ongoing pain problem and NRS-R pre-op were not associated with any of the outcomes.

	NRS-R (N=86) R (p)	NRS-M (N=83) R (p)	Sqrt SF-MPQ (N=78) R (p)	SF-NPQ R (p) (N=73)	
Demographic					
Age	329 (.002)**	366 (.001)***	235 (.038) [*]	138 (.246)	
Biological and Health Status					
BMI	017 (.880)	.003 (.981)	078 (.496)	068 (.566)	
CCI	060 (.582)	079 (.477)	054 (.640)	089 (.455)	
KPS	121 (.266)	.007 (.952)	.124 (.280)	117 (.324)	
Menopause	-1.603 (.113)	245 (.807)	685 (.496)	.118 (.906)	
IL-2	178 (.103)	006 (.956)	077 (.504)	077 (.519)	
IL-6	151 (.173)	037 (.746)	143 (.221)	145 (.233)	
IL-8	223 (.043)*	027 (.811)	159 (.174)	095 (.436)	
IL-10	137 (.210)	.062 (.577)	.018 (.873)	238 (.044)*	
IL-17A	098 (.374)	.053 (.635)	.004 (.974)	.012 (.921)	
IFN-γ	054 (.623)	023 (.841)	.126 (.276)	.150 (.209)	
TGF-β	050 (.515)	.039 (.726)	051 (.659)	033 (.779)	
TNF-α	132 (.234)	.017 (.878)	.042 (.720)	008 (.949)	
Psychological	•			•	
Avg. Expect	.311 (.004)**	.374 (<.001)***	.393 (<.001)***	.359 (.002)**	
CES-D	.250 (.020)*	.299 (.006)**	.408 (<.001)***	.299 (.010)**	
PCS	.330 (.002)**	.253 (.021)*	.329 (.003)**	.283 (.015)*	
STAI-S	.210 (.053)	.177 (.110)	.277 (.014)*	.155 (.192)	
STAI-T	.308 (.004)**	.331 (.002)**	.268 (.018)*	.253 (.031)*	
Surgical	1	1	1	1	
Duration	.230 (.033)*	.374 (<.001)***	.201 (.077)	.167 (.159)	
Time to f/up	05 (.517)	219 (.047) [*]	037 (.749)	011 (.928)	
SLNB	488 (.627)	-1.485 (.141)	941 (.350)	.258 (.797)	
Bilateral Sx.	3.349 (.001)***	3.66 (<.001)****	2.982 (.004)**	1.569 (.121)	
Mastectomy	2.038 (.045)*	3.499 (.001)***	1.893 (.062)	3.402 (.002)**	
Prophylactic Sx.	1.917 (.059)	2.798 (.006)**	2.628 (.010)**	.736 (.464)	
Reconstruction	3.286 (.001)***	3.907 (<.001)***	2.987 (.004)**	2.318 (.023)*	
Pain and Treatment History					
NRS-R pre-op	0.09 (.412)	031 (.779)	038 (.739)	.121 (.308)	
Core biopsy	-2.565 (.012)*	-3.091 (.003)**	-1.943 (.056)	988 (.326)	
Prev Hormonal Tx	1.947 (.055)	1.784 (.078)	1.725 (.089)	.510 (.611)	
Prev Rads or Chemo	1.714 (.090)	1.158 (.250)	1.755 (.083)	1.954 (.055)	
Prev. Breast Sx.	1.410 (.162)	1.543 (.127)	3.084 (.003)**	2.184 (.032)*	
Chronic pain/analg	-1.273 (.206)	515 (.608)	.697 (.488)	.390 (.698)	
Ongoing pain prob	116 (.908)	-1.392 (.168)	.742 (.460)	.093 (.926)	

Table 6. Bivariate Analysis with Pain Outcomes and Potential Predictor Variables

Green=met criteria for inclusion in multivariate models (p<.1). *p<.05, **p \leq .01 ***p \leq .001.

NRS-R: numeric rating scale – rest. NRS-M: numeric rating scale – movement. SF-MPQ: Short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire. SF-NPQ: Short-Form Neuropathic Pain Questionnaire. BMI: body mass index. CCI: Charlson Comorbidity Index. KPS: Karnofsky performance status. IL-2: interleukin-2, IL-6: interleukin-6. IL-8: interleukin-8. IL-10: interleukin-10. IL-17A: interleukin-17A. IFN- γ : interferon- γ . TGF- β : transforming growth factor- β . TNF- α : tumour necrosis factor- α . Avg. Expect: average pain expectation. CES-D: center for epidemiologic studies depression scale. PCS: pain catastrophizing scale. STAI-S: state-trait anxiety inventory – state subscale. STAI-T: state-trait anxiety inventory – trait subscale. SLNB: sentinel lymph node biopsy. NRS-R pre-op: pre-operative numeric rating scale at rest.

4.5 Models

The following variables met the criteria of p<.1 for entry into the backward regression models: age, baseline IL-8 and IL-10, average pain expectations, PCS, STAI-S, STAI-T, previous breast surgery, previous chemotherapy or radiation treatment, previous hormonal therapy, core biopsy prior to surgery, bilateral surgery, mastectomy, reconstruction, prophylactic surgery and hours to follow-up (see Table 6). Details on tests conducted to assess the assumptions of multiple regression for each model can be found in Appendix 3.

NRS-R. The model for NRS-R (see Table 7) explained 29.9% of the variance in scores. This model included three significant variables – one demographic variable, younger age; one psychological variable, increased PCS; and one surgical variable, bilateral surgery. There were two non-significant variables that were retained in the model: increased IL-8 predicted a decrease in NRS-R and previous radiation or chemotherapy predicted increased NRS-R.

NRS-M. The model for NRS-M (see Table 7) explained the greatest amount of variance, 32.3%, and included one significant demographic variable, younger age; one significant psychological variable, increased STAI-T; and two significant surgical variables, bilateral surgery and mastectomy. No pain and treatment history variables were retained in this model.

SF-MPQ. The model for SF-MPQ (see Table 7) explained 30.1% of the variance in the outcome. This model included one significant psychological variable, increased PCS; one significant surgical variable, bilateral surgery; one significant pain and treatment history variable, previous breast surgery; one non-significant demographic variable, younger age and one non-significant biological and health status variable, decreased IL-8.

SF-NPQ. Of the four models developed, the model for SF-NPQ (see Table 7) explained the smallest amount of variance, 17.4%. Only two variables were significant, one biological and health status variable, reduced IL-10 and one psychological variable, increased PCS. One surgical variable, bilateral surgery, and one pain and treatment history variable, previous radiation or chemotherapy, were non-significant but retained in the model.

	NRS-R (N=86) βª (p)	NRS-M (N=83) βª (p)	SF-MPQ (N=78) βª (p)	SF-NPQ (N=73) βª (p)		
DEMOGRAPHIC						
AGE	247(.013)*	214 (.034)*	171 (.100)			
BIOLOGICAL AND HEALTH STATUS						
IL-8	167 (.083)		163 (.112)			
IL-10				277 (.016) [*]		
PSYCHOLOGICAL						
PCS	.319 (.001)***		.333 (.001)**	.237 (.038)*		
STAI-T		.290 (.004)**				
SURGICAL						
BILATERAL SURGERY	.290 (.004)*	.243 (.022)*	.280 (.008)**	.201 (.076)		
MASTECTOMY		.253 (.014)*				
PAIN AND TREATMENT HISTORY						
PREV RADS OR CHEMO	.154 (.107)			.189 (.095)		
PREV BREAST SURGERY			.265 (.010)**			
ADJUSTED R ² (P)	.299 (<.001)***	.323 (<.001)***	.301 (<.001)***	.174 (.003) ^{**}		

Table 7. Multivariate Backwards Regression Models for Pain Outcomes

^{*}p ≤ .05, ^{**}p ≤ .01, ^{***}p ≤ .001. ^{a:} adjusted β coefficient.

NRS-R: numeric rating scale – rest. NRS-M: numeric rating scale – movement. SF-MPQ: Short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire. SF-NPQ: Short-Form Neuropathic Pain Questionnaire. IL-8: Interleukin-8. IL-10: Interleukin-10. PCS: pain catastrophizing scale. STAI-T: State-trait anxiety scale – trait subscale. Rads: radiation. Chemo: chemotherapy.

5 DISCUSSION

As the number of patients undergoing breast surgery increases, a better understanding of those at risk for post-operative pain is essential. The post-operative pain experience, which includes both intensity and pain quality, varies widely with some patients experiencing minimal pain and others experiencing severe pain. The current study identified pre-operative predictors of pain intensity at rest, pain intensity with movement, pain qualities and neuropathic pain in the acute post-operative period. This is the first study, to our knowledge, that simultaneously identified biological, psychological, and medical correlates of multiple acute post-operative pain outcomes. Similarities were observed across models, however, each pain outcome also had unique predictors supporting the necessity of assessing multiple dimensions of the pain experience. Importantly, despite differences, each model included biological, psychological and surgical predictors. Younger age, decreased IL-10, increased pain catastrophizing, increased trait anxiety, bilateral surgery, mastectomy, and previous breast surgery each played a role in at least one of the models. Interestingly, no variable made a significant contribution to all four models.

5.1 Pain Outcomes

This study found a significant burden of acute post-operative pain despite analgesia. Specifically, 40% of patients experienced moderate-to-severe resting pain, and 72% had moderate-to-severe movement-related pain. The burden of post-operative resting pain was comparable to other studies of acute pain after breast cancer surgery^{432,436}, however, the proportion of patients with moderate-to-severe movement-related pain was higher in this study compared to others⁴³⁶. Bruce et al. (2012) assessed patients on the 7th post-operative day and

asked for an average rating over the previous week which may explain the discrepancy between the studies. There is extensive literature examining the difference between pain reports at the time pain is being experienced and reports based on recall and averaging over time. Other studies have found recalled ratings to be inconsistent with ratings made at the time^{547,548}. Recall and averaging may introduce memory, recency and primacy biases into self-report^{547,549,550}. Therefore, the different assessment time frames and tasks may have contributed to the discrepancies in the findings of these studies.

The most frequently selected SF-MPQ pain descriptors, tender, aching and tiringexhausting, were similar to the most commonly selected in other surgical populations^{518,519,551}. A study on inguinal hernia repair found tender and aching were also the most commonly selected, however the other frequently chosen words in that study, stabbing and punishing, were selected by <15% of participants in the current study⁴⁵⁹. This may reflect differences in pain qualities across different types of surgery.

Based on the selection of neuropathic pain qualities, which included numbness, tingling and pain due to touch, 30% of patients were classified as having probable neuropathic pain. A previous study found 10% of patients had acute neuropathic pain after mastectomy and 7% had neuropathic pain after breast conserving surgery⁵⁵². The higher prevalence in the current study may be related to the measure used. In addition, the Jain et al. (2014)⁵⁵² study did not specify whether patients had reconstruction. Despite not being retained in the final model, patients classified as having neuropathic pain were more likely to have had reconstruction than those not undergoing reconstruction. In summary, measures of both pain intensity and quality indicated a high prevalence of acute post-operative pain despite administration of analgesics, supporting the need to better understand and manage pain after breast surgery. Given that acute pain is one of the most consistently reported predictors of chronic pain⁴⁵⁶ and that unrelieved post-operative pain increases the risk of various physiological and psychological adverse events⁴, better management of acute pain will not only improve the post-surgical experience but could also improve long-term outcomes. Understanding who is at risk for higher pain levels is essential to tailor management strategies and to address modifiable factors in the pre-operative period.

5.2 Multidimensional Model of Pain

Specificity theory suggested there was a one-to-one relationship between tissue damage and pain¹³. This theory has not been supported by neurobiological evidence^{50,553} and has largely been replaced by the Gate Control Theory. The Gate Control Theory explains the variable relationship between pain and injury by positing that nociceptive stimuli are modified in the spinal cord by a range of biopsychosocial factors including context, cognition, mood, genetics and neurochemical changes¹³. The interaction between the sensory-discriminative, the motivationalaffective and the cognitive-evaluative dimensions, creates the perception of pain⁵⁵⁴. These different dimensions may not be mediated by the same physiological substrates⁵⁵⁵ and could differentially contribute to different types of pain.

The models developed in the current study supported this biopsychosocial conceptualization. Pain intensity at rest was predicted by younger age, bilateral surgery and increased pain catastrophizing. Single measurements of pain intensity have been used

extensively in clinical practice and provide valuable information about pain⁵⁵⁴. Most postoperative pain research uses a unidimensional pain measurement scale as an outcome and often does not specify whether pain at rest or with movement is being measured⁵¹⁶. Post-operative pain at rest is associated with a variety of negative outcomes including a reduced physical and mental quality of life in the immediate post-operative period⁵⁵⁶ highlighting the importance of this outcome measurement, in combination with other outcomes, in post-operative pain research.

Similar to the biopsychosocial model of pain intensity at rest, movement-evoked pain also supported the biopsychosocial model of pain. Movement-evoked pain was predicted by younger age, bilateral surgery, mastectomy and greater trait anxiety. Movement-evoked pain is a proxy for mechanical hyperalgesia⁸, which is associated with central sensitization⁸⁹, a key process in acute pain and the development of chronic post-surgical pain. Movement-evoked pain provides a measure of physical functioning and has been associated with delayed rehabilitation efforts⁴; therefore, the high proportion of patients experiencing severe movement-evoked pain warrants attention. Various studies have reported that certain pharmacological interventions are effective for resting pain but not movement-evoked pain⁴ and the small proportion of postoperative studies assessing this outcome may contribute to the poor management of dynamic pain⁵¹⁶. A recent systematic review also found acute movement-evoked pain is more frequently associated than resting pain with chronic post-surgical pain⁵⁵⁷. Therefore, inclusion of movement-evoked pain, measured separately from resting pain as a post-surgical outcome was essential.

The model developed to predict pain qualities also substantiated the biopsychosocial model of pain. Pain qualities were predicted by bilateral surgery, previous breast surgery and increased pain catastrophizing. Measures of pain quality, or how the pain feels, are also infrequently included in studies on acute post-operative pain in breast cancer despite being a principal component of the pain experience. Different pain qualities are characteristic of different types of pain⁵⁵⁴ and certain pain treatments are more effective for some qualities than others⁵¹⁴. For instance, morphine may be more effective for relieving "throbbing", "shooting" and "aching" pain qualities while gabapentin may be more effective for "tiring-exhausting" and "sickening" pain qualities⁵⁵⁸. Pain quality has been shown to predict the extent to which pain interferes with activity above the contribution of pain intensity alone⁵²⁰. This may impact ability to engage in rehabilitation efforts and return to normal activities of daily living. These differences support the need for post-operative care and research to consider pain qualities in addition to intensity, as was done in the current study.

Finally, prediction of neuropathic pain also corroborated the multidimensional nature of the biopsychosocial model of pain. Neuropathic pain qualities were predicted by reduced IL-10 and increased pain catastrophizing. Most of the post-operative literature on neuropathic pain has focused on chronic pain and research on acute neuropathic pain is lacking. This is the first study we are aware of that investigated pre-operative predictors for acute neuropathic pain symptoms after breast surgery. Neuropathic pain is defined as pain resulting from an injury or disease of the nervous system¹² and has often been described as burning, tingling and numb⁵⁵². Neuropathic pain has been shown to be more severe and distressing than nociceptive pain⁵²³ and

acute neuropathic pain symptoms have been reported as a risk factor for chronic pain^{461,559}. Consequently, it was critical to also consider neuropathic pain in the acute post-operative period.

Taken together, our findings support the biopsychosocial model and suggest that while pain intensity at rest and with movement, pain qualities and neuropathic pain symptoms are overlapping constructs, their distinct features may be important for both pain theory and management. Each model included one psychological factor, at least one biological and health status variable, and at least one surgical variable, although the surgical and biological and health status variables were not significant in all models. While the models overlapped, movementevoked pain, pain qualities and neuropathic pain were each predicted by unique variables, highlighting the need to consider multiple outcomes simultaneously to gain a complete understanding of the pain experience. In the next section, the contribution of each predictor is considered separately.

5.3 Predictors of Pain Outcomes

Demographic Correlates

<u>Age</u> is a biopsychosocial phenomenon that can impact all aspects of pain⁴⁴⁴. Younger age has been frequently reported as a predictor for post-operative pain after breast cancer surgery and other surgeries^{3,431,434,443}, however others have not found this relationship^{436,441,464,560}. These discrepancies may stem from methodological differences including the assessment method used and consideration of confounding factors such as comorbidities and surgical and analgesic protocols⁴⁴⁴. In addition, the age range in different studies and degree to which the sample is representative of an older population may vary⁴⁴⁴. For example, healthier older people may be more likely to consent to research studies⁴⁴⁴.

In this study, younger age predicted greater resting and movement-evoked pain and made a non-significant contribution to predicting greater pain qualities. It was not predictive of neuropathic pain symptoms. Younger age likely served as a proxy for other demographic or psychosocial risk factors for acute pain⁴³¹ and a variety of biopsychosocial as well as life-stage factors may have been involved⁴⁴⁴. Some have reported greater emotional distress in younger women prior to breast cancer surgery which could impact their post-operative pain⁶. In this study, younger patients were more likely than older patients to have had reconstruction and bilateral surgery which could have contributed to the increased pain in younger patients. In addition, younger patients expected more pain than older patients which may have exacerbated pain perception after surgery. A factor not measured in the current study may also underlie the observed relationship. This factor could be biological, for example hormone-related, psychological, such as the meaning attributed to the cancer, or social, for instance availability of social supports. The impact of variables could also change over the lifetime⁴⁴⁵ and longitudinal studies examining the role of various biopsychosocial factors at different life stages are needed to better understand the relationship between age and post-operative pain.

Biological and Health Status Correlates

The only baseline cytokine that was a significant predictor for any pain outcome was <u>decreased IL-10</u>, which predicted increased neuropathic pain. IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine that down-regulates pro-inflammatory cytokines involved in pain mechanisms^{126,561}. A similar protective effect of IL-10 has been reported in chronic pain populations. In chronic pain

patients with a variety of conditions, plasma IL-10 was inversely correlated with pain intensity²⁵¹ and significantly lower in patients with chronic widespread pain in comparison to age and sex matched healthy controls¹⁵⁰. Consistent with this, IL-10 was inversely correlated with the intensity of chronic neuropathic pain¹⁵⁶. Patients with painless peripheral neuropathies also have higher IL-10 mRNA than patients with painful neuropathies¹⁶⁰. Given these associations, research using animal models has investigated delivery of IL-10 protein, viral vectors or naked plasmid DNA. Delivery of IL-10 has successfully reversed neuropathic pain behaviours in animal models^{126,371,561}. Therefore, the literature supports the role of IL-10 in neuropathic pain. The present study was the first, to our knowledge, to identify a role for pre-injury IL-10 in the development of acute neuropathic pain after surgery in a human model, highlighting the contribution of this cytokine to neuropathic pain mechanisms. The potential role of IL-10 in preventing neuropathic pain should be further explored.

<u>IL-8</u> was retained as a non-significant predictor in the model for resting pain and pain qualities. Surprisingly, increased IL-8 predicted a decrease in pain scores. IL-8 is a proinflammatory cytokine involved in pain processes that is upregulated after surgery⁵⁶². It has been shown to be increased in chronic pain populations¹⁵⁴ and has been correlated with pain intensity in a variety of populations^{158,257}. Given that most of the evidence has suggested IL-8 increases pain (see Table 1), reasons for the non-significant reverse relationship observed here are unclear. It is possible that in this model that examined baseline cytokines in combination with psychosocial factors to predict pain at a later time point, the role of IL-8 is less clear. However, it is imperative to not over-interpret this finding without replication given the lack of statistical significance. This needs to be further investigated prior to drawing conclusions.

Despite the cytokines we tested being implicated in pain mechanisms in the literature (see Table 1), few were retained as predictors in the four models developed. This may be due to the methodological approach taken in the current study. Unlike most studies that have considered both cytokines and pain, we measured cytokine concentrations prior to injury rather than examining the change in concentrations after surgery^{195,250,256,257,427,563–565} or once pain has become chronic^{147,148,150,153–158,162,251,561,566}. It is possible that the timing of the cytokine assay in the trajectory of injury, recovery and chronicity is a key factor in understanding pain mechanisms. However, we were unable to identify any studies that have employed repeated longitudinal assays that consider the relationship between specific cytokines and pain. A strength of the current approach is in predicting risk for post-operative pain, and future studies should continue to explore the predictive role of baseline cytokine concentrations.

Other biological mediators that were thought to potentially contribute to post-operative pain based on a literature review were not found to be significantly associated with any outcomes in the bivariate analysis and therefore were not considered in the multivariate models. BMI has been previously reported by some to be an important predictor for acute^{164,460} and chronic^{3,454,455,462} post-operative pain outcomes. BMI is associated with an increased inflammatory state⁵⁶⁷ which could contribute to baseline sensitization. While patients had a wide range of BMIs, it is possible that patients at the extremes were underrepresented leading to a lack of power to detect the impact of this factor. Patients with very low BMIs or very high BMIs are at increased risk for surgical complications⁵⁶⁸ and are therefore less likely to undergo surgery. Comorbidity score and performance status have also previously been reported to predict post-operative pain in some studies^{68,197}, however, no significant relationship was found in the current
study. Those studies used a self-report measure of comorbidities that included common conditions such as hypertension that are not included in the CCI. This may have contributed to this difference. In addition, there was a relatively small range of performance statuses in the present sample, again related to surgical risk criteria⁵⁶⁹, which may have contributed to the lack of significance of these variables. Menopause has also been associated with increased reports of pain in a community sample⁵⁷⁰ and changes in inflammatory cytokines after menopause⁵⁷¹ could result in alterations in sensitization processes. However, similar to the current study, another study on breast cancer patients also found menopausal status was not an important predictor for post-operative pain⁶⁸.

Psychological Correlates of Acute Pain

In line with the biopsychosocial model, psychological factors are known to be involved in post-operative pain^{441,572}. Models for all pain outcomes developed in this study included one psychological factor as a predictor. In three of the four models, the psychological factor accounted for the largest amount of variance in the pain outcome emphasizing the significance of the psychological dimension in the pain experience.

<u>Pain catastrophizing</u>, a cognitive variable that refers to the tendency to describe a painful experience in more exaggerated terms, to ruminate on the pain and to feel more helpless⁴⁹⁴, was a significant factor in the models for resting pain, pain qualities, and neuropathic pain. Pain catastrophizing has frequently been reported as a predictor for post-operative pain in various surgical populations^{438,441,495,496,573–575} including breast surgery^{434,436,573}. Catastrophizing leads to a variety of fear responses including physiological, behavioural and cognitive responses⁵⁷⁶. The attentional focus on the pain stimuli and exaggerated threat value attributed to pain likely

contributes to pain facilitation and therefore increased pain perception⁴⁹⁴. In addition, pain catastrophizing leads to an aroused, negative emotional state and maladaptive pain responses, all of which can increase pain⁵⁷⁷. Studies have also reported that pain catastrophizing was associated with changes in supraspinal endogenous pain-inhibitory and facilitatory processes⁵⁷⁸. The diminished endogenous inhibition may have contributed to the increased post-operative pain seen in these patients. The role of pain catastrophizing in predicting three of the four pain outcomes explored in this study supports the importance of considering this variable in the pre-operative period.

Anxiety. Trait anxiety, a motivational-affective psychological factor that has frequently been reported as a correlate of post-operative pain^{431,441,464}, predicted the greatest amount of variance in movement-evoked pain after surgery. Trait anxiety is characterized by a general tendency to perceive situations as threatening⁵⁷⁴ and is related to avoidance behavior, particularly with regards to anticipation of pain from certain activities⁵⁷⁶. This is consistent with the relationship between movement-evoked pain and trait anxiety observed in the current study. Individuals with high trait anxiety are generally hypersensitive to stimuli and psychologically more reactive^{441,579}. The hypersensitivity to environmental threats may have contributed to the influence of trait anxiety on movement-related pain.

While there is some debate as to whether pain catastrophizing and anxiety are distinct constructs⁵⁷⁸, they appear to be overlapping but separate components of negative affectivity. Anxiety relates primarily to the motivational-affective dimension of pain while pain catastrophizing is a component of the cognitive-evaluative dimension of pain⁵⁸⁰. A principal component analysis conducted by Mounce et al. (2010) found anxiety loaded on to a factor

designated as "general distress" while pain catastrophizing loaded on to a factor labeled "cognitive intrusion" supporting that these are two different constructs⁵⁸⁰. Avoidance behavior may have a greater impact on functional limitations while rumination and worry appear to be more important for resting pain states⁵⁸¹. This may explain, in part, why in this study, anxiety was a predictor of movement-evoked pain while pain catastrophizing was a predictor of resting pain, pain qualities and neuropathic pain.

In the current study, pain catastrophizing and trait anxiety were correlated, however, below the designated cut-off for multicollinearity, supporting that these are distinct aspects of negative affectivity. A study on breast cancer surgery found catastrophizing was associated with resting pain but not movement-evoked pain and the magnitude of the association between anxiety and movement-evoked pain was greater than that between anxiety and resting pain⁴³⁶. Catastrophizing has been found to be a mediator for anxiety in the prediction of post-operative pain after hysterectomy⁵⁷⁵. That study examined worst pain scores and did not specify whether resting pain or movement-related pain was measured, complicating comparison to the current study.

The retention of a psychological factor in each model supports the Gate Control Theory, which proposes tissue damage stimuli are modulated by a variety of inhibitory and facilitatory signals in the spinal cord¹³. Sensory-discriminative, motivational-affective and cognitive-evaluative dimensions are all involved in this modulation that contributes to the perception of pain⁵⁵⁵. The role of pain catastrophizing and anxiety in prediction of pain intensity is well-established and this study extended the role of these variables to other pain outcomes including pain qualities and neuropathic pain. Additionally, and perhaps most importantly, these findings

suggest that psychological factors continue to play an important role in the prediction of pain even after controlling for surgical and biological factors.

Surgical Correlates of Acute Pain

Surgical variables are commonly reported as risk factors for post-operative pain. Not surprisingly, <u>bilateral surgery</u> was a predictor in three of the four models: resting pain, movement-evoked pain and pain qualities. An association between bilateral breast surgery and increased pain was also found by Schreiber et al. (2016)⁴³⁰. The larger surgical field may have led to a greater inflammatory reaction in patients undergoing bilateral than unilateral surgery which could have contributed to the increased pain responses in these patients. Many studies have excluded patients undergoing bilateral breast surgery^{197,435,436,461,544,573,582}, however, given that 45% of patients in this study underwent bilateral surgery, this group represents a significant portion of the breast surgery population. Therefore, it is essential to include these patients in research to enhance the external validity, representativeness and applicability of the research to clinical reality.

<u>Mastectomy</u>, a surgical predictor in the model for movement-evoked pain, has been reported to be correlated with acute post-operative pain by some^{3,434} but not all⁴³⁶. Given that the predictive model for movement-evoked pain contained two surgical factors, surgical invasiveness may be particularly important for dynamic pain. More invasive surgery could elicit a greater inflammatory response, thereby leading to more significant sensitization and increased movement-evoked pain. As previously mentioned, movement-evoked pain is associated with mechanical hypersensitivity⁸ which is related to central sensitization⁸⁹.

No surgical variable accounted for a significant portion of the variance in neuropathic pain, although bilateral surgery made a non-significant contribution to the model. Axillary surgery has been associated with acute sensory disturbances, a feature of neuropathic pain⁴³⁶. Some studies have also found ALND to contribute to the prediction of other post-operative pain outcomes^{434,435}; however, Vilholm et al. (2008) did not find this⁵⁸³. Few women had ALND in this study so the predictive effect of this procedure could not be examined. Addressing the role of ALND in acute neuropathic pain is particularly important due to the increased risk of damage to the ICBN.

Treatment and Pain History Correlates of Acute Pain

<u>Previous breast surgery</u>, which predicted increased scores on the SF-MPQ, as a measure of pain qualities, was the only treatment and pain history variable that made a significant contribution to any of the models. This relationship has been previously reported in a general surgical population⁴⁶⁰. According to the Gate Control Theory, nociceptive inputs are modulated in the spinal cord by a variety of factors including past experiences⁵⁵⁵. Experience with previous surgery may have resulted in response shifts leading to changes in an individual's internal standard of measurement or a change in values⁵⁰⁵. Previous breast surgery could also have led to neurobiological changes in the tissue that impacted the qualities of pain experienced after subsequent surgery⁵⁰⁶. Taken together, these changes may have led to facilitation in the central nervous system, resulting in increased pain.

<u>Previous radiation or chemotherapy</u> made a non-significant contribution to predicting resting pain and neuropathic pain. The neurological changes resulting from radiation or chemotherapy, particularly taxane-based chemotherapy^{6,584}, could have predisposed patients to

neuropathic pain. Since most patients receive chemotherapy or radiation therapy after surgery, the majority of the acute post-operative literature on breast surgery does not examine the impact of previous chemotherapy or radiation. One study on acute post-operative pain that did consider history of chemotherapy or radiation, contrary to the current study, did not find an association with acute post-operative pain scores³. Neither the current study nor the Fecho et al. (2009) study obtained information on the dosage or location of radiation, the type of chemotherapy received or the time-period between radiation or chemotherapy delivery and surgery. The reasons for the different findings in these two studies are difficult to resolve without these details. In addition, the lack of statistical significance observed in the current study warrants caution when interpreting this finding and future research should consider these details to clarify the role of previous radiation or chemotherapy in acute post-operative pain.

<u>Pre-operative pain.</u> Contrary to some other reports^{440,443}, pre-operative pain was not a predictor of post-operative pain. Many studies reporting a relationship between pre-operative pain and post-operative pain have been conducted in populations where pre-operative pain is more common, such as in joint replacement surgery^{437,442}. In addition, studies on post-operative pain that have found a positive association between pre-operative pain and acute post-operative pain, have reported a higher incidence of pre-operative pain^{437,465,466,585}, while studies finding no association have often described a population with a low burden of pre-operative pain^{431,432}. For example, only 17.5% of participants in a study on breast cancer surgery had pre-operative pain and no association with post-operative pain was found⁴³²; however, in another study, 42% of patients had pre-operative pain and a significant relationship with post-operative pain was found⁴³⁶. In the current sample the burden of pre-operative pain was low with only 13 patients

(15.1%) reporting any pre-operative pain (NRS-R>0). The lack of association between preoperative and post-operative pain in the current study is consistent with other studies that had a small burden of pre-operative pain^{431,432}. The small burden of pre-operative pain in the current study may have presented a unique opportunity to observe the impact of other factors that are obscured in populations with a significant burden of pain prior to surgery.

In summary, each of the four models developed in this study included a range of biopsychosocial factors with similarities between the models but also differences. Younger age was a significant predictor for resting and movement-evoked pain intensity; IL-10 was a significant predictor for neuropathic pain qualities; pain catastrophizing predicted increased resting and movement-evoked pain intensity and neuropathic pain; trait anxiety predicted movement-evoked pain; bilateral surgery predicted resting and movement-evoked pain intensity as well as pain qualities; undergoing mastectomy instead of lumpectomy predicted increased movement-related pain; and previous breast surgery predicted increased pain qualities. The models developed supported the biopsychosocial model of pain and the necessity of considering factors outside of surgical procedure in understanding post-operative pain. In addition, the development of overlapping but unique models attested to the need to measure multiple pain outcomes in both post-operative research and clinical practice to improve understanding and management of post-operative pain.

5.4 Limitations

There were several limitations of this study that need to be acknowledged. Firstly, most patients were Caucasian so it is unclear whether these results would apply to other ethnic groups. Given that this study was conducted at a single institution, findings should be confirmed in multiinstitution studies with more diverse patient populations.

In addition, the sample size in the current study was limited, likely related to general challenges with research in the acute setting such as logistics before surgery, patient burden associated with prospective studies, or patient fatigue after surgery. Regardless, the current study had a sample size larger than 65% of studies cited in Table 1, supporting the acceptability. The number of variables included in the models was limited to ensure adequate power for the sample size. Furthermore, despite inclusion of a wide range of potential predictors in the bivariate analysis, the model predicting neuropathic pain symptoms explained a relatively small amount of variance, only 17.6%. Other variables not considered in this study may be related to neuropathic pain and this warrants further study.

We did not correct for intra-operative or post-operative analgesia in this study. Standardized regimens were used at the discretion of the anesthesiologist. While patients were offered similar levels of "as needed" medications, challenges with both provision of analgesia by nursing⁵⁸⁶ and patient education on analgesia⁵⁸⁷ have been reported to contribute to poor postoperative pain control. Other studies on acute post-operative breast pain have also not corrected for analgesia^{431,436} and this study design appropriately reflects patients' experiences in this setting. However, given the potential for bias, correction for analgesic use should be considered in the future.

Finally, causation could not be definitively determined from these results, however, this study was prospective and longitudinal, providing support for the predictive ability of the considered variables.

5.5 Implications and Future Directions

Each model developed in this study contained a range of variables including demographic or biological, psychological and surgical variables emphasizing the biopsychosocial nature of pain and the importance of considering factors outside of surgical procedure in identifying patients at risk for severe post-operative pain. Consideration of the biopsychosocial factors identified in these models pre-operatively may assist with the identification of patients at high risk for postoperative pain. Awareness of those patients at greatest risk should prompt careful monitoring in the post-operative period and the provision of additional resources to ensure these patients are adequately supported.

In addition, this study demonstrated that while different pain outcomes are overlapping constructs, they have critical differences. Most studies do not measure resting pain and movement-evoked pain intensity separately⁵¹⁶ and few post-operative studies assess pain qualities. While all four pain outcomes were significantly correlated, the identification of overlapping but distinct predictors for each pain outcome suggests different mechanisms may be involved in various components of the pain experience, consistent with the multidimensional model of pain⁵⁵⁵. It is essential that future post-operative pain assessment and research consider these different outcome measures to better understand, prevent and manage post-operative pain. Inclusion of only one unidimensional measure may not be adequate. In addition, whether

these factors also play a role in the transition to chronic post-operative pain should be investigated in a longitudinal study. This analysis is currently underway for the sample examined in the current study.

Another important finding was the protective effect of baseline IL-10 on post-operative neuropathic pain. This has implications for understanding pain mechanisms and should provide the basis for future research investigating how this cytokine may be used as a biomarker or in pain prevention. As previously mentioned, there is some evidence in animal models that IL-10 administration can prevent and reverse neuropathic pain^{126,371,561,588,589} and this should be explored. In addition, investigating the effect of local cytokine concentrations in the surgical field may provide more information on the autocrine and paracrine effects of inflammatory cytokines. Pain mechanisms involve both peripheral and central neuroplastic changes and one of the early steps in pain generation is the release of inflammatory cytokines from peripheral immune cells¹¹³. Since most cytokines operate at low concentrations, widespread concentration changes in the systemic circulation may be hard to identify. In addition, the site of investigation is important as a localized pain state may not always lead to systemic cytokine alterations⁴²⁸. Exploring the local environment could identify concentration changes at the surgical site that may not be detectable in the systemic circulation which could ultimately contribute to our understanding of pain mechanisms. The generation of IL-10 in the local tissue environment is particularly intriguing given that studies have shown increases in IL-10 in breast tumour tissue while systemic changes in IL-10 are less frequently reported⁵⁹⁰. Understanding how this local increase associated with breast tumour cells influences post-operative pain should be investigated, particularly

considering the protective effect against neuropathic pain observed in this study. This type of analysis could be conducted on biopsy tissue samples.

Similarly, psychological factors have been shown to be modifiable and the inclusion of a psychological variable in each model has both clinical and theoretical relevance. The preoperative period may be a better time to address modifiable factors associated with postoperative recovery⁵⁹¹. Therefore, identifying patients with high levels of anxiety or pain catastrophizing and addressing these factors in the pre-operative period could be an effective way to improve post-operative pain experiences.

A variety of psychosocial interventions have been shown to reduce anxiety, distress and/or pain catastrophizing and pain or physical function in various chronic pain^{592–596} and cancer populations^{597,598}. Importantly, some of these interventions have shown sustained decreases in anxiety, pain catastrophizing and pain⁵⁹² suggesting teaching these skills could have long-term positive effects for patients. Other studies have only reported changes in psychological variables without reporting on pain intensity^{599,600}, however, this adds to the evidence supporting the modifiability of these factors.

One challenge with this type of intervention in the pre-operative period is the extended duration of the therapy, with many spanning between 4-10 weeks, making use in the pre-operative period, when the time frame between identifying a need for surgery and surgery is relatively short, difficult. However, some have found a single session successfully reduced pain catastrophizing in chronic pain patients and this reduction was maintained four weeks after the intervention⁶⁰¹. They did not investigate the impact on pain however, the short duration of the intervention suggests this would be feasible in the pre-operative period. A review on pre-

operative psychosocial interventions also reported the effectiveness of both pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions for reducing pre-operative anxiety⁶⁰².

A variety of studies have shown a decrease in anxiety after pre-operative psychological or educational interventions^{603–605}. Lin et al. (2005) also reported a simultaneous decrease in pain and pain interference accompanying the decrease in anxiety supporting the value of further investigating pre-operative interventions to address psychological risk factors prior to surgery⁶⁰³. Similar results have been reported for interventions aiming to reduce pain catastrophizing in surgical patients⁶⁰⁶ and chronic pain patients⁶⁰⁷.

In terms of pharmacological interventions, Clarke et al. (2013) reported treatment with Gabapentin reduced both pre-operative anxiety and pain catastrophizing⁶⁰⁸. Other studies have also reported decreases in pre-operative anxiety using a variety of pharmacological agents^{602,609}.

The importance of anxiety and pain catastrophizing in predicting post-operative pain observed in the current study, in combination with the promising results from investigations on pre-operative psychosocial interventions, support the need to further explore psychosocial treatments to reduce pre-operative anxiety and pain catastrophizing as a preventative measure to reduce post-operative pain.

6 CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, the findings of this study strongly support the biopsychosocial model of pain and the need to consider biological, psychological and social factors when predicting and managing pain. Each pain outcome, pain intensity at rest, pain intensity with movement, pain qualities and neuropathic pain, was predicted by a range of biological or demographic factors, psychological factors and surgical factors. Critically, while the models had similarities they also had differences, emphasizing the importance of considering multiple pain outcomes to effectively prevent and treat post-operative pain. The modifiable nature of some of the variables in each model, in particular baseline IL-10, anxiety and pain catastrophizing, suggests these could represent promising targets for interventions to prevent or reduce post-operative pain after breast cancer surgery. The findings of this study provide a basis for future research to confirm the role of these risk factors and investigate interventions targeting the modifiable variables identified in this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2016. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society; 2016. 1-132 p.
- Marfizo S, Thornton AJ, Scott NW, Thompson AM, Hays SD, Bruce J. Intensity and Features of Acute Postoperative Pain after Mastectomy and Breast-Conserving Surgery. Breast Cancer Res. 2010;12(Suppl 1):P56.
- 3. Fecho K, Miller NR, Merritt SA, Klauber-Demore N, Hultman CS, Blau WS. Acute and persistent postoperative pain after breast surgery. Pain Med. 2009;10(4):708–15.
- 4. Joshi GP, Ogunnaike BO. Consequences of inadequate postoperative pain relief and chronic persistent postoperative pain. Anesthesiol Clin North America. 2005;23:21–36.
- 5. Canadian Cancer Society. Surgery for breast cancer [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2018 Aug 9]. Available from: http://www.cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/cancertype/breast/treatment/surgery/?region=on
- 6. Jung BF, Ahrendt GM, Oaklander AL, Dworkin RH. Neuropathic pain following breast cancer surgery: proposed classification and research update. Pain. 2003;104:1–13.
- 7. Kalkman CJ, Visser K, Moen J, Bonsel GJ, Grobbee DE, Moons KGM. Preoperative prediction of severe postoperative pain. Pain. 2003;105(3):415–23.
- 8. Brune K, Handwerker HO, editors. Hyperalgesia: Molecular Mechanisms and Clinical Implications. Progress in Pain Research and Management. IASP Press; 2004.
- 9. Cohen SP, Mao J. Neuropathic pain: mechanisms and their clinical implications. BMJ. 2014;348:f7656.
- 10. Yogasakaran S, Menezes F. Acute neuropathic pain after surgery: Are we treating them early/late? Acute Pain. 2005;7(3):145–9.
- 11. Smith EML, Bridges CM, Kanzawa G, Knoerl R, Kelly IV JP, Berezovsky A, et al. Cancer treatment-related neuropathic pain syndromes—epidemiology and treatment: An update. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2014;18(11):459.
- Merskey H, Bogduk N, editors. Part III: Pain Terms, A Current List with Definitions and Notes on Usage. In: Classification of Chronic Pain. 2nd ed. Seattle: IASP Press; 1994. p. 209–14.
- 13. Melzack R, Wall PD. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science . 1965;150(1):971–979.
- 14. Todd AJ. Neuronal circuitry for pain processing in the dorsal horn. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2010;11(12):823–36.
- 15. Kirkpatrick DR, McEntire DM, Hambsch ZJ, Kerfeld MJ, Smith TA, Reisbig MD, et al. Therapeutic Basis of Clinical Pain Modulation. Clin Transl Sci. 2015;8(6):848–56.
- 16. Gatchel RJ, Howard KJ, Kishino ND. The Biopsychosocial Approach. Pract Pain Manag. 2015; 8(4).
- 17. Dickenson AH. Gate Control Theory of Pain stands the test of time. Br J Anaesth. 2002;88(6):755–7.
- Katz J, Rosenbloom BN. The golden anniversary of Melzack and Wall's gate control theory of pain: Celebrating 50 years of pain research and management. Pain Res Manag. 2015;20(6):285–7.
- 19. Melzack R. Pain-an overview. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1999;43(9):880–4.

- 20. Woller SA, Eddinger KA, Corr M, Yaksh TL. An overview of pathways encoding nociception. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2017;35(Suppl 107):S40–6.
- 21. Cook AD, Christensen AD, Tewari D, McMahon SB, Hamilton JA. Immune Cytokines and Their Receptors in Inflammatory Pain. Trends Immunol. 2018;39(3):240–55.
- 22. Crossman A, Neary D. Neuroanatomy: an illustrated colour text. 5th ed. Churchill Livingstone; 2014.
- 23. Melzack R, Wall P. The Challenge of Pain. 2nd ed. England: The Penguin Group; 2008.
- Braz J, Solorzano C, Wang X, Basbaum AI. Transmitting Pain and Itch Messages: A Contemporary View of the Spinal Cord Circuits that Generate Gate Control. Neuron. 2014;82(3):522–36.
- 25. Koch SC, Acton D, Goulding M. Spinal Circuits for Touch, Pain ,and Itch. Annu Rev Physiol. 2018;80(1):189–217.
- 26. Seifert F, Maihofner C. Central mechanisms of experimental and chronic neuropathic pain: Findings from functional imaging studies. Cell Miol Life Sci. 2009;66:375–90.
- 27. Treede R, Kenshalo DR, Gracely RH, Jones AKP. The cortical representation of pain. Pain. 1999;79:105–11.
- 28. Bee L, Dickenson A. Descending Modulation of Pain. In: Malcangio M, editor. Synaptic Plasticity in Pain. New York: Springer Science+Business Media; 2009. p. 307–36.
- 29. Labrakakis C, Lorenzo L, Bories C, Ribeiro-da-silva A, De Koninck Y. Inhibitory coupling between inhibitory interneurons in the spinal cord dorsal horn. Mol Pain. 2009;5(24).
- Kato G, Yasaka T, Katafuchi T, Furue H, Mizuno M, Iwamoto Y, et al. Direct GABAergic and Glycinergic Inhibition of the Substantia Gelatinosa from the Rostral Ventromedial Medulla Revealed by In Vivo Patch-Clamp Analysis in Rats. J Neurosci. 2006;26(6):1787– 94.
- 31. Light AR, Perl ER. Reexamination of the dorsal root projection to the spinal dorsal horn including observations on the differential termination of coarse and fine fibers. J Comp Neurol. 1979;186(2):117.
- 32. Duan B, Cheng L, Bourane S, Britz O, Padilla C, Garcia-campmany L, et al. Identification of Spinal Circuits Transmitting and Gating Mechanical Pain. Cell. 2014;159(6):1417–32.
- Bardoni R, Takazawa T, Tong C, Choudhury P, Scherrer G, Macdermott AB. Pre- and postsynaptic inhibitory control in the spinal cord dorsal horn. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2013;1279(1):90–6.
- 34. Benarroch EE. Dorsal horn circuitry: Complexity and implications for mechanisms of neuropathic pain. Neurology. 2016;86(11):1060–9.
- 35. Lu Y, Perl ER. Modular Organization of Excitatory Circuits between Neurons of the Spinal Superficial Dorsal Horn (Laminae I and II). J Neurosci. 2005;25(15):3900–7.
- 36. Melzack R. Pain and the neuromatrix in the brain. J Dent Educ. 2001;65(12):1378–82.
- 37. Bannister K, Dickenson AH. The plasticity of descending controls in pain: translational probing. J Physiol. 2017;595(13):4159–66.
- 38. Millan MJ. Descending control of pain. Prog Neurobiol. 2002;66:355–474.
- 39. Tracey I, Mantyh PW. The Cerebral Signature for Pain Perception and Its Modulation. Neuron. 2007;55(3):377–91.
- 40. Bingel U, Tracey I. Imaging CNS Modulation of Pain in Humans. Physiology. 2008;23(3):371–80.

- Zhang L, Zhang Y, Zhao Z. Anterior cingulate cortex contributes to the descending facilitatory modulation of pain via dorsal reticular nucleus. Eur J Neurosci. 2005;22:1141–8.
- 42. McGaraughty S, Heinricher MM. Microinjection of morphine into various amygdaloid nuclei differentially affects nociceptive responsiveness and RVM neuronal activity. Pain. 2002;96:153–62.
- 43. Helmstetter FJ, Tershner SA. Lesions of the Periaqueductal Gray and Rostral Ventromedial Medulla Disrupt Antinociceptive but not Cardiovascular Aversive Conditional Responses. J Neurosci. 1994;14(11):7099–108.
- 44. Simpson DAA, Headley PM, Lumb BM. Selective inhibition from the anterior hypothalamus of C- versus A-fibre mediated spinal nociception. Pain. 2008;136:305–12.
- 45. Leith JL, Wilson AW, You H, Lumb BM, Donaldson LF. Periaqueductal grey cyclooxygenase-dependent facilitation of C-nociceptive drive and encoding in dorsal horn neurons in the rat. J Physiol. 2014;592(22):5093–107.
- 46. Heinricher MM, Tavares I, Leith JL, Lumb BM. Descending control of nociception: specificity, recruitment and plasticity. Brain Res Rev. 2009;60(1):214–25.
- 47. Chen T, Taniguchi W, Chen Q, Tozaki-saitoh H, Song Q, Liu R, et al. Top-down descending facilitation of spinal sensory excitatory transmission from the anterior cingulate cortex. Nat Commun. 2018;9:1886.
- 48. Fields H. L, Heinricher MM. Anatomy and physiology of a nociceptive modulatory system. Phil Trans R Soc Lond B. 1985;308:361–74.
- 49. Neubert MJ, Kincaid W, Heinricher MM. Nociceptive facilitating neurons in the rostral ventromedial medulla. Pain. 2004;110:158–65.
- 50. Melzack R, Katz J. Pain. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Cogn Sci. 2013;4(1):1–15.
- 51. Hofbauer RK, Rainville P, Duncan GH, Bushnell MC. Cortical Representation of the Sensory Dimension of Pain. J Neurophysiol. 2001;86:402–11.
- 52. Keltner JR, Furst A, Fan C, Redfern R, Inglis B, Fields HL. Isolating the Modulatory Effect of Expectation on Pain Transmission: A Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. J Neurosci. 2006;26(16):4437–43.
- 53. Xu X, Fukuyama H, Yazawa S, Mima T, Magata Y, Kanda M, et al. Functional localization of pain perception in the human brain studied by PET. Neuroreport. 1997;8(2):555–9.
- 54. Lamm C, Decety J, Singer T. Meta-analytic evidence for common and distinct neural networks associated with directly experienced pain and empathy for pain. Neuroimage. 2011;54(3):2492–502.
- 55. Bushnell MC, Duncan GH, Hofbauer RK, Ha B, Chen J-I, Carrier B. Pain perception: Is there a role for primary somatosensory cortex? Proc Natl Acad Sci Usa. 1999;96:7705–9.
- 56. Fairhurst M, Wiech K, Dunckley P, Tracey I. Anticipatory brainstem activity predicts neural processing of pain in humans. Pain. 2007;128:101–10.
- Bär K, Wagner G, Koschke M, Boettger S, Boettger MK, Schlösser R, et al. Increased Prefrontal Activation During Pain Perception in Major Depression. Biol Psychiatry. 2007;62:1281–7.
- 58. Coghill RC, Sang CN, Maisog JMA, Iadarola MJ. Pain Intensity Processing Within the Human Brain: A Bilateral, Distributed Mechanism. J Neurophysiol. 1999;82:1934–43.

- 59. Rainville P, Duncan GH, Price DD, Carrier B, Bushnell MC. Pain Affect Encoded in Human Anterior Cingulate but not Somatosensory Cortex. Science. 1997;277(5328):968–71.
- 60. Bantick SJ, Wise RG, Ploghaus A, Clare S, Smith SM, Tracey I. Imaging how attention modulates pain in humans using functional MRI. Brain. 2002;125:310–9.
- 61. Sawamoto N, Honda M, Okada T, Hanakawa T, Kanda M, Fukuyama H, et al. Expectation of Pain Enhances Responses to Nonpainful Somatosensory Stimulation in the Anterior Cingulate Cortex and Parietal Operculum/Posterior Insula: an Event-Related Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. J Neurosci. 2000;20(19):7438–45.
- 62. Tracey I. Imaging pain. Br J Anaesth. 2008;101(1):32–9.
- 63. Duerden EG, Albanese M. Localization of Pain-Related Brain Activation: A Meta-Analysis of Neuroimaging Data. Hum Brain Mapp. 2013;34:109–49.
- 64. Apkarian AV, Bushnell MC, Treede R, Zubieta J. Human brain mechanisms of pain perception and regulation in health and disease. Eur J Pain. 2005;9:463–84.
- 65. Scott DJ, Heitzeg MM, Koeppe RA, Stohler CS, Zubieta J. Variations in the Human Pain Stress Experience Mediated by Ventral and Dorsal Basal Ganglia Dopamine Activity. J Neurosci. 2006;26(42):10789–95.
- Ploghaus A, Narain C, Beckmann CF, Clare S, Bantick S, Wise R, et al. Exacerbation of Pain by Anxiety Is Associated with Activity in a Hippocampal Network. J Neurosci. 2001;21(24):9896–903.
- 67. Roy M, Piché M, Chen J, Peretz I, Rainville P. Cerebral and spinal modulation of pain by emotions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(49):20900–5.
- 68. Miaskowski C, Cooper B, Paul SM, West C, Langford D, Levine JD, et al. Identification of Patient Subgroups and Risk Factors for Persistent Breast Pain Following Breast Cancer Surgery. J Pain. 2012;13(12):1172–87. A
- 69. Davis KD, Moayedi M. Central Mechanisms of Pain Revealed Through Functional and Structural MRI. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 2013;8:518–34.
- 70. Ren K, Dubner R. Interactions between the immune and nervous system in pain. Nat Med. 2010;16(11):1267–76.
- 71. Cohen SP, Mao J. Neuropathic pain: mechanisms and their clinical implications. BMJ. 2014;348:f7656.
- 72. Takeuchi O, Akira S. Pattern Recognition Receptors and Inflammation. Cell. 2010;140(6):805–20.
- 73. Cook SP, McCleskey EW. Cell damage excites nociceptors through release of cytosolic ATP. Pain. 2002;95:41–7.
- 74. Woolf CJ, Salter M. Neuronal Plasticity: Increasing the Gain in Pain. Science. 2000;288:1765–8.
- 75. Marchi LF, Sesti-Costa R, Ignacchiti MDC, Chedraoui-Silva S, Mantovani B. In vitro activation of mouse neutrophils by recombinant human interferon-gamma: Increased phagocytosis and release of reactive oxygen species and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Int Immunopharmacol. 2014;18(2):228–35.
- 76. Taub DD, Anver M, Oppenheim JJ, Longo DL, Murphy WJ. T Lymphocyte Recruitment by Interleukin-8 (IL-8). J Clin Invest. 1996;97(8):1931–41.

- 77. Huang Y, Zang Y, Zhou L, Gui W, Liu X, Zhong Y. The role of TNF-alpha / NF-kappa B pathway on the up-regulation of voltage-gated sodium channel Nav1.7 in DRG neurons of rats with diabetic neuropathy. Neurochem Int. 2014;75:112–9.
- He X, Zang Y, Chen X, Pang R, Xu J, Zhou X, et al. TNF-alpha contributes to upregulation of Nav1.3 and Nav1.8 in DRG neurons following motor fiber injury. Pain. 2010;151(2):266– 79.
- 79. Fang D, Kong L-Y, Cai J, Li S, Liu X-D, Han J-S, et al. Interleukin-6-mediated functional upregulation of TRPV1 receptors in dorsal root ganglion neurons through the activation of JAK/PI3K signaling pathway: roles in the development of bone cancer pain in a rat model. Pain. 2015;156(6):1124–44.
- 80. Petrenko AB, Yamakura T, Baba H, Shimoji K. The Role of N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptors in Pain: A Review. Anesth Analg. 2003;97:1108–16.
- 81. Meng X, Zhang Y, Lao L, Saito R, Li A, Bäckman CM, et al. Spinal interleukin-17 promotes thermal hyperalgesia and NMDA NR1 phosphorylation in an inflammatory pain rat model. Pain. 2013;154(2):294–305.
- 82. Junger H, Sorkin LS. Nociceptive and inflammatory effects of subcutaneous TNF-alpha. Pain. 2000;85:145–51.
- 83. Xu X, Hao J, Andell-jonsson S, Poli V, Bartfai T, Wiesenfeld-hallin Z. Nociceptive responses in interleukin-6 deficient mice to peripheral inflammation and peripheral nerve section. Cytokine. 1997;9(12):1028–33.
- 84. Suzuki M, Hashizume M, Yoshida H, Mihara M. Anti-inflammatory mechanism of tocilizumab, a humanized anti-IL-6R antibody: effect on the expression of chemokine and adhesion molecule. Rheumatol Int. 2010;30:309–15.
- 85. Chen Q, Fisher DT, Clancy KA, Gauguet JM, Wang W, Unger E, et al. Fever-range thermal stress promotes lymphocyte trafficking across high endothelial venules via an interleukin 6 trans -signaling mechanism. Nat Immunol. 2006;7(12):1299–309.
- 86. Huber AR, Kunkel SL, Todd RF, Weiss SJ. Regulation of Transendothelial Neutrophil Migration by Endogenous Interleukin-8. Science. 1991;254(5028):99–102.
- 87. Ueda H. Molecular mechanisms of neuropathic pain phenotypic switch and initiation mechanisms. Pharmacol Ther. 2006;109:57–77.
- Luo ZD, Chaplan SR, Higuera ES, Sorkin LS, Stauderman KA, Williams ME, et al. Upregulation of Dorsal Root Ganglion alpha2delta Calcium Channel Subunit and Its Correlation with Allodynia in Spinal Nerve-Injured Rats. J Neurosci. 2001;21(6):1868–75.
- 89. Latremoliere A, Woolf CJ. Central Sensitization: A Generator of Pain Hypersensitivity by Central Neural Plasticity. J Pain. 2009;10(9):895–926.
- 90. Peirs C, Seal RP. Neural circuits for pain: Recent advances and current views. Pain Res. 2016;354(6312):578–84.
- 91. Inglis JJ, Nissim A, Lees DM, Hunt SP, Chernajovsky Y, Kidd BL. The differential contribution of tumour necrosis factor to thermal and mechanical hyperalgesia during chronic inflammation. Arthritis Res Ther. 2005;7(4):807–16.
- 92. Kim CF, Moalem-taylor G. Detailed characterization of neuro-immune responses following neuropathic injury in mice. Brain Res. 2011;1405:95–108.

- Dominguez E, Mauborgne A, Mallet J, Desclaux M, Pohl M. SOCS3-Mediated Blockade of JAK / STAT3 Signaling Pathway Reveals Its Major Contribution to Spinal Cord Neuroinflammation and Mechanical Allodynia after Peripheral Nerve Injury. J Neurosci. 2010;30(16):5754–66.
- 94. Shipton E. Post-surgical neuropathic pain. ANZ J Surg. 2008;78:548–55.
- 95. Curatolo M, Arendt-nielsen L, Petersen-felix S. Central Hypersensitivity in Chronic Pain: Mechanisms and Clinical Implications. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2006;17:287–302.
- 96. Woolf CJ. Evidence for a central component of post-injury pain hypersensitivity. Nature. 1983;306:686–8.
- Pezet S, Marchand F, D'Mello R, Grist J, Clark AK, Malcangio M, et al. Phosphatidylinositol
 3-Kinase Is a Key Mediator of Central Sensitization in Painful Inflammatory Conditions. J
 Neurosci. 2008;28(16):4261–70.
- 98. Schaible H-G. Peripheral and central mechanisms of pain generation. HEP. 2006;177:3–28.
- 99. Guo W, Zou S, Guan Y, Ikeda T, Tal M, Dubner R, et al. Tyrosine Phosphorylation of the NR2B Subunit of the NMDA Receptor in the Spinal Cord during the Development and Maintenance of Inflammatory Hyperalgesia. J Neurosci. 2002;22(14):6208–17.
- 100. Basbaum AI, Bautista DM, Scherrer G, Julius D. Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Pain. NIH Public Access. 2010;139(2):267–84.
- 101. Xu Q, Yaksh TL. A brief comparison of the pathophysiology of inflammatory versus neuropathic pain. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2011;24(4):400–7.
- 102. Kopach O, Kao S-C, Petralia RS, Belan P, Tao Y-X, Voitenko N. Inflammation alters trafficking of extrasynaptic AMPA receptors in tonically firing lamina II neurons of the rat spinal dorsal horn. Pain. 2011;152(4):912–23.
- 103. Moore KA, Kohno T, Karchewski LA, Scholz J, Baba H, Woolf CJ. Partial Peripheral Nerve Injury Promotes a Selective Loss of GABAergic Inhibition in the Superficial Dorsal Horn of the Spinal Cord. J Neurosci. 2002;22(15):6724–31.
- 104. Vikman KS, Duggan AW, Siddall PJ. Interferon-gamma induced disruption of GABAergic inhibition in the spinal dorsal horn in vivo. Pain. 2007;133:18–28.
- 105. Kawasaki Y, Zhang L, Cheng J-K, Ji R-R. Cytokine Mechanisms of Central Sensitization: Distinct and Overlapping Role of Interleukin-1, Interleukin-6, and Tumor Necrosis Factoralpha in Regulating Synaptic and Neuronal Activity in the Superficial Spinal Cord. J Neurosci. 2008;28(20):5189–94.
- 106. Zhang H, Dougherty PM. Acute inhibition of signalling phenotype of spinal GABAergic neurons by tumour necrosis factor-α. J Physiol. 2011;589(18):4511–26.
- Torsney C, Macdermott AB. Disinhibition Opens the Gate to Pathological Pain Signaling in Superficial Neurokinin 1 Receptor-Expressing Neurons in Rat Spinal Cord. J Neurosci. 2006;26(6):1833–43.
- 108. Tsuda M, Masuda T, Kitano J, Shimoyama H, Tozaki-Saitoh H, Inoue K. IFN-gamma receptor signaling mediates spinal microglia activation driving neuropathic pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(19):8032–7.
- 109. Matsumoto J, Dohgu S, Takata F, Machida T, Bölükbaşi Hatip FF, Hatip-Al-Khatib I, et al. TNF-α-sensitive brain pericytes activate microglia by releasing IL-6 through cooperation between IkB-NFkB and JAK-STAT3 pathways. Brain Res. 2018;1692:34–44.

- 110. Jovanovic D V, Battista JA Di, Jolicoeur FC, He Y. IL-17 Stimulates the Production and Expression of Proinflammatory Cytokines, IL- β and TNF-α, by Human Macrophages. J Immunol. 1998;160:3513–21.
- 111. Bottcher JP, Schanz O, Garbers C, Zaremba A, Hegenbarth S, Kurts C, et al. Report IL-6 trans-Signaling-Dependent Rapid Development of Cytotoxic CD8 + T Cell Function. Cell Rep. 2014;8:1318–27.
- 112. Omoigui S. The biochemical origin of pain Proposing a new law of pain: The origin of all pain is inflammation and the inflammatory response. Part 1 of 3 A unifying law of pain. Med Hypotheses. 2007;69(1):70–82.
- 113. Costigan M, Scholz J, Woolf CJ. Neuropathic pain: a maladaptive response of the nervous system to damage. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2009;32:1–32.
- 114. Sung B, Lim G, Mao J. Altered Expression and Uptake Activity of Spinal Glutamate Transporters after Nerve Injury Contribute to the Pathogenesis of Neuropathic Pain in Rats. J Neurosci. 2003;23(7):2899–910.
- 115. Costigan M, Moss A, Latremoliere A, Johnston C, Verma-Gandhu M, Herbert TA, et al. T-Cell Infiltration and Signaling in the Adult Dorsal Spinal Cord Is a Major Contributor to Neuropathic Pain-Like Hypersensitivity. J Neurosci. 2009;29(46):14415–22.
- 116. Watkins LR, Milligan ED, Maier SF. Glial activation: A driving force for pathological pain. Trends Neurosci. 2001;24(8):450–5.
- 117. Ramer MS, Murphy PG, Richardson PM, Bisby MA. Spinal nerve lesion-induced mechanoallodynia and adrenergic sprouting in sensory ganglia are attenuated in interleukin-6 knockout mice. Pain. 1998;78:115–21.
- 118. Woolf CJ, Shortland P, Coggeshall RE. Peripheral nerve injury triggers central sprouting of myelinated afferents. Nature. 1992;355(6355):75–8.
- 119. Pickering G. Neuroplasticity in the Pain, Emotion, and Cognition Nexus. In: Pickering G, Gibson S, editors. Pain, Emotion, and Cognition: A Complex Nexus. Springer International Publishing; 2015. p. 73–9.
- Wu L, Toyoda H, Zhao M, Lee Y, Tang J, Ko SW, et al. Upregulation of Forebrain NMDA NR2B Receptors Contributes to Behavioral Sensitization after Inflammation. J Neurosci. 2005;25(48):11107–16.
- 121. Tajerian M, Alvarado S, Millecamps M, Vachon P, Crosby C, Bushnell MC, et al. Peripheral Nerve Injury Is Associated with Chronic, Reversible Changes in Global DNA Methylation in the Mouse Prefrontal Cortex. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e55259.
- Metz AE, Yau H, Centeno MV, Apkarian AV, Martina M. Morphological and functional reorganization of rat medial prefrontal cortex in neuropathic pain. PNAS. 2009;106(7):2423–8.
- 123. Jaggi AS, Singh N. Role of different brain areas in peripheral nerve injury-induced neuropathic pain. Brain Res. 2011;1381:187–201.
- 124. Boadas-vaello P, Homs J, Reina F, Carrera A, Verdu E. Neuroplasticity of Supraspinal Structures Associated with Pathological Pain. Anat Rec. 2017;300:1481–501.
- 125. Lin E, Calvano SE, Lowry SF. Inflammatory cytokines and cell response in surgery. Surgery. 2000;127(2):117–26.
- 126. Clark AK, Old EA, Malcangio M. Neuropathic pain and cytokines: current perspectives. J Pain Res. 2013;6:803.

- 127. Pinho-Ribeiro FA, Verri Jr. W, Chiu IM. Nociceptor Sensory Neuron–Immune Interactions in Pain and Inflammation. Trends Immunol. 2017;38(1):5–19.
- 128. Watkins LR, Maier SF, Goehler LE. Immune activation: the role of pro-inflammatory cytokines in inflammation, illness responses and pathological pain states. Pain. 1995;63(3):289–302.
- 129. Ghasemlou N, Chiu IM, Julien J, Woolf CJ. CD11b+Ly6G- myeloid cells mediate mechanical inflammatory pain hypersentitivty. PNAS. 2015;E6808–17.
- 130. Zhang J, An J. Cytokines, Inflammation and Pain. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2007;45(2):27–37.
- 131. Wieseler-Frank J, Maier SF, Watkins LR. Central proinflammatory cytokines and pain enhancement. NeuroSignals. 2005;14(4):166–74.
- 132. Wagner R, Myers RR. Schwann cells produce tumor necrosis factor alpha: expression in injured and non-injured nerves. Neuroscience. 1996;73(3):625–9.
- 133. Gruber BL, Marchese MJ, Kews RR. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 mediates mast cell chemotaxis. J Immunol. 1994;152:5860–7.
- 134. Segond von Banchet G, Boettger MK, Fischer N, Gajda M, Bräuer R. Experimental arthritis causes tumor necrosis factor-a dependent infiltration of macrophages into rat dorsal root ganglia which correlates with pain-related behavior. Pain. 2009;145:151–9.
- 135. Albanesi C, Cavani A, Girolomoni G. IL-17 Is Produced by Nickel-Specific T Lymphocytes and Regulates ICAM-1 Expression and Chemokine Production in Human Keratinocytes: Synergistic or Antagonist Effects with IFN-γ and TNF-α. J Immunol. 1999;162:494–502.
- 136. Mcloughlin RM, Witowski J, Robson RL, Wilkinson TS, Hurst SM, Williams AS, et al. Interplay between IFN-γ and IL-6 signaling governs neutrophil trafficking and apoptosis during acute inflammation. J Clin Invest. 2003;112(4):598–607.
- 137. Segond von Banchet G, Kiehl M, Schaible H. Acute and long-term effects of IL-6 on cultured dorsal root ganglion neurones from adult rat. J Neurochem. 2005;94:238–48.
- 138. Vezzani A, Viviani B. Neuromodulatory properties of inflammatory cytokines and their impact on neuronal excitability. Neuropharmacology. 2015;96:70–82.
- 139. Chen X, Pang R, Shen K, Zimmermann M, Xin W, Li Y, et al. TNF-α enhances the currents of voltage gated sodium channels in uninjured dorsal root ganglion neurons following motor nerve injury. Exp Neurol. 2011;227(2):279–86.
- 140. Zhuang X, Chen Y, Zhuang X, Chen T, Xing T, Wang W, et al. Contribution of Proinflammatory Cytokine Signaling within Midbrain Periaqueductal Gray to Pain Sensitivity in Parkinson's Disease via GABAergic Pathway. Front Neurol. 2016;7:104.
- 141. Chu H, Sun J, Xu H, Niu Z, Xu M. Effect of periaqueductal gray melanocortin 4 receptor in pain facilitation and glial activation in rat model of chronic constriction injury. Neurol Res. 2012;34(9):871–88.
- Cui G bin, An J ze, Zhang N, Zhao M gao, Liu S bing, Yi J. Elevated interleukin-8 enhances prefrontal synaptic transmission in mice with persistent inflammatory pain. Mol Pain. 2012;8:1–7.
- 143. Cuellar VG, Cuellar JM, Golish R, Yeomans DC, Scuderi GJ. Cytokine Profiling in Acute Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury. Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg. 2010;26(10):1296–301.
- 144. Cuellar JM, Scuderi GJ, Cuellar VG, Golish SR, Yeomans DC. Diagnostic Utility of Cytokine Biomarkers in the Evaluation of Acute Knee Pain. J Bone Jt Surg. 2009;91(10):2313–20.

- 145. Hussein MR, Fathi NA, El-din AME, Hassan HI, Abdullah F, Al-Hakeem E, et al. Alterations of the CD4 +, CD8+ T Cell Subsets, Interleukins-1 β, IL-10, IL-17, Tumor Necrosis Factor- α and Soluble Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Osteoarthritis: Preliminary Observations. Pathol Oncol Res. 2008;14:321–8.
- 146. Liu Y, Ho RC-M, Mak A. The role of interleukin (IL)-17 in anxiety and depression of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Int J Rheum Dis. 2012;15:183–7.
- 147. Malhotra D, Saxena AK, Dar SA, Kumar V, Nasare N, Tripathi AK, et al. Evaluation of Cytokine Levels in Fibromyalgia Syndrome Patients and its Relationship to the Severity of Chronic Pain. J Musculoskelet Pain. 2012;20(3):164–9.
- 148. Mendieta D, De la Cruz-Aguilera DL, Barrera-Villalpando MI, Becerril-Villanueva E, Arreola R, Hernández-Ferreira E, et al. IL-8 and IL-6 primarily mediate the inflammatory response in fibromyalgia patients. J Neuroimmunol. 2016;290:22–5.
- 149. Wang H, Moser M, Schiltenwolf M, Buchner M. Circulating cytokine levels compared to pain in patients with fibromyalgia a prospective longitudinal study over 6 months. J Rheumatol. 2008;35(7):1366–70.
- 150. Üçeyler N, Valenza R, Stock M, Schedel R, Sprotte G, Sommer C. Reduced levels of antiinflammatory cytokines in patients with chronic widespread pain. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(8):2656–64.
- Lundh D, Hedelin H, Jonsson K, Gifford M, Larsson D. Assessing chronic pelvic pain syndrome patients: blood plasma factors and cortisol saliva. Scand J Urol. 2013;47(October 2012):521–8.
- 152. Miller LJ, Fischer KA, Goralnick SJ, Litt M, Burleson JA, Albertsen P, et al. Interleukin-10 levels in seminal plasma: implications for chronic prostatitis-chronic pelvic pain syndrome. J Urol. 2002;167:753–6.
- 153. Slade GD, Conrad MS, Diatchenko L, Rashid NU, Zhong S, Smith S, et al. Cytokine biomarkers and chronic pain: Association of genes, transcription, and circulating proteins with temporomandibular disorders and widespread palpation tenderness. Pain. 2011;152(12):2802–12.
- 154. Alexander GM, Peterlin BL, Perreault MJ, Grothusen JR, Schwartzman RJ. Changes in plasma cytokines and their soluble receptors in complex regional pain syndrome. J Pain. 2012;13(1):10–20.
- 155. Üçeyler N, Eberle T, Rolke R, Birklein F, Sommer C. Differential expression patterns of cytokines in complex regional pain syndrome. Pain. 2007;132(1–2):195–205.
- 156. Backonja MM, Coe CL, Muller DA, Schell K. Altered cytokine levels in the blood and cerebrospinal fluid of chronic pain patients. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;195(1–2):157–63.
- Bäckryd E, Ghafouri B, Larsson B, Gerdle B. Plasma pro-inflammatory markers in chronic neuropathic pain: A multivariate, comparative, cross-sectional pilot study. Scand J Pain. 2016;10:1–5.
- 158. Pedersen LM, Schistad E, Jacobsen LM, Røe C, Gjerstad J. Serum levels of the proinflammatory interleukins 6 (IL-6) and -8 (IL-8) in patients with lumbar radicular pain due to disc herniation: A 12-month prospective study. Brain Behav Immun. 2015;46:132–6.
- 159. Wang K, Bao J, Yang S, Hong X, Liu L, Xie X-H, et al. A cohort study comparing the serum levels of pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines in patients with lumbar radicular pain and healthy subjects. Eur Spine J. 2016;25:1428–34.

- 160. Üçeyler N, Rogausch JP, Toyka K V, Sommer C. Differential expression of cytokines in painful and painless neuropathies. Neurology. 2007;69:42–9.
- 161. Üçeyler N, Kafke W, Riediger N, He L, Necula G, Toyka K V, et al. Elevated proinflammatory cytokine expression in affected skin in small fiber neuropathy. Neurology. 2010;74:1806–13.
- 162. Koch A, Zacharowski K, Boehm O, Stevens M, Lipfert P, von Giesen H, et al. Nitric oxide and pro-inflammatory cytokines correlate with pain intensity in chronic pain patients. Inflamm Res. 2007;56:32–7.
- 163. Ko FC, Rubenstein WJ, Lee EJ, Siu AL, Sean Morrison R. TNF-α and sTNF-RII Are Associated with Pain Following Hip Fracture Surgery in Older Adults. Pain Med. 2018;19:169–77.
- 164. Si H, Yang T, Zeng Y, Zhou Z, Pei F, Lu Y, et al. Correlations between inflammatory cytokines, muscle damage markers and acute postoperative pain following primary total knee arthroplasty. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18:265–73.
- 165. Dennis BB, Samaan MC, Bawor M, Paul J, Plater C, Pare G, et al. Evaluation of clinical and inflammatory profile in opioid addiction patients with comorbid pain: results from a multicenter investigation. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2014;10:2239–47.
- Kasahara T, Hooks JJ, Dougherty SF, Oppenheim JJ. Interleukin 2-mediated immune interferon (IFN-gamma) production by human T cells and T cell subsets. J Immunol. 1983;130:1784–9.
- 167. Farrar MA, Schreiber RD. The molecular cell biology of interferon-gamma and its receptor. Annu Rev Immunol. 1993;11:571–611.
- 168. Fujii S, Shimizu K, Shimizu T, Lotze MT. Interleukin-10 promotes the maintenance of antitumor CD8+ T-cell effector function in situ. Immunobiology. 2001;98(7):2143–52.
- 169. Hess C, Means TK, Autissier P, Woodberry T, Altfeld M, Addo MM, et al. IL-8 responsiveness defines a subset of CD8 T cells poised to kill. Blood. 2004;104(12):3463–72.
- 170. Wherry JC, Schreiber RD, Unanue ER. Regulation of Gamma Interferon Production by Natural Killer Cells in scid Mice: Roles of Tumor Necrosis Factor and Bacterial Stimuli. Infect Immun. 1991;59(5):1709–15.
- 171. Hsu D, Moore KW, Spits H. Differential effects of IL-4 and IL-10 on IL-2-induced IFNgamma synthesis and lymphokine-activated killer activity. Int Immunol. 1992;4(5):563–9.
- Handa Ka, Suzuki R, Matsui H, Shimizu Y, Kumagai K. Natural killer (NK) cells as a responder to interleukin 2 (IL 2): IL-2 induced interferon gamma production. J Immunol. 1983;130(2):988–92.
- 173. Racz I, Nadal X, Alferink J, Ban JE, Rehnelt J, Martín M, et al. Interferon-gamma Is a Critical Modulator of CB 2 Cannabinoid Receptor Signaling during Neuropathic Pain. J Neurosci. 2008;28(46):12136–45.
- Neumann H, Schmidt H, Wilharm E, Wekerle H. Interferon-gamma Gene Expression in Sensory Neurons: Evidence for Autocrine Gene Regulation. J Exp Med. 1997;186(12):2023–31.
- 175. Hashioka S, Klegeris A, Schwab C, Yu S, Mcgeer PL. Differential expression of interferon- γ receptor on human glial cells in vivo and in vitro. J Neuroimmunol. 2010;225(1–2):91–9.

- 176. Vikman K, Robertson B, Grant G, Liljeborg A, Kristensson K. Interferon-gamma receptors are expressed at synapses in the rat superficial dorsal horn and lateral spinal nucleus. J Neurocytol. 1998;760:749–60.
- 177. Robertson B, Xu X, Hao J, Wiesenfeld-hallin Z, Mhlanga J, Grant G, et al. Interferongamma receptors in nociceptive pathways: role in neuropathic pain-related behaviour. Neuroreport. 1997;8(5):1311–6.
- 178. Fiorentino DF, Zlotnik A, Mosmann TR, Howard M, O'Garra A. IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. J Immunol. 1991;147:3815–22.
- 179. Bogdan C, Vodovotz Y, Nathan C. Macrophage Deactivation by Interleukin 10. J Exp Med. 1991;174:1549–55.
- 180. Strunk RC, Cole FS, Perlmutter DH, Colten HR. gamma-Interferon Increases Expression of Class III complement genes C2 and Factor B in Human Monocytes and in Murine Fibroblasts transfected with human C2 and factor B genes. J Biol Chem. 1985;260(28):15280–5.
- 181. Espinoza-delgado I, Bosco MC, Musso T, Mood K, Ruscetti FW, Longo DL, et al. Inhibitory Cytokine Circuits Involving Transforming Growth Factor-beta, Interferon-gamma and Interleukin-2 in Human Monocyte Activation. Blood. 1994;83(11):3332–9.
- Nagalakshmi ML, Murphy E, Mcclanahan T, de Waal Malefyt R. Expression patterns of IL-10 ligand and receptor gene families provide leads for biological characterization. Int Immunopharmacol. 2004;4:577–92.
- 183. Boehm U, Klamp T, Groot M, Howard JC. Cellular responses to interferon-gamma. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997;15:749–95.
- 184. Del Prete G, Carlo M De, Almerigogna F, Giudizi MG, Biagiotti R, Romagnani S. Human IL-10 is produced by both type 1 helper (Th1) and type 2 helper (Th2) T cell clones and inhibits their antigen-specific proliferation and cytokine production. J Immunol. 1993;150:353–60.
- 185. Nandi B, Behar SM. Regulation of neutrophils by interferon-gamma limits lung inflammation during tuberculosis infection. J Exp Med. 2011;208(11):2251–62.
- Cassatella MA, Guasparri I, Ceska M, Bazzoni F, Rossi F. Interferon-gamma inhibits interleukin-8 production by human polymorphonuclear leucocytes. Immunology. 1993;78:177–84.
- 187. Bonville CA, Percopo CM, Dyer KD, Gao J, Prussin C, Foster B, et al. Interferon-gamma coordinates CCL3-mediated neutrophil recruitment in vivo. BMC Immunol. 2009;10(14).
- Vikman KS, Siddall PJ, Duggan AW. Increased responsiveness of rat dorsal horn neurons in vivo following prolonged intrathecal exposure to interferon-gamma. Neuroscience. 2005;135(3):969–77.
- 189. Mizuno T, Zhang G, Takeuchi H, Kawanokuchi J, Wang J, Sonobe Y, et al. Interferongamma directly induces neurotoxicity through a neuron specific, calcium-permeable complex of IFN-gamma receptor and AMPA GluR1 receptor. FASEB J. 2008;22:1797–806.
- 190. Sonekatsu M, Taniguchi W, Yamanaka M, Nishio N, Tsutsui S, Yamada H, et al. Interferongamma potentiates NMDA receptor signaling in spinal dorsal horn neurons via microglia – neuron interaction. Mol Pain. 2016;12:1–10.
- 191. Bhat NR, Feinstein DL, Shen Q, Bhat AN. p38 MAPK-mediated Transcriptional Activation of Inducible Nitric-oxide Synthase in Glial Cells. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(33):29584–92.

- 192. Kawanokuchi J, Shimizu K, Nitta A, Yamada K, Mizuno T, TAkeuchi H, et al. Production and functions of IL-17 in microglia. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;194:54–61.
- 193. Allison DJ, Thomas A, Beaudry K, Ditor DS. Targeting inflammation as a treatment modality for neuropathic pain in spinal cord injury: a randomized clinical trial. J Neuroinflammation. 2016;13(1):152.
- 194. Üçeyler N, Häuser W, Sommer C. Systematic review with meta-analysis: cytokines in fibromyalgia syndrome. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2011;12:245–59.
- 195. Bromander S, Anckarsäter R, Kristiansson M, Blennow K, Zetterberg H, Anckarsäter H, et al. Changes in serum and cerebrospinal fluid cytokines in response to non-neurological surgery: an observational study. J Neuroinflammation. 2012;9:242.
- 196. Volpin G, Cohen M, Assaf M, Meir T, Katz R, Pollack S. Cytokine levels (IL-4, IL-6, IL-8 and TGFbeta) as potential biomarkers of systemic inflammatory response in trauma patients. Int Orthop. 2014;38(6):1303–9.
- 197. Stephens K, Cooper BA, West C, Paul SM, Baggott CR, Merriman JD, et al. Associations between cytokine gene variations and severe persistent breast pain in women following breast cancer surgery. J Pain. 2014;15(2):169–80.
- 198. Ogawa H, Mukai K, Kawano Y, Minegishi Y, Karasuyama H. Th2-inducing cytokines IL-4 and IL-33 synergistically elicit the expression of transmembrane TNF- a on macrophages through the autocrine action of IL-6. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012;420(1):114–8.
- 199. Kamphuis S, Eriksson F, Kavelaars A, Zijlstra J, van de Pol M, Kuis W, et al. Role of endogenous pro-enkephalin A-derived peptides in human T cell proliferation and monocyte IL-6 production. J Neuroimmunol. 1998;84:53–60.
- 200. O'Reilly S, Hugle T, Griffiths B, Krippner A, van Laar JM. T cell derived IL-6 and IL-13 drive fibroblast fibrosis: implications for systemic sclerosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(Suppl 1):A46-47.
- 201. Karnowski A, Chevrier S, Belz GT, Mount A, Emslie D, D'Costa K, et al. B and T cells collaborate in antiviral responses via IL-6, IL-21, and transcriptional activator and coactivator, Oct2 and OBF-1. J Exp Med. 2012;209(11):2049–64.
- 202. Zimmermann M, Arruda-silva F, Bianchetto-Aguilera F, Finotti G, Calzetti F, Scapini P, et al. IFN α enhances the production of IL-6 by human neutrophils activated via TLR8. Sci Am. 2016;6(19674).
- 203. Dodge IL, Carr MW, Cernadas M, Brenner MB. IL-6 Production by Pulmonary Dendritic Cells Impedes Th1 Immune Responses. J Immunol. 2003;170:4457–64.
- 204. Moller A, Schadendorf D, Lippert U, Forster E, Luger TA, Czarnetzki BM. Human mast cell and basophil cell lines produce interleukin 8 and 6. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1991;81(1):209.
- 205. St-Jacques B, Ma W. Role of prostaglandin E2 in the synthesis of the pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 in primary sensory neurons: an in vivo and in vitro study. J Neurochem. 2011;118:841–54.
- 206. Dubovy P, Klusakova I, Svizenska I, Brazda V. Satellite glial cells express IL-6 and corresponding signal-transducing receptors in the dorsal root ganglia of rat neuropathic pain model. Neuron Glia Biol. 2010;6(1):73–83.

- 207. Marz P, Cheng J-G, Gadient RA, Patterson PH, Stoyan T, Otten U, et al. Sympathetic neurons can produce and respond to interleukin 6. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:3251–6.
- 208. Norris CA, He M, Kang L, Ding MQ, Radder JE, Haynes MM, et al. Synthesis of IL-6 by Hepatocytes Is a Normal Response to Common Hepatic Stimuli. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e96053.
- 209. Chen H, Tsou H, Hsu C, Tsai C, Kao C, Fong Y, et al. Stromal cell-derived factor-1/cxcr4 promotes IL-6 production in human synovial fibroblasts. J Cell Biochem. 2011;112:1219–27.
- 210. Sironi M, Breviario F, Proserpio P, Biondi A, Vecchi A, Van Damme J, et al. IL-1 stimulates IL-6 production in endothelial cells. J Immunol. 1989;142:549–53.
- 211. Basolo F, Conaldi PG, Fiore L, Calvo S, Toniolo A. Normal Breast Epithelial Cells Produce Interleukin-6 and 8 together with tumor necrosis factor: defective IL6 expression in mammary carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 1993;55:926–30.
- 212. Path G, Bornstein SR, Gurniak M, Chrousos GP, Scherbaum WA, Hauner H. Human Breast Adipocytes express Interleukin-6 and Its Receptor System: Increased IL-6 Production by beta-Adrenergic Activation and Effects of IL-6 on on adipocyte function. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;86(5):2281–8.
- 213. Saglam Ö, Ünal ZS, Subasi C, Ulukaya E, Karaoz E. IL-6 originated from breast cancer tissue-derived mesenchymal stromal cells may contribute to carcinogenesis. Tumor biol. 2015;35:5667–77.
- 214. Knüpfer H, Preiß R. Significance of interleukin-6 (IL-6) in breast cancer (review). Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2007;102(2):129–35.
- 215. Hibi M, Murakami M, Saito M, Hirano T, Taga T, Kishimoto T. Molecular Cloning and Expression of an IL-6 Signal Transducer, gp130. Cell. 1990;63:1149–57.
- 216. Hunter CA, Jones SA. IL-6 as a keystone cytokine in health and disease. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(5):448–57.
- 217. Bauer J, Lengyel G, Bauer TM, Acs G, Gerok W. Regulation of interleukin-6 receptor expression in human monocytes and hepatocytes. FEBS Lett. 1989;249(1):27–30.
- 218. Hsu MP, Frausto R, Rose-John S, Campbell IL. Analysis of IL-6/gp130 family receptor expression reveals that in contrast to astroglia, microglia lack the oncostatin M receptor and functional responses to oncostatin M. Glia. 2015;63(1):132–41.
- Rose-john S, Scheller J, Elson G, Jones SA. Interleukin-6 biology is coordinated by membrane-bound and soluble receptors: role in inflammation and cancer. J Leukoc Biol. 2006;80:227–36.
- 220. Obreja O, Schmelz M, Poole S, Kress M. Interleukin-6 in combination with its soluble IL-6 receptor sensitises rat skin nociceptors to heat, in vivo. Pain. 2002;96(1–2):57–62.
- 221. Oprée A, Kress M. Involvement of the proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factoralpha, IL-1 beta, and IL-6 but not IL-8 in the development of heat hyperalgesia: effects on heat-evoked calcitonin gene-related peptide release from rat skin. J Neurosci. 2000;20(16):6289–93.
- 222. Lee YB, Nagai A, Kim SU. Cytokines, Chemokines and Cytokine Receptors in Human Microglia. J Neurosci Res. 2002;69:94–103.

- 223. Mullberg J, Schooltink H, Stoyan T, Gunther M, Graeve L, Buse G, et al. The soluble interleukin-6 receptor is generated by shedding. Eur J Immunol. 1993;23(2):473–80.
- 224. Lust JA, Donovan KA, Kline MP, Greipp PR, Kyle RA, Maihle NJ. Isolation of an mRNA encoding a soluble form of the human interleukin-6 receptor. Cytokine. 1992;4(2):96–100.
- 225. Taga T, Hibi M, Hirata Y, Yamasaki K, Yasukawa K, Matsuda T, et al. Interleukin-6 Triggers the Association of Its Receptor with a Possible Signal Transducer , gp130. Cell. 1989;58:573–81.
- 226. Wolf J, Rose-john S, Garbers C. Cytokine Interleukin-6 and its receptors: A highly regulated and dynamic system. Cytokine. 2014;70(1):11–20.
- 227. Rabe B, Chalaris A, May U, Waetzig GH, Seegert D, Williams AS, et al. Transgenic blockade of interleukin 6 transsignaling abrogates inflammation. Blood. 2008;111(3):1021–9.
- 228. Campbell IL, Erta M, Lim SL, Frausto R, May U, Rose-john S, et al. Trans-Signaling Is a Dominant Mechanism for the Pathogenic Actions of Interleukin-6 in the Brain. J Neurosci. 2014;34(7):2503–13.
- 229. Mihara M, Hashizume M, Yoshida H, Suzuki M, Shiina M. IL-6 / IL-6 receptor system and its role in physiological and pathological conditions. Clin Sci. 2012;122:143–59.
- 230. Hashizume M, Hayakawa N, Suzuki M, Mihara M. IL-6 / sIL-6R trans-signalling, but not TNF- induced angiogenesis in a HUVEC and synovial cell co-culture system. Rheumatol Int. 2009;29:1449–54.
- 231. Diehl S, Rincón M. The two faces of IL-6 on Th1 / Th2 differentiation. Mol Immunol. 2002;39:531–6.
- 232. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, et al. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector Th17 and regulatory T cells. Nature. 2006;441:235–8.
- 233. Chomarat P, Banchereau J, Davoust J, Palucka AK. IL-6 switches the differentiation of monocytes from dendritic cells to macrophages. Nat Immunol. 2000;1(6):510–4.
- 234. Tilg BH, Trehu E, Atkins MB, Dinarello CA, Mier JW. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) as an Antiinflammatory Cytokine: Induction of Circulating IL-1 Receptor Antagonist and Soluble Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor p55. Blood. 1994;83(1):113–8.
- 235. Ulich TR, del Castillo J, Guo K. In vivo hemtatologic effects of recombinant interleukin-6 on hematopoiesis and circulating numbers of RBCs and WBCs. Blood. 1989;73(1):108–10.
- 236. Chimen M, Yates CM, Mcgettrick HM, Ward LSC, Harrison MJ, Apta B, et al. Monocyte Subsets Coregulate Inflammatory Responses by Integrated Signaling through TNF and IL-6 at the Endothelial Cell Interface. J Immunol. 2017;198:2834–43.
- 237. Romano M, Sironi M, Toniatti C, Polentarutti N, Fruscella P, Ghezzi P, et al. Role of IL-6 and Its Soluble Receptor in Induction of Chemokines and Leukocyte Recruitment. Immunity. 1997;6:315–25.
- 238. Hurst SM, Wilkinson TS, Mcloughlin RM, Jones S, Horiuchi S, Yamamoto N, et al. IL-6 and Its Soluble Receptor Orchestrate a Temporal Switch in the Pattern of Leukocyte Recruitment Seen during Acute Inflammation. Immunity. 2001;14:705–14.
- 239. Takizawa H, Ohtoshi T, Yamashita N, Oka T, Ito K. Interleukin 6-receptor expression on human bronchial epithelial cells: regulation by IL-1 and IL-6. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 1996;270(14):346–52.

- 240. Mcloughlin RM, Jenkins BJ, Grail D, Williams AS, Fielding CA, Parker CR, et al. IL-6 transsignaling via STAT3 directs T cell infiltration in acute inflammation. PNAS. 2005;102(27):9589–94.
- 241. Yan J, Melemedjian OK, Price TJ, Dussor G. Sensitization of dural afferents underlies migraine-related behavior following meningeal application of interleukin-6 (IL-6). Mol Pain. 2012;8:1–9.
- Malsch P, Andratsch M, Vogl C, Link AS, Alzheimer C, Brierley SM, et al. Deletion of Interleukin-6 Signal Transducer gp130 in Small Sensory Neurons Attenuates Mechanonociception and Down-Regulates TRPA1 Expression. J Neurosci. 2014;34(30):9845–56.
- 243. Brenn D, Richter F, Schaible H. Sensitization of Unmyelinated Sensory Fibers of the Joint Nerve to Mechanical Stimuli by Interleukin-6 in the Rat An Inflammatory Mechanism of Joint Pain. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(1):351–9.
- Li X, Chen W, Sheng J, Cao D, Wang W. Interleukin-6 inhibits voltage-gated sodium channel activity of cultured rat spinal cord neurons. Acta Neuropsychiatr. 2014;26(3):170–7.
- 245. De Jongh RF, Vissers KC, Meert TF, Booij LHDJ, De Deyne CS, Heylen RJ. The role of interleukin-6 in nociception and pain. Anesth Analg. 2003;96(4):1096–103.
- 246. Echeverry S, Shi XQ, Haw A, Liu H, Zhang Z, Zhang J. Transforming growth factor-beta1 impairs neuropathic pain through pleiotropic effects. Mol Pain. 2009;5(1):16.
- 247. Wei X, Na X, Liao G, Chen Q, Cui Y, Chen F, et al. The up-regulation of IL-6 in DRG and spinal dorsal horn contributes to neuropathic pain following L5 ventral root transection. Exp Neurol. 2013;241:159–68.
- 248. Cunha FQ, Poole S, Lorenzetti BB, Ferreira SH. The pivotal role of tumour necrosis factor alpha in the development of inflammatory hyperalgesia. Br J Pharmacol. 1992;107:660–4.
- 249. Ni Choileain N, Redmond P. Cell Response to Surgery. Arch Surg. 2006;141:1132–40.
- 250. Reikeras O, Borgen P, Reseland JE, Lyngstadaas SP. Changes in serum cytokines in response to musculoskeletal surgical trauma. BMC Res Notes. 2014;7(1):128.
- 251. Zin CS, Nissen LM, O'Callaghan JP, Moore BJ, Smith MT. Preliminary study of the plasma and cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of IL-6 and IL-10 in patients with chronic pain receiving intrathecal opioid infusions by chronically implanted pump for pain management. Pain Med. 2010;11:550–61.
- 252. Schistad EI, Espeland A, Pedersen LM, Sandvik L, Gjerstad J, Røe C. Association between baseline IL-6 and 1-year recovery in lumbar radicular pain. Eur J Pain. 2014;18:1394–401.
- 253. Zille de Queiroz B, Pereira DS, Lopes RA, Felicio DC, Silva JP, Rosa NM de B, et al. Association Between the Plasma Levels of Mediators of Inflammation With Pain and Disability in the Elderly With Acute Low Back Pain: Data From the Back Complaints in the Elders (BACE)-Brazil Study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2016;41(3):197–203.
- 254. Gebhard F, Pfetsch H, Steinbach G, Strecker W, Kinzl L, Bruckner UB. Is Interleukin 6 an Early Marker of Injury Severity Following Major Trauma in Humans? Arch Surg. 2000;135:291–5.
- 255. Maruszynski M, Pojda Z. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) levels in the monitoring of surgical trauma. Surg Endosc. 1995;9:882–5.

- 256. Kudoh A, Katagai H, Takazawa T, Matsuki A. Plasma Proinflammatory Cytokine Response to Surgical Stress in Elderly Patients. Cytokine. 2001;15(5):270–3.
- 257. Wang X-M, Hamza M, Wu T-X, Dionne RA. Upregulation of IL-6, IL-8 and CCL2 gene expression after acute inflammation: Correlation to clinical pain. Pain. 2009;142(3):275–83.
- 258. Glyn-Jones S, Palmer AJR, Agricola R, Price AJ, Vincent TL, Weinans H, et al. Osteoarthritis. Lancet. 2015;386:376–87.
- Stephens KE, Levine JD, Aouizerat BE, Paul SM, Abrams G, Conley YP, et al. Cytokine associations between genetic and epigenetic variations in cytokine genes and mild persistent breast pain in women following breast cancer surgery. Cytokine. 2017;99:203–13.
- 260. Lees JG, Duffy SS, Moalem-taylor G. Immunotherapy targeting cytokines in neuropathic pain. Front Pharmacol. 2013;4(November 2013):1–4.
- 261. Nishimoto N, Hasimoto J, Miyasaka N, Yamamoto K, Kawai S, Takeuchi T, et al. Study of active controlled monotherapy used for rheumatoid arthritis, an IL-6 inhibitor (SAMURAI): evidence of clinical and radiographic benefit from an x ray reader-blinded randomised controlled trial of tocilizumab. Ann Rheum Dis. 2007;66:1162–7.
- 262. Schröder JM, Mrowietz U, Morita E, Christophers E. Purification and partial biochemical characterization of a human monocyte-derived, neutrophil-activating peptide that lacks interleukin 1 activity. J Immunol. 1987;139:3474–83.
- 263. Strieter RM, Kunkel SL, Showell HJ, Remick DG, Phan SH, Ward PA, et al. Endothelial Cell Gene Expression of a Neutrophil Chemotactic Factor by TNF- alpha, LPS and IL-1beta. Science. 1989;243(4897):1467–9.
- 264. Gregory H, Young J, Schröder JM, Mrowietz U, Christophers E. Structure Determination of a human lymphocyte derived neutrophil activating peptide (LYNAP). Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1988;151(2):883–90.
- 265. Schröder J-M, Sticherling M, Henneicke HH, Pressner WC, Christophers E. IL-1 alpha or tumor necrosis factor-alpha stimulate release of three NAP-1 / IL-8-related neutrophil chemotactic proteins in human dermal fibroblasts. J Immunol. 1990;144(6):2223–32.
- 266. Jeannin P, Delneste Y, Gosset P, Molet S, Lassalle P, Hamid Q, et al. Histamine Induces Interleukin-8 Secretion. Blood. 1994;84(7):2229–33.
- 267. Wettey FR, Xue L, Pettipher R. Salbutamol inhibits trypsin-mediated production of CXCL8 by keratinocytes. Cytokine. 2006;36:29–34.
- 268. Ehrlich LC, Hu S, Sheng WS, Sutton RL, Rockswold GL, Peterson PK, et al. Cytokine Regulation of Human Microglial Cell IL-8 Production. J Immunol. 1998;160:1944–8.
- 269. Russo RC, Garcia CC, Teixeira MM. The CXCL8 / IL-8 chemokine family and its receptors in inflammatory diseases. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2014;10(5):593–619.
- 270. Walz A, Peveri P, Aschauer H, Baggiolini M. Purification and amino acid sequencing of NAF: a novel neutrophil-activating factor produced by monocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1987;149(2):755–61.
- Bonecchi R, Facchetti F, Dusi S, Lissandrini D, Simmelink M, Locati M, et al. Induction of Functional IL-8 Receptors by IL-4 and IL-13 in Human Monocytes. J Immunol. 2000;164:3862–9.

- 272. Bacon KB, Flores-Romo L, Life PF, Taub DD, Premack BA, Arkinstall SJ, et al. IL-8-induced signal transduction in T lymphocytes involves receptor-mediated activation of phospholipases C and D. J Immunol. 1995;154:3654–66.
- 273. Nilsson G, Mikovits JA, Metcalfe DD, Taub DD. Mast Cell Migratory Response to Interleukin-8 Is Mediated Through Interaction With Chemokine Receptor CXCR2/Interleukin-8RB. Blood. 1999;93(9):2791–8.
- 274. Ochensberger B, Tassera L, Bifrare D, Rihs S, Dahinden, Clemens A. Regulation of cytokine expression and leukotriene formation in human basophils by growth factors , chemokines and chemotactic agonists. Eur J Immunol. 1999;29:11–22.
- 275. Thomas SY, Hou R, Boyson JE, Means TK, Hess C, Olson DP, et al. CD1d-Restricted NKT Cells Express a Chemokine Receptor Profile Indicative of Th1-Type Inflammatory Homing Cells. J Immunol. 2003;171:2571–80.
- 276. Horuk R, Martin AW, Wang Z, Schweitzer L, Gerassimides A, Guo H, et al. Expression of chemokine receptors by subsets of neurons in the central nervous system. J Immunol. 1997;158:2882–90.
- 277. Baggiolini M, Clark-Lewis I. Interleukin-8, a chemotactic and inflammatory cytokine. FEBS Lett. 1992;307(1):97–101.
- Hammond ME, Lapointe GR, Feucht PH, Hilt S, Gallegos CA, Gordon CA, et al. IL-8 induces neutrophil chemotaxis predominantly via type I IL-8 receptors. J Immunol. 1995;155:1428–33.
- 279. Kim S-J, Park S-M, Cho Y-W, Jung Y-J, Lee D-G, Jang S-H, et al. Changes in expression of mRNA for Interleukin-8 and effects of Interleukin-8 receptor inhibitor in the spinal dorsal horn in a rat model of lumbar disc herniation. Spine. 2011;36(25):2139–46.
- 280. Yao Z, Fanslow WC, Seldin MF, Painter SL, Comeau MR, Cohen JI, et al. Herpesvirus Saimiri Encodes a New Cytokine, IL-17, Which Binds to a Novel Cytokine Receptor. Immunity. 1995;3:11–7.
- 281. Cua DJ, Tato CM. Innate IL-17 producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10:479–89.
- 282. Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie M, De Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL. Interleukin-23 Promotes a Distinct CD4 T Cell Activation State Characterized by the Production of Interleukin-17. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(3):1910–4.
- 283. Ferretti S, Bonneau O, Dubois GR, Jones CE, Trifilieff A. IL-17, produced by lymphocytes and neutrophils, is necessary for lipopolysaccharaide-induced airway neutrophilia: IL-15 as a possible trigger. J Immunol. 2003;170:2106–212.
- 284. Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KHG. Interleukin-1 and IL-23 Induce Innate IL-17 Production from gamma-delta-T Cells, Amplifying Th17 Responses and Autoimmunity. Immunity. 2009;31(2):331–41.
- 285. Doisne J, Becourt C, Amniai L, Duarte N, Le Luduec J-B, Eberl G, et al. Skin and Peripheral Lymph Node Invariant NKT cells are mainly retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor gammat+ and respond preferentially under inflammatory conditions. J Immunol. 2009;183:2142–9.
- 286. Takatori H, Kanno Y, Watford WT, Tato CM, Weiss G, Ivanov II, et al. Lymphoid tissue inducer like cells are an innate source of IL-17 and IL-22. J Exp Med. 2009;206(1):35–41.

- 287. Bermejo DA, Jackson SW, Gorosito-serran M, Acosta-rodriguez E V, Amezcua-vesely MC, Sather BD, et al. Trypanosoma cruzi trans-sialidase initiates a program independent of the transcription factors ROR-gamma-t and Ahr that leads to IL-17 production by activated B cells. Nat Immunol. 2013;14(5):514–22.
- 288. Li G, Zhong D, Yang L-M, Sun B, Zhong Z-H, Yin Y-H, et al. Expression of Interleukin-17 in Ischemic Brain Tissue. Scand J Immunol. 2005;62:481–6.
- Toy D, Kugler D, Wolfson M, Vanden Bos T, Gurgel J, Derry J, et al. Cutting Edge: Interleukin 17 Signals through a Heteromeric Receptor Complex. J Immunol. 2006;177:36–9.
- 290. Gu C, Wu L, Li X. Cytokine IL-17 family: Cytokines, receptors and signaling. Cytokine. 2013;64(2):477–85.
- 291. Yao Z, Spriggs MK, Derry JMJ, Strockbine L, Park LS, Vandenbos T, et al. Molecular characterization of the human interleukin (IL)-17 receptor. Cytokine. 1997;9(11):794–800.
- 292. Witowski J, Ksiazek K, Jorres A. Interleukin-17: a mediator of inflammatory responses. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2004;61:567–79.
- 293. Gaffen SL. Structure and signalling in the IL-17 receptor family. Nat Immunol. 2009;9:556–67.
- 294. Kim CF, Moalem-Taylor G. Interleukin-17 Contributes to Neuroinflammation and Neuropathic Pain Following Peripheral Nerve Injury in Mice. J Pain. 2011;12(3):370–83.
- 295. Richter F, Natura G, Ebbinghaus M, Von Banchet GS, Hensellek S, König C, et al. Interleukin-17 sensitizes joint nociceptors to mechanical stimuli and contributes to arthritic pain through neuronal interleukin-17 receptors in rodents. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(12):4125–34.
- 296. Fossiez F, Djossou O, Pascale C, Flores-Romo L, Ait-Yahia S, Maat C, et al. T Cell Interleukin-17 Induces Stromal Cells to Produce Proinflammatory and Hematopoietic Cytokines. J Exp Med. 1996;183:2593–603.
- 297. Laan M, Cui Z, Hoshino H, Lötvall J, Sjöstrand M, Gruenert DC, et al. Neutrophil Recruitment by Human IL-17 Via C-X-C Chemokine Release in the Airways. J Immunol. 1999;162:2347–52.
- 298. Martel-Pelletier J, Mineau F, Jovanovic D, Di Battista JA, Pelletier J-P. Mitogen-activated protein kinase and nuclear factor kB together regulate interleukin-17 induced nitric oxide production in human osteoarthritic chrondrocytes. Arthritis Rheum. 1999;42(11):2399–409.
- 299. Schwarzenberger P, La Russa V, Miller A, Ya P, Huang W, Zieske A, et al. IL-17 Stimulates Granulopoiesis in Mice: Use of an Alternate, Novel Gene Therapy-Derived Method for In Vivo Evaluation of Cytokines. J Immunol. 1998;161:6383–9.
- 300. Day Y, Liou J, Lee C, Lin Y, Mao C, Chou A-H, et al. Lack of interleukin-17 leads to a modulated micro-environment and amelioration of mechanical hypersensitivity after peripheral nerve injury in mice. Pain. 2014;155(7):1293–302.
- 301. Lee YH, Bae S. Associations between circulating IL-17 levels and rheumatoid arthritis and between IL-17 gene polymorphisms and disease susceptibility: a meta-analysis. Postgr Med J. 2017;93:465–71.

- 302. Zhang W, Nie L, Guo Y, Han L, Wang X, Zhao H, et al. Th17 Cell Frequency and IL-17 Concentration Correlate With Pre- and Postoperative Pain Sensation in Patients With Intervertebral Disk Degeneration. Orthopedics. 2014;37(7):e685–91.
- 303. Barros de Oliveira CM, Sakata RK, Issy AM, Gerola LR, Salomao R. Cytokines and Pain. Brazilian J Anesthesiol. 2011;61(2):255–65.
- 304. Bas DB, Abdelmoaty S, Sandor K, Codeluppi S, Fitzsimmons B, Steinauer J, et al. Spinal release of tumour necrosis factor activates c-Jun N-terminal kinase and mediates inflammation-induced. Eur J Pain. 2015;19:260–70.
- 305. di Giovine FS, Malawista SE, Thornton E, Duff GW. Urate Crystals Stimulate Production of Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha from Human Blood Monocytes and Synovial Cells. J Clin Invest. 1991;87:1375–81.
- 306. Li Y, Ji A, Weihe E, Schafer MK. Cell-Specific Expression and Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Regulation of Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) and TNF Receptors in Rat Dorsal Root Ganglion. J Neurosci. 2004;24(43):9623–31.
- 307. Korn T, Magnus T, Jung S. Autoantigen specific T cells inhibit glutamate uptake in astrocytes by decreasing expression of astrocytic glutamate transporter GLAST: a mechanism mediated by tumor necrosis factor- α. FASEB J. 2005;19(13).
- Bette BM, Schafer MK, Van Rooijen N, Weihe E, Fleischer B. Distribution and Kinetics of Superantigen-induced CytokIne Gene Expression in Mouse Spleen. J Exp Med. 1993;178:1531–40.
- 309. Zhang Y, Ramos BF, Jakschik B, Baganoff MP, Deppeler CL, Meyer DM, et al. Interleukin-8 and mast cell generate tumor necrosis factor-alpha in neutrophil recruitment. Inflammation. 1995;19(1):119–32.
- Zhang H, Xiao W. TNFR1 and TNFR2 differentially mediate TNF-a-induced inflammatory responses in rheumatoid arthritis fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Cell Biol Int. 2017;41:415–22.
- 311. Arnett HA, Mason J, Marino M, Suzuki K, Matsushima GK, Ting JP-Y. TNF α promotes proliferation of oligodendrocyte progenitors and remyelination. Nat Neurosci. 2001;4(11):1116–22.
- 312. Vandenabeele P, Declercq W, Beyaert R, Fiers W. Two tumour necrosis factor receptors: structure and function. Trends Cell Biol. 1995;5:392–9.
- 313. Boettger MK, Hensellek S, Richter F, Gajda M, Stockigt R, Von Banchet GS, et al. Antinociceptive Effects of Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha Neutralization in a Rat Model of Antigen-Induced Arthritis Evidence of a Neuronal Target. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(8):2368–78.
- 314. Pollock J, Mcfarlane SM, Connell MC, Zehavi U, Vandenabeele P, MacEwen DJ, et al. TNFα receptors simultaneously activate Ca2+ mobilisation and stress kinases in cultured sensory neurones. Neuropharmacology. 2002;42:93–106.
- 315. Hensellek S, Brell P, Schaible H, Bräuer R, Segond von Banchet G. The cytokine TNF α increases the proportion of DRG neurones expressing the TRPV1 receptor via the TNFR1 receptor and ERK activation. Mollecular Cell Neurosci. 2007;36:381–91.
- 316. Lee H, Lee K, Son S, Hwang S, Cho H. Temporal expression of cytokines and their receptors mRNAs in a neuropathic pain model. Neuroreport. 2004;15(18).

- 317. Parada CA, Yeh JJ, Joseph EK, Levine JD. Tumor necrosis factor receptor type-1 in sensory neurons contributes to induction of chronic enhancement of in inflammatory hyperalgesia in rat. Eur J Neurosci. 2003;17:1847–52.
- 318. Jin X, Gereau IV RW. Acute p38-Mediated Modulation of Tetrodotoxin-Resistant Sodium Channels in Mouse Sensory Neurons by Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha. J Neurosci. 2006;26(1):246–55.
- 319. Sommer C, Schmidt C, George A. Hyperalgesia in Experimental Neuropathy Is Dependent on the TNF Receptor 1. Exp Neurol. 1998;142(151):138–42.
- 320. Chen X, Subleski JJ, Kopf H, Howard OMZ, Männel DN, Oppenheim JJ. Cutting Edge: Expression of TNFR2 Defines a Maximally Suppressive Subset of Mouse CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ T Regulatory Cells: Applicability to Tumor-infiltrating T regulatory cells. J Immunol. 2008;180:6467–71.
- 321. Schafers M, Sorkin LS, Geis C, Shubayev VI. Spinal nerve ligation induces transient upregulation of tumor necrosis factor receptors 1 and 2 in injured and adjacent uninjured dorsal root ganglia in the rat. Neurosci Lett. 2003;347:179–82.
- 322. Woolf CJ, Allchorne A, Safieh-Garabedian B, Poole S. Cytokines, nerve growth factor and inflammatory hyperalgesia: the contribution of tumour necrosis factor alpha. Br J Pharmacol. 1997;121:417–24.
- 323. Choi J II, Svensson CI, Koehrn FJ, Bhuskute A, Sorkin LS. Peripheral inflammation induces tumor necrosis factor dependent AMPA receptor trafficking and Akt phosphorylation in spinal cord in addition to pain behavior. Pain. 2010;149(2):243–53.
- 324. Sorkin LS, Xiao W, Wagner R, Myers RR. Tumour-necrosis factor-alpha induces ectopic activity in nociceptive primary afferent fibres. Neuroscience. 1997;81(1):255–62.
- 325. Boettger MK, Weber K, Grossmann D, Gajda M, Bauer R, Schulz S, et al. Spinal Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha Neutralization Reduces Peripheral Inflammation and Hyperalgesia and Suppresses Autonomic Responses in Experimental Arthritis: A Role for Spinal Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha During Induction and Maintenance of Peripheral I. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(5):1308–18.
- 326. Schafers M, Geis C, Svensson CI, Luo ZD, Sommer C. Selective increase of tumour necrosis factor-alpha in injured and spared myelinated primary afferents after chronic constrictive injury of rat sciatic nerve. Eur J Neurosci. 2003;17:791–804.
- Cunha TM, Verri WA, Silva JS, Poole S, Cunha FQ, Ferreira SH. A cascade of cytokines mediates mechanical inflammatory hypernociception in mice. PNAS. 2005;102(5):1755– 60.
- 328. Sachs D, Cunha FQ, Poole S, Ferreira SH. Tumour necrosis factor-a, interleukin-1b and interleukin-8 induce persistent mechanical nociceptor hypersensitivity. Pain. 2002;96:89–97.
- 329. Wagner R, Myers RR. Endoneurial injection of TNF-alpha produces neuropathic pain behaviors. Neuroreport. 1996;7:2897–901.
- 330. Rankin ECC, Choy EHS, Kassimos D, Kingsley GH, Sopwtth AM, Isenberg DA, et al. The therapeutic effects of an engineered human anti-tumour necrosis factor alpha antibody (CDP571) in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology. 1995;34(4):334–42.

- 331. Gonzalez-Clemente JM, Mauricio D, Richart C, Broch M, Caixas A, Megia A, et al. Diabetic neuropathy is associated with activation of the TNF-α system in subjects with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2005;63:525–9.
- 332. Purwata TE. High TNF-alpha plasma levels and macrophages iNOS and TNF-alpha expression as risk factors for painful diabetic neuropathy. J Pain Res. 2011;4:169–75.
- 333. Wolk K, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Sabat R. Cutting Edge: Immune Cells as Sources and Targets of the IL-10 Family Members? J Immunol. 2002;168:5397–402.
- Willemen HLDM, Eijkelkamp N, Carbajal AG, Wang H, Mack M, Zijlstra J, et al. Monocytes/Macrophages Control Resolution of Transient Inflammatory Pain. J Pain. 2014;15(5):496–506.
- 335. Chung EY, Liu J, Homma Y, Zhang Y, Brendolan A, Saggese M, et al. Interleukin-10 Expression in Macrophages during Phagocytosis of Apoptotic Cells Is Mediated by Homeodomain Proteins Pbx1 and Prep-1. Immunity. 2007;27:952–64.
- 336. Fiorentino DF, Bond MW, Mosmann TR. Two types of mouse T helper cell: Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones. J Exp Med. 1989;170:2081–95.
- 337. Saraiva M, Christensen JR, Veldhoen M, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Garra AO. Article Interleukin-10 Production by Th1 Cells Requires Interleukin-12-Induced STAT4 Transcription Factor and ERK MAP Kinase Activation by High Antigen Dose. Immunity. 2009;31(2):209–19.
- 338. Murai M, Turovskaya O, Kim G, Madan R, Karp CL, Cheroutre H, et al. Interleukin 10 acts on regulatory T cells to maintain expression of the transcription factor Foxp3 and suppressive function in mice with colitis. Nat Immunol. 2009;10(11):1178–84.
- 339. Rhodes KA, Andrew EM, Newton DJ, Tramonti D, Carding SR. A subset of IL-10-producing γδ T cells protect the liver from Listeria-elicited, CD8+T cell-mediated injury. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(8):2274–83.
- 340. Sun J, Dodd H, Moser EK, Sharma R, Braciale TJ. CD4 + T cell help and innate-derived IL-27 induce Blimp-1-dependent IL-10 production by antiviral CTLs. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(4):327–34.
- 341. Niiro H, Otsuka T, Izuhara K, Yamaoka K, Ohshima K, Tanabe T, et al. Regulation by Interleukin-10 and Interleukin-4 of Cyclooxygenase-2 Expression in Human Neutrophils. Blood. 1997;89(5):1621–8.
- 342. Song C, Zhang Q, Liu X, Shan Y. IL-12 and IL-10 Production are Differentially Regulated by Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase in Mast Cells. Basic Immunol. 2011;75:266–72.
- 343. Vaknin-dembinsky A, Balashov K, Weiner HL. IL-23 Is Increased in Dendritic Cells in Multiple Sclerosis and Down-Regulation of IL-23 by Antisense Oligos Increases Dendritic Cell IL-10 Production. J Immunol. 2006;176:7768–74.
- 344. Yang S, Gao L, Lu F, Wang B, Gao F, Zhu G, et al. Transcription factor myocyte enhancer factor 2D regulates interleukin-10 production in microglia to protect neuronal cells from inflammation-induced death. J Neuroinflammation. 2015;12(33).
- 345. Kotenko S V, Krause CD, Izotova LS, Pollack BP, Wu W, Pestka S. Identification and functional characterization of a second chain of the interleukin-10 receptor complex. EMBO J. 1997;16(19):5894–903.

- 346. von Lanzenauer SH, Wolk K, Hoflich C, Kunz S, Grunberg B, Docke W-D, et al. Interleukin-10 receptor 1 expression in monocyte derived antigen-presenting cell populations: dendritic cells partially escape from IL-10's inhibitory mechanisms. Genes Immun. 2015;16:8–14.
- 347. Crepaldi L, Gasperini S, Lapinet JA, Calzetti F, Pinardi C, Liu Y, et al. Up-Regulation of IL-10R1 Expression Is Required to Render Human Neutrophils Fully Responsive to IL-10. J Immunol. 2001;167:2312–22.
- 348. Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A. Interleukin-10 and the Interleukin-10 receptor. Annu Rev Immunol. 2001;119:683–765.
- 349. Weber-Nordt RM, Meraz MA, Schreiber RD. Lipopolysaccharide-dependent induction of IL-10 receptor expression on murine fibroblasts. J Immunol. 1994;153:3734–44.
- Michel G, Gailis A, Jarzebska-Deussen B, Muschen A, Mirmohammadsadegh A, Ruzicka T. 1, 25-(OH)2-vitamin D3 and calcipotriol induce IL-10 receptor gene expression in human epidermal cells. Inflamm Res. 1997;46:32–4.
- 351. Michel G, Mirmohammadsadegh A, Olasz E, Jarzebska-Deussen B, Müschen A, Kemény L, et al. Demonstration and functional analysis of IL-10 receptors in human epidermal cells: decreased expression in psoriatic skin, down-modulation by IL-8, and up-regulation by an antipsoriatic glucocorticosteroid in normal cultured keratinocytes. J Immunol. 1997;159:6291–7.
- 352. Shen K, Zhu H, Wei X, Wang J, Li Y, Pang R, et al. Interleukin-10 down-regulates voltage gated sodium channels in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. Exp Neurol. 2013;247:466–75.
- 353. Gonzalez P, Burgaya F, Acarin L, Peluffo H, Castellano B, Gonzalez B. Interleukin-10 and Interleukin-10 Receptor-I Are Upregulated in Glial Cells After an Excitotoxic Injury to the Postnatal Rat Brain. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2009;68(4):391–403.
- 354. Sabat R, Grutz G, Warszawska K, Kirsch S, Witte E, Wolk K, et al. Biology of interleukin-10. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2010;21:331–44.
- 355. Williams L, Bradley L, Smith A, Foxwell B. Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
 3 Is the Dominant Mediator of the Anti-Inflammatory Effects of IL-10 in Human
 Macrophages. J Immunol. 2004;172(567–576).
- 356. de Waal Malefyt R, Abrams J, Bennett B, Figdor CG, de Vries JE. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) inhibits cytokine synthesis by human monocytes: an autoregulatory role of IL-10 produced by monocytes. J Exp Med. 1991;174:1209–20.
- 357. Jenkins JK, Malyak M, Arend WP. The effects of interleukin-10 on interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and interleukin-1 beta production in human monocytes and neutrophils. Lymphokine Cytokine Res. 1994;13(1).
- 358. Joyce DA, Gibbons DP, Green P, Steer JH, Feldmann M, Brennan FM. Two inhibitors of pro-inflammatory cytokine release, interleukin-10 and interleukin-4, have contrasting effects on release of soluble p75 tumor necrosis factor receptor by cultured monocytes. Eur J Immunol. 1994;24:2699–705.
- 359. Mertzso PM, Dewitt DL, Stetler-stevenson WG, Wahls LM. Interleukin 10 Suppression of Monocyte Prostaglandin H Synthase-2. J Biol Chem. 1994;269(33):21322–9.
- 360. Groux H, Bigler M, de Vries JE, Roncarolo M-G. Inhibitory and Stimulatory Effects of IL-10 on Human CD8 + T Cells. J Immunol. 1998;160:3188–93.

- 361. Wagner R, Janjigian M, Myers RR. Anti-inflammatory interleukin-10 therapy in CCI neuropathy decreases thermal hyperalgesia, macrophage recruitment and endoneurial TNF-alpha expression. Pain. 1998;74:35–42.
- 362. Cassatella MA, Meda L, Bonora S, Ceska M, Constantin G. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) Inhibits the release of proinflammatory cytokines from human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Evidence for an autocrine role tumor necrosis factor and IL-1beta in mediating the production of IL-8 triggered by lipopolysaccharide. J Exp Med. 1993;178:2207–11.
- 363. Cassatella MA, Meda L, Gasperini S, Calzetti F, Bonora S. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) Upregulates IL-1 Receptor Antagonist Production from Lipopolysaccharide-stimulated Human Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes by Delaying mRNA Degradation. J Exp Med. 1994;179:1695–9.
- 364. Chaudhry A, Samstein RM, Treuting P, Liang Y, Pils MC, Heinrich J, et al. Interleukin-10 Signaling in Regulatory T Cells Is Required for Suppression of Th17 Cell-Mediated Inflammation. Immunity. 2011;34:566–78.
- 365. Coomes SM, Kannan Y, Pelly V, Entwistle L, Guidi R, Perez-Lloret J, et al. CD4+ Th2 cells are directly regulated by IL-10 during allergic airway inflammation. Nature. 2017;10(1):150–61.
- 366. Jinquan T, Larsen CG, Cesser B, Matsushima K, Thestrup-Pedersen K. Human IL-10 is a chemoattractant for CD8+ T lymphocytes and an inhibitor of IL-8-induced CD4+ T lymphocyte migration. J Immunol. 1993;151:4545–51.
- 367. Norden DM, Fenn AM, Dugan A, Godbout JP. TGF b Produced by IL-10 Redirected Astrocytes Attenuates Microglial Activation. Glia. 2014;62:881–95.
- 368. Wu H, Mao X, Tang X, Ali U, Apryani E, Liu H, et al. Spinal interleukin-10 produces antinociception in neuropathy through microglial β-endorphin expression, separated from antineuroinflammation. Brain Behav Immun. 2018; 73 (October 2018): 504-519.
- Khan J, Ramadan K, Korczeniewska O, Anwer MM, Benoliel R, Eliav E. Interleukin-10 levels in rat models of nerve damage and neuropathic pain. Neurosci Lett. 2015;592:99– 106.
- 370. Krukowski K, Eijkelkamp N, Laumet G, Hack CE, Li Y, Dougherty PM, et al. CD8+ T Cells and Endogenous IL-10 Are Required for Resolution of Chemotherapy-Induced Neuropathic Pain. J Neurosci. 2016;36(43):11074–83.
- 371. Milligan ED, Sloane EM, Langer SJ, Hughes TS, Jekich BM, Frank MG, et al. Repeated intrathecal injections of plasmid DNA encoding interleukin-10 produce prolonged reversal of neuropathic pain. Pain. 2006;126(1–3):294–308.
- Milligan ED, Penzkover KR, Soderquist RG, Mahoney MJ. Spinal Interleukin-10 Therapy to Treat Peripheral Neuropathic Pain. Neuromodulation Technol Neural Interface. 2012;15:520–6.
- 373. Arenas-ramirez N, Woytschak J, Boyman O. Interleukin-2: Biology, Design and Application. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(12):763–77.
- 374. Jenabian MA, Seddiki N, Yatim A, Carriere M, Hulin A, Younas M, et al. Regulatory T Cells Negatively Affect IL-2 Production of Effector T Cells through CD39/Adenosine Pathway in HIV Infection. PLoS Pathog. 2013;9(4).
- 375. Boyman O, Sprent J. The role of interleukin-2 during homeostasis and activatino of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12:180–90.
- 376. Chinen T, Kannan AK, Levine AG, Fan X, Klein U, Zheng Y, et al. An essential role for the IL-2 receptor in T reg cell function. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(11):1322–33.
- 377. Klatzmann D, Abbas AK. The promise of low-dose interleukin-2 therapy for autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15:283–94.
- 378. Kakiuchi T, Tamura T, Gyotoku Y, Nariuchi H. IL-2 Production by B Cells Stimulated with a Specific Antigen. Cell Immunol. 1991;138:207–15.
- 379. Hanisch U, Quirion R. Interleukin-2 as a neuroregulatory cytokine. Brain Res Rev. 1996;21:246–84.
- 380. Malek TR, Castro I. Interleukin-2 Receptor Signaling: At the Interface between Tolerance and Immunity. Immunity. 2010;33(2):153–65.
- 381. Kalia V, Sarkar S, Subramaniam S, Haining WN, Smith KA, Ahmed R. Prolonged Interleukin-2R-alpha Expression on Virus-Specific CD8+ T Cells Favors Terminal-Effector Differentiation In Vivo. Immunity. 2010;32(1):91–103.
- 382. Song P, Zhao Z, Liu X. Expression of IL-2 receptor in dorsal root ganglion neurons and peripheral antinociception. Neuroreport. 2000;11(7):1433–6.
- 383. Araujo DM, Lapchak PA, Collier B, Quirion R. Localization of interleukin-2 immunoreactivity and interleukin-2 receptors in the rat brain : interaction with the cholinergic system. Brain Res. 1989;498:257–66.
- 384. Sawada M, Suzumura A, Marunouchi T. Induction of Functional Interleukin-2 Receptor in Mouse Microglia. J Neurochem. 1995;64:1973–9.
- Liao W, Lin J-X, Wang L, Li P, Leonard W. Modulation of cytokine receptors by IL-2 broadly regulates differentiation into helper T cell lineages. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(6):551–9.
- 386. Laurence A, Tato CM, Davidson TS, Kanno Y, Chen Z, Yao Z, et al. Interleukin-2 Signaling via STAT5 constrains T helper 17 cell generation. Immunity. 2007;26:371–81.
- 387. Bayer AL, Pugliese A, Malek TR. The IL-2/IL-2R system: from basic science to therapeutic applications to enhance immune regulation. Immunol Res. 2013;57:197–209.
- 388. Sharma R, Sung SJ, Gaskin F, Fu SM, Ju S. A novel function of IL-2: Chemokine/ chemoattractant/ retention receptor genes induction in Th subsets for skin and lung inflammation. J Autoimmun. 2012;38(4):322–31.
- 389. Pipkin ME, Sacks JA, Cruz-guilloty F, Lichtenheld MG, Bevan MJ, Rao A. Interleukin-2 and Inflammation Induce Distinct Transcriptional Programs that Promote the Differentiation of Effector Cytolytic T Cells. Immunity. 2010;32(1):79–90.
- 390. Loetscher P, Seitz M, Baggiolini M, Moser B. Interleukin-2 Regulates CC Chemokine Receptor Expression and Chemotactic Responsiveness in T Lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1996;184:569–77.
- 391. Kündig TM, Schorle H, Bachmann MF, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM, Horak I. Immune Responses in Interleukin-2-Deficient Mice. Science. 1993;262(5136):1059–61.
- 392. Musso T, Espinoza-delgado I, Pulkki K, Gusella GL, Longo D, Varesio L. IL-2 induces IL-6 production in human monocytes. J Immunol. 1992;148:795–800.
- 393. Gusella GL, Musso T, Bosco MC, Espinoza-Delgado I, Matsushima K, Varesio L. IL-2 upregulates but IFN-gamma suppresses IL-8 expression in human monocytes. J Immunol. 1993;151:2725–32.

- 394. Song P, Lie-cheng W, Wang G, Zhou Z, Zhao Z. Interleukin-2 regulates membrane potentials and calcium channels via μ opioid receptors in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. Neuropharmacology. 2002;43:1324–9.
- 395. Jiang C, You Z, Lu C, Xu D, Wang A, Wang Y, et al. Leu-enkephalin induced by IL-2 administration mediates analgesic effect of Il-2. Neuroreport. 2000;11(7):1483–5.
- 396. Cata JP, Weng HR, Dougherty PM. Spinal injection of IL-2 or IL-15 alters mechanical and thermal withdrawal thresholds in rats. Neurosci Lett. 2008;437(1):45–9.
- Gutcher I, Donkor MK, Ma Q, Rudensky AY, Flavell RA, Li MO. Autocrine Transforming Growth Factor-beta 1 Promotes In Vivo Th17 Cell Differentiation. Immunity. 2011;34:396–408.
- 398. Appel H, Neure L, Kuhne M, Braun J, Rudwaleit M, Sieper J. An elevated level of IL-10and TGFbeta secreting T cells, B cells and macrophages in the synovial membrane of patients with reactive arthritis compared to rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Rheumatol. 2004;23:435–40.
- 399. Wahl SM, Allen JB, McCartney-Francis N, Morganti-Kossman MC, Kossmann T, Ellingsworth L, et al. Macrophage- and Astrocyte-derived Transforming Growth Factor beta as a Mediator of Central Nervous System Dysfunction in Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome. J Exp Med. 1991;173:981–91.
- 400. Kehrl JH, Roberts AB, Wakefield LM, Jakowlew S, Sporn MB, Fauci AS. Transforming growth factor beta is an important immunomodulatory protein for human B lymphocytes. J Immunol. 1986;137:3855–60.
- 401. Assoians RK, Komoriya A, Meyers CA, Miller DM, Sporn MB. Transforming Growth Factorbeta in Human Platelets. J Biol Chem. 1983;258(11):7155–60.
- 402. Starnes T, Robertson MJ, Sledge G, Kelich S, Nakshatri H, Broxmeyer HE, et al. Cutting Edge: IL-17F, a Novel Cytokine Selectively Expressed in Activated T Cells and Monocytes, Regulates Angiogenesis and Endothelial Cell Cytokine Production. J Immunol. 2001;167:4137–40.
- 403. Kong F, Anscher MS, Murase T, Abbott BD, Iglehart JD, Jirtle RL. Elevated Plasma Transforming Growth Factor-beta Levels in Breast Cancer Patients Decrease After Surgical Removal of the Tumor. Ann Surg. 1995;222(2):155–62.
- 404. Wahl SM, Hunt DA, Wakefield LM, Mccartney-francis N, Wahl LM, Roberts AB, et al. Transforming growth factor type beta induces monocyte chemotaxis and growth factor production. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1987;84:5788–92.
- 405. Kehrl JH, Wakefield LM, Roberts AB, Jakowlew S, Alvarez-mon M, Derynck R, et al. Production of transforming growth factor beta by human T lymphocytes and its potential role in the regulation of T cell growth. J Exp Med. 1986;163:1037–50.
- 406. Rook AH, Kehrl JH, Wakefield LM, Roberts AB, Sporn MB, Lane HC, et al. Effects of transforming growth factor beta on the functions of natural killer cells: depressed cytolytic activity and blunting of interferon responsiveness. J Immunol. 1986;136:3916–20.
- 407. Brandes ME, Mai UEH, Ohura K, Wahl SM. Type I transforming growth factor-beta receptors on neutrophils mediate chemotaxis to transforming growth factor-beta. J Immunol. 1991;147:1600–6.

- 408. Postlethwaite AE, Keski-Oja J, Moses HL, Kang AH. Stimulation of the chemotactic migration of human fibroblasts by transforming growth factor beta. J Exp Med. 1987;165:251–6.
- 409. Zhu Y, Colak T, Shenoy M, Liu L, Mehta K, Pai R, et al. Transforming growth factor beta induces sensory neuronal hyperexcitability, and contributes to pancreatic pain and hyperalgesia in rats with chronic pancreatitis. Mol Pain. 2012;8(1):65.
- Li MO, Wan YY, Flavell RA. T Cell-Produced Transforming Growth Factor-beta1 Controls T
 Cell Tolerance and Regulates Th1 and Th17 cell differentiation. Immunity. 2007;26:579–
 91.
- 411. Gorelik L, Constant S, Flavell RA. Mechanism of Transforming Growth Factor beta– induced Inhibition of T Helper Type 1 Differentiation. J Exp Med. 2002;195(11):1499–505.
- 412. Mcgeachy MJ, Bak-jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, Mcclanahan T, et al. TGF- b and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain Th17 cell – mediated pathology. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(12):1390–7.
- 413. Gorelik L, Fields PE, Flavell RA. Cutting Edge: TGF- β Inhibits Th Type 2 Development Through Inhibition of GATA-3 Expression. J Immunol. 2000;165:4773–7.
- 414. Wang S, Gao X, Shen G, Wang W, Li J, Zhao J, et al. Interleukin-10 deficiency impairs regulatory T cell-derived neuropilin-1 functions and promotes Th1 and Th17 immunity. Sci Rep. 2016;6(1).
- 415. Sato Ka, Kawasaki H, Nagayama H, Enomoto M, Morimoto C, Tadokoro K, et al. TGF- β1 Reciprocally Controls Chemotaxis of Human Peripheral Blood Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells Via Chemokine Receptors. J Immunol. 2000;164:2285–95.
- 416. Shen W, Li Y, Zhu J, Schwendener R, Huard J. Interaction Between Macrophages, TGFbeta1, and the COX-2 Pathway During the Inflammatory Phase of Skeletal Muscle Healing After Injury. Cell Physiol. 2007;214:405–12.
- 417. Chen CC, Manning AM. TGF-beta1, IL-10 and IL-4 differentially modulate the cytokineinduced expression of IL-6 and IL-8 in human endothelial cells. Cytokine. 1996;8(1):58– 65.
- 418. Utreras E, Keller J, Terse A, Prochazkova M, Iadarola MJ, Kulkarni AB. Transforming Growth Factor-beta1 Regulates Cdk5 Activity in Primary Sensory Neurons. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(20):16917–29.
- 419. Chen N, Huang S, Chen W, Chen C, Lu C, Chen C, et al. TGF-beta1 Attenuates Spinal Neuroinflammation and the Excitatory Amino Acid System in Rats With Neuropathic Pain. J Pain. 2013;14(12):1671–85.
- 420. Suzumura A, Sawada M, Yamamoto H, Marunouchi T. Transforming growth factor-beta suppresses activation and proliferation of microglia in vitro. J Immunol. 1993;1151:2150–8.
- 421. Lantero A, Tramullas M, Pílar-cuellar F, Valdiza E, Santilla R, Roques BP, et al. TGF-beta and Opioid Receptor Signaling Crosstalk Results in Improvement of Endogenous and Exogenous Opioid Analgesia under Pathological Pain Conditions. J Neurosci. 2014;34(15):5385–95.

- 422. Tramullas M, Lantero A, Diaz A, Morchon N, Merino D, Villar A, et al. BAMBI (Bone Morphogenetic Protein and Activin Membrane-Bound Inhibitor) Reveals the Involvement of the Transforming Growth Factor-beta Family in Pain Modulation. J Neurosci. 2010;30(4):1502–11.
- 423. Chen G, Park C-K, Xie R-G, Ji R-R. Intrathecal bone marrow stromal cells inhibit neuropathic pain via TGF-beta secretion. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(8):3226–40.
- 424. Liu L, Zhu Y, Noë M, Li Q, Pasricha PJ. Neuronal Transforming Growth Factor beta Signaling via SMAD3 Contributes to Pain in Animal Models. Gastroenterology. 2018;154(8):2252–2265.e2.
- 425. Lantero A, Tramullas M, Díaz A, Hurlé MA. Transforming growth factor-β in normal nociceptive processing and pathological pain models. Mol Neurobiol. 2012;45(1):76–86.
- 426. Ishizaki K, Takeshima T, Fukuhara Y, Araki H, Nakaso K, Kusumi M, et al. Increased Plasma Transforming Growth Factor- β1 in Migraine. Headache. 2005;45(9):1224–8.
- 427. Curigliano G, Petit JY, Bertolini F, Colleoni M, Peruzzotti G, de Braud F, et al. Systemic effects of surgery: quantitative analysis of circulating basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta) in patients with breast cancer who underwent limited or exten. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2005;93(1):35–40.
- 428. Üçeyler N, Sommer C. Cytokine regulation in animal models of neuropathic pain and in human diseases. Neurosci Lett. 2008;437(3):194–8.
- 429. Bugada D, Lavand'homme P, Ambrosoli AL, Cappelleri G, Jotti GMS, Meschi T, et al. Effect of Preoperative Inflammatory Status and Comorbidities on Pain Resolution and Persistent Postsurgical Pain after Inguinal Hernia Repair. Mediators Inflamm. 2016;2016.
- 430. Schreiber K, Zinboonyahgoon N, Cornelius M, Edwards R. Acute and subacute postoperative pain after partial and total mastectomy: Association with prospectively assessed psychosocial and psychophysical variables. J Pain. 2016;17(4 suppl):S37.
- 431. Katz J, Poleshuck EL, Andrus CH, Hogan LA, Jung BF, Kulick DI, et al. Risk factors for acute pain and its persistence following breast cancer surgery. Pain. 2005;119(1–3):16–25.
- 432. Rehberg B, Mathivon S, Combescure C, Mercier Y, Savoldelli GL. Prediction of Acute Postoperative Pain Following Breast Cancer Surgery Using the Pain Sensitivity Questionnaire: a cohort study. Clin J Pain. 2016;33(1):57–66.
- 433. Short III RT, Vetter TR. Acute to Chronic Pain : Transition in the Post-Surgical Patient. In: Moore RJ, editor. Handbook of Pain and Palliative Care: Biobehavioral Approaches for the Life Course. Springer Science+Business Media; 2012. p. 295–329.
- 434. Jacobsen P, Butler R. Relation of cognitive coping and catastrophizing to acute pain and analgesic use following breast cancer surgery. J Behav Med. 1996;19(1):17–29.
- Kaunisto M, Jokela R, Tallgren M, Kambur O, Tikkanen E, Tasmuth T, et al. Pain in 1,000
 Women Treated for Breast Cancer: A Prospective Study of Pain Sensitivity and
 Postoperative Pain. Anesthesiology. 2013;119(6):1410–21.
- 436. Bruce J, Thornton AJ, Scott NW, Marfizo S, Powell R, Johnston M, et al. Chronic preoperative pain and psychological robustness predict acute postoperative pain outcomes after surgery for breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2012;107(6):937–46.

- 437. Thomazeau J, Rouquette A, Martinez V, Rabuel C, Prince N, Laplanche JL, et al. Acute pain factors predictive of post-operative pain and opioid requirement in multimodal analgesia following knee replacement. Eur J Pain. 2016;20(5):822–32.
- 438. Granot M, Ferber SG. The roles of pain catastrophizing and anxiety in the prediction of postoperative pain intensity: a prospective study. Clin jounal pain. 2005;21(5):439–45.
- 439. Kinjo S, Sands LP, Lim E, Paul S, Leung JM. Prediction of postoperative pain using path analysis in older patients. J Anesth. 2012;26(1):1–8.
- 440. Armstrong KA, Davidge K, Morgan P, Brown M, Li M, Cunningham L, et al. Determinants of increased acute postoperative pain after autologous breast reconstruction within an enhanced recovery after surgery protocol: A prospective cohort study. J Plast Reconstr Aesthetic Surg. 2016;69(8):1157–60.
- 441. Ip HYV, Abrishami A, Peng PWH, Wong J, Chung F. Predictors of Postoperative Pain and Analgesic Consumption. Anesthesiology. 2009;111(3):657–77.
- 442. Rakel BA, Blodgett NP, Zimmerman MB, Logsden-Sackett N, Clark C, Noiseux N, et al. Predictors of postoperative movement and resting pain following total knee replacement. Pain. 2012;153(11):2192–203.
- 443. Janssen KJM, Kalkman CJ, Grobbee DE, Bonsel GJ, Moons KGM, Vergouwe Y. The risk of severe postoperative pain: Modification and validation of a clinical prediction rule. Anesth Analg. 2008;107(4):1330–9.
- 444. Gagliese L, Jovellanos M, Zimmermann C, Shobbrook C, Warr D, Rodin G. Age-related patterns in adaptation to cancer pain: A mixed-method study. Pain Med. 2009;10(6):1050–61.
- 445. Gagliese L. Pain and Aging: The Emergence of a New Subfield of Pain Research. J Pain. 2009;10(4):343–53.
- 446. Cruz-Almeida Y, Aguirre M, Sorenson HL, Tighe P, Wallet SM, Riley JL. Age differences in cytokine expression under conditions of health using experimental pain models. Exp Gerontol. 2015;72:150–6.
- 447. Álvarez-Rodríguez L, López-Hoyos M, Muñoz-Cacho P, Martínez-Taboada VM. Aging is associated with circulating cytokine dysregulation. Cell Immunol. 2012;273(2):124–32.
- 448. Forsey RJ, Thompson JM, Ernerudh J, Hurst TL, Strindhall J, Johansson B, et al. Plasma cytokine profiles in elderly humans. Mech Ageing Dev. 2003;124(4):487–93.
- 449. Kim HO, Kim H-S, Youn J-C, Shin E-C, Park S. Serum cytokine profiles in healthy young and elderly population assessed using multiplexed bead-based immunoassays. J Transl Med. 2011;9(1):113.
- 450. Kim OY, Chae JS, Paik JK, Seo HS, Jang Y, Cavaillon J-M, et al. Effects of aging and menopause on serum interleukin-6 levels and peripheral blood mononuclear cell cytokine production in healthy nonobese women. Age. 2012;34:415–25.
- 451. Kantor ED, Lampe JW, Kratz M, White E. Lifestyle Factors and Inflammation: Associations by Body Mass Index. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e67833.
- 452. Motaghedi R, Bae JJ, Memtsoudis SG, Kim DH, Beathe JC, Paroli L, et al. Association of obesity with inflammation and pain after total hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2014;472(5):1442–8.
- 453. Brummett CM. Chronic pain following breast surgery. Tech Reg Anesth Pain Manag. 2011;15(3):124–32.

- 454. Johannsen M, Christensen S, Zachariae R, Jensen A. Socio-demographic, treatmentrelated, and health behavioral predictors of persistent pain 15 months and 7–9 years after surgery: a nationwide prospective study of women treated for primary breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2015;152(3):645–58.
- 455. Sipilä R, Estlander A-M, Tasmuth T, Kataja M, Kalso E. Development of a screening instrument for risk factors of persistent pain after breast cancer surgery. Br J Cancer. 2012;107(9):1459–66.
- 456. Andersen KG, Kehlet H. Persistent Pain After Breast Cancer Treatment: A Critical Review of Risk Factors and Strategies for Prevention. J Pain. 2011;12(7):725–46.
- 457. Hickey OT, Burke SM, Hafeez P, Mudrakouski AL, Hayes ID, Shorten GD. Severity of acute pain after breast surgery is associated with the likelihood of subsequently developing persistent pain. Clin J Pain. 2010;26(7):556–60.
- 458. Honerlaw KR, Rumble ME, Rose SL, Coe CL, Costanzo ES. Biopsychosocial predictors of pain among women recovering from surgery for endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;140(2):301–6.
- 459. Massaron S, Bona S, Fumagalli U, Battafarano F, Elmore U, Rosati R. Analysis of postsurgical pain after inguinal hernia repair: A prospective study of 1,440 operations. Hernia. 2007;11(6):517–25.
- 460. Gagliese L, Gauthier LR, Macpherson AK, Jovellanos M, Chan VWS. Correlates of postoperative pain and intravenous patient-controlled analgesia use in younger and older surgical patients. Pain Med. 2008;9(3):299–314.
- 461. Andersen KG, Duriaud HM, Jensen HE, Kroman N, Kehlet H. Predictive factors for the development of persistent pain after breast cancer surgery. Pain. 2015;156(12):2413–22.
- 462. Forsythe LP, Alfano CM, George SM, McTiernan A, Baumgartner KB, Bernstein L, et al. Pain in long-term breast cancer survivors: The role of body mass index, physical activity, and sedentary behavior. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2013;137(2):617–30.
- 463. Aviado-Langer J. Measuring preoperative anxiety in patients with breast cancer using the visual analog scale. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2014;18(5):489–91.
- 464. Özalp G, Sarioglu R, Tuncel G, Aslan K, Kadiogullari N. Preoperative emotional states in patients with breast cancer and postoperative pain. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2003;47:26–9.
- 465. Pinto PR, McIntyre T, Araújo-Soares V, Costa P, Almeida A. Differential Predictors of Acute Post-Surgical Pain Intensity After Abdominal Hysterectomy and Major Joint Arthroplasty. Ann Behav Med. 2015;49(3):384–97.
- 466. Rudin Å, Wölner-Hanssen P, Hellbom M, Werner MU. Prediction of post-operative pain after a laparoscopic tubal ligation procedure. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2008;52(7):938–45.
- 467. Daoudia M, Decruynaere C, Le Polain de Waroux B, Thonnard J-L, Plaghki L, Forget P. Biological inflammatory markers mediate the effect of preoperative pain-related behaviours on postoperative analgesics requirements. BMC Anesthesiol. 2015;15(1):183.
- 468. Zhuo M. Neural Mechanisms Underlying Anxiety Chronic Pain Interactions. Trends Neurosci. 2016;39(3):136–45.

- 469. O'Donovan A, Hughes BM, Slavich GM, Lynch L, Cronin MT, O'Farrelly C, et al. Clinical anxiety, cortisol and interleukin-6: Evidence for specificity in emotion-biology relationships. Brain Behav Immun. 2010;24(7):1074–7.
- 470. Lutgendorf SK, Garand L, Buckwalter KC, Reimer TT, Hong SY, Lubaroff DM. Life stress, mood disturbance, and elevated interleukin-6 in healthy older women. journals Gerontol. 1999;54(9):M434–9.
- 471. Miranda DO, Soares de Lima TA, Ribeiro Azevedo L, Feres O, Ribeiro da Rocha JJ, Pereirada-Silva G. Proinflammatory cytokines correlate with depression and anxiety in colorectal cancer patients. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:739650.
- 472. Mochcovitch MD, da Rocha Freire RC, Garcia RF, Nardi AE. A systematic review of fMRI studies in generalized anxiety disorder: Evaluating its neural and cognitive basis. J Affect Disord. 2014;167:336–42.
- 473. Hsieh J-C, Stone-Elander S, Ingvar M. Anticipatory coping of pain expressed in the human anterior cingulate cortex: a positron emission tomography study. Neurosci Lett. 1999;262:61–4.
- 474. Hooten WM. Chronic Pain and Mental Health Disorders: Shared Neural Mechanisms, Epidemiology and Treatment. Mayo Clin Proc. 2016;91(7):955–70.
- Stein MB, Simmons AN, Feinstein JS, Paulus MP. Increased Amygdala and Insula Activation During Emotion Processing in Anxiety-Prone Subjects. Am J Psychiatry. 2007;164:318–27.
- 476. Paulus MP, Feinstein JS, Castillo G, Simmons AN, Stein MB. Dose-Dependent Decrease of Activation in Bilateral Amygdala and Insula by Lorazepam During Emotion Processing. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005;62:282–8.
- 477. Wiech K, Tracey I. The influence of negative emotions on pain: Behavioral effects and neural mechanisms. Neuroimage. 2009;47(3):987–94.
- 478. Smith RS. The macrophage theory of depression. Med Hypotheses. 1991;35(4):298–306.
- 479. Abelaira HM, Reus GZ, Petronilho F, Barichello T, Quevedo J. Neuroimmunomodulation in Depression: A Review of Inflammatory Cytokines Involved in this Process. Neurochem Res. 2014;39(9):1634–9.
- 480. Felger JC, Lotrich FE. Inflammatory cytokines in depression: Neurobiological mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Neuroscience. 2013;246:199–229.
- 481. Glaser R, Robles TF, Sheridan J, Malarkey WB, Kiecolt-Glaser JK. Mild depressive symptoms are associated with amplified and prolonged inflammatory responses after influenza virus vaccination in older adults. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2003;60(10):1009–14.
- 482. Bouchard LC, Antoni MH, Blomberg BB, Stagl JM, Gudenkauf LM, Jutagir DR, et al. Postsurgical Depressive Symptoms and Proinflammatory Cytokine Elevations in Women Undergoing Primary Treatment for Breast Cancer. Psychosom Med. 2016;78:26–37.
- 483. Howren MB, Lamkin DM, Suls J. Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-1, and IL-6: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med. 2009;71(2):171–86.
- 484. Fagundes CP, Glaser R, Hwang BS, Malarkey WB, Kiecolt-Glaser JK. Depressive symptoms enhance stress-induced inflammatory responses. Brain Behav Immun. 2013;31:172–6.
- 485. Marsland AL, Sathanoori R, Muldoon MF, Manuck SB. Stimulated production of interleukin-8 covaries with psychosocial risk factors for inflammatory disease among middle-aged community volunteers. Brain Behav Immun. 2007;21(2):218–28.

- 486. Kim S-Y, Kim J-M, Kim S-W, Shin I-S, Park M-H, Yoon J-H, et al. Associations between plasma cytokines and depressive mood in patients with breast cancer. Int J Psychiatry Med. 2012;43(1):1–17.
- 487. Slavich GM, Irwin MR. From stress to inflammation and major depressive disorder: A social signal transduction theory of depression. Psychol Bull. 2014;140(3):774–815.
- 488. Haase J, Brown E. Integrating the monoamine, neurotrophin and cytokine hypotheses of depression A central role for the serotonin transporter? Pharmacol Ther. 2015;147:1–11.
- 489. Moret C, Briley M. The importance of norepinephrine in depression. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2011;7(Suppl 1):9–13.
- 490. Krishnan V, Nestler EJ. The molecular neurobiology of depression. Nature. 2008;455:894– 902.
- 491. Knudsen L, Laue G, Norskow KN, Vase L, Finnerup N, Jensen TS, et al. Review of neuroimaging studies related to pain modulation. Scand J Pain. 2011;2(3):108–20.
- 492. Giesecke T, Gracely RH, Williams DA, Geisser ME, Petzke FW, Clauw DJ. The Relationship Between Depression, Clinical Pain, and Experimental Pain in a Chronic Pain Cohort. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52(5):1577–84.
- 493. Strigo IA, Simmons AN, Matthews SC, Craig ADB, Paulus MP. Association of Major Depressive Disorder With Altered Functional Brain Response During Anticipation and Processing of Heat Pain. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2008;65(11):1275–85.
- 494. Sullivan MJ, Thorn B, Haythornthwaite JA, Keefe F, Martin M, Bradley LA, et al. Theoretical perspectives on the relation between catastrophizing and pain. Clin J Pain. 2001;17:52–64.
- 495. Pavlin DJ, Sullivan MJL, Freund PR, Roesen K. Catastrophizing: a risk factor for postsurgical pain. Clin J Pain. 2005;21(1):83–90.
- 496. Sommer M, de Rijke JM, van Kleef M, Kessels AGH, Peters ML, Geurts JW, et al.
 Predictors of acute postoperative pain after elective surgery. Clin J Pain. 2010;26(2):87–94.
- 497. Meints SM, Edwards RR. Evaluating psychosocial contributions to chronic pain outcomes. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2018;(December 2017):1–15.
- 498. Pressman AJ, Peterlin BL, Tompkins DA, Salas RE, Buenaver LF, Haythornthwaite JA, et al. Pain catastrophizing may moderate the association between pain and secondary hyperalgesia. J Appl Biobehav Res. 2017;22:e12096.
- 499. Edwards RR, Kronfli T, Haythornthwaite JA, Smith MT, McGuire L, Page GG. Association of catastrophizing with interleukin-6 responses to acute pain. Pain. 2008;140(1):135–44.
- 500. Gracely RH, Geisser ME, Giesecke T, Grant MAB, Petzke F, Williams DA, et al. Pain catastrophizing and neural responses to pain among persons with fibromyalgia. Brain. 2004;127:835–43.
- 501. Seminowicz DA, Davis KD. Cortical responses to pain in healthy individuals depends on pain catastrophizing. Pain. 2006;120:297–306.
- 502. Koyama T, McHaffie JG, Laurienti PJ, Coghill RC. The subjective experience of pain: where expectations become reality. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(36):12950–5.
- 503. Carlino E, Frisaldi E, Benedetti F. Pain and the context. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2014;10:348– 55.

- 504. McCann B, Miaskowski C, Koetters T, Baggott C, West C, Levine JD, et al. Associations between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine genes and breast pain in women prior to breast cancer surgery. J Pain. 2012;13(5):425–37.
- 505. Schwartz CE, Andresen EM, Nosek MA, Krahn GL. Response Shift Theory: Important Implications for Measuring Quality of Life in People With Disability. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2007;88:529–36.
- 506. Wilder-Smith OHG, Tassonyi E, Arendt-Nielsen L. Preoperative back pain is associated with diverse manifestations of central neuroplasticity. Pain. 2002;97:189–94.
- 507. Henry NL, Conlon A, Kidwell KM, Griffith K, Smerage JB, Schott AF, et al. Effect of Estrogen Depletion on Pain Sensitivity in Aromatase Inhibitor-Treated Women with Early Stage Breast Cancer. 2014;15(5):468–75.
- 508. Zhang Q, Tang D, Zhao H. Immunological Therapies Can Relieve Aromatase Inhibitor-Related Joint Symptoms in Breast Cancer Survivors. Am J Clin Oncol. 2010;33(6):557–60.
- 509. Perkins FM, Kehlet H. Chronic Pain as an Outcome of Surgery A Review of Predictive Factors. Anesthesiology. 2000;93(4):1123–33.
- 510. Chang SH, Mehta V, Langford RM. Acute and chronic pain following breast surgery. Acute Pain. 2009;11:1–14.
- 511. Jung BF, Herrmann D, Griggs J, Oaklander AL, Dworkin RH. Neuropathic pain associated with non-surgical treatment of breast cancer. Pain. 2005;118:10–4.
- 512. Wang X-M, Lehky TJ, Brell JM, Dorsey SG. Discovering Cytokines as Targets for Chemotherapy-Induced Painful Peripheral Neuropathy. Cytokine. 2012;59:3–9.
- 513. Simone CB, Ly D, Soule BP, Savage JE, Mitchell JB, Simone NL. Alterations in Acute and Late Cytokine Expression Correlate with Radiation-induced Fibrosis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;75(3):S541–2.
- 514. Dworkin RH, Turk DC, Farrar JT, Haythornthwaite JA, Jensen MP, Katz NP, et al. Core outcome measures for chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. Pain. 2005;113(1–2):9–19.
- 515. Pan PH, Coghill R, Houle TT, Seid MH, Lindel WM, Parker RL, et al. Multifactorial preoperative predictors for postcesarean section pain and analgesic requirement. Anesthesiology. 2006;104(3):417–25.
- 516. Srikandarajah S, Gilron I. Systematic review of movement-evoked pain versus pain at rest in postsurgical clinical trials and meta-analyses: A fundamental distinction requiring standardized measurement. Pain. 2011;152(8):1734–9.
- 517. Clarke H, Woodhouse LJ, Kennedy D, Stratford P, Katz J. Strategies aimed at preventing chronic post-surgical pain: Comprehensive perioperative pain management after total joint replacement surgery. Physiother Canada. 2011;63(3):289–304.
- 518. Melzack R. The Short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire. Pain. 1987;30:191–7.
- 519. Zalon ML. Comparison of pain measures in surgical patients. J Nurs Meas. 1999;7(2):135– 52.
- Jensen MP, Gould EM, Victor TW, Gammaitoni AR, White RE, Galer BS. The relationship of changes in pain quality to pain interference and sleep quality. J Pain. 2010;11(8):782–8.

- 521. McDonald DD, Weiskopf CS. Adult Patients' Postoperative Pain Descriptions and Responses to the Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire. Clin Nurs Res. 2001;10(4):442– 52.
- 522. Sumitani M, Ueda H, Hozumi J, Inoue R, Kogure T, Yamada Y, et al. Minocycline Does Not Decrease Intensity of Neuropathic Pain, but Improves Its Affective Dimension. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother. 2016;30(1):31–5.
- 523. Goyal A, Bhatnagar S. Neuropathic pain in cancer. Ann Palliat Med. 2014;3(1):1–3.
- 524. Schug SA. 2011 The Global Year Against Acute Pain. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2011;39(1):11–4.
- 525. American Society of Anesthesiologists House of Delegates. ASA Physical Status Classification System [Internet]. American Society of Anesthesiologists. 2014. Available from: http://www.asahq.org/.../asa-physical-status-classification-system/en/2
- 526. Gauthier LR, Rodin G, Zimmermann C, Warr D, Moore M, Shepherd F, et al. Acceptance of pain: A study in patients with advanced cancer. Pain. 2009;143(1–2):147–54.
- 527. Rade MC, YaDeau JT, Ford C, Reid MC. Postoperative Delirium in Elderly Patients After Elective Hip or Knee Arthroplasty Performed Under Regional Anesthesia. Hosp Spec Surg J. 2011;7(2):151–6.
- 528. Gagliese L, Weizblit N, Ellis W, Chan VWS. The measurement of postoperative pain: A comparison of intensity scales in younger and older surgical patients. Pain. 2005;117(3):412–20.
- 529. Dudgeon D, Raubertas RF, Rosenthal SN. The Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire in Chronic Cancer Pain. Pain. 1993;8(4):191–5.
- 530. Backonja MM, Krause JS. Neuropathic pain questionnaire--short form. Clin J Pain. 2003;19(5):315–6.
- 531. De Groot V, Beckerman H, Lankhorst GJ, Bouter LM. How to measure comorbidity: A critical review of available methods. J Clin Epidemiol. 2003;56(3):221–9.
- 532. Mor V, Laliberte L, Morris JN, Wiemann M. The Karnofsky Performance Status Scale: An Examination of its Reliability and Validity in a Research Setting. Cancer. 1984;53:2002–7.
- 533. Hann D, Winter K, Jacobsen P. Measurement of depressive symptoms in cancer patients: evaluation of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D). J Psychosom Res. 1999;46(5):437–43.
- 534. Osman A, Barrios FX, Gutierrez PM, Kopper BA, Merrifield T, Grittmann L. The pain catastrophizing scale: Further psychometric evaluation with adult samples. J Behav Med. 2000;23(4):351–65.
- 535. Mcdowell I. The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. In: Measuring Health: a Guide to Rating Scales and Questionnaires. 3rd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2006. p. 319–27.
- 536. Little RJA. A Test of Missing Completely at Random for Multivariate Data with Missing Values. J Am Stat Assoc. 1988;83(404):1198–202.
- 537. Bono C, Ried LD, Kimberlin C, Vogel B. Missing data on the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale: A comparison of 4 imputation techniques. Res Soc Administative Pharm. 2007;3:1–27.
- 538. Tabachnick B, Fidell L. Using Multivariate Statistics. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Harper & Row; 1989.

- 539. Chowdhury F, Williams A, Johnson P. Validation and comparison of two multiplex technologies, Luminex[®] and Mesoscale Discovery, for human cytokine profiling. J Immunol Methods. 2009;340(1):55–64.
- 540. Kim H. Statistical notes for clinical researchers: assessing normal distribution (2) using skewness and kurtosis. Restor Dent Endod. 2013;38(1):52–4.
- 541. Field A. Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics. 3rd ed. Carmichael M, editor. SAGE Publications; 2009.
- 542. Cook RD, Weisberg S. Residuals and Influence in Regression. New York: Chapman and Hall; 1982.
- 543. Given B, Given CW, Sikorskii A, Jeon S, McCorkle R, Champion V, et al. Establishing Mild, Moderate, and Severe Scores for Cancer-Related Symptoms: How Consistent and Clinically Meaningful Are Interference-Based Severity Cut-Points? J Pain Symptom Manage. 2008;35(2):126–35.
- 544. Gartner R, Jensen M, Nielsen J, Ewertz M, Kroman N, Kehlet H. Prevalence of and factors associated with persistent pain following breast cancer surgery. J Am Med Assoc. 2009;302(18):1985–92.
- 545. Dubuisson D, Melzack R. Classification of Clinical Pain Descriptions by Multiple Group Discriminant Analysis. Exp Neurol. 1976;487:480–7.
- 546. Gagliese L, Melzack R. Age-related differences in the qualities but not the intensity of chronic pain. Pain. 2003;104:597–608.
- 547. Broderick JE, Schwartz JE, Vikingstad G, Pribbernow M, Grossman S, Stone AA. The accuracy of pain and fatigue items across different reporting periods. Pain. 2008;139:146–57.
- 548. Schneider S, Stone AA, Schwartz JE, Broderick JE. Peak and end effects in patients daily recall of pain and fatigue: A within-subjects analysis. J Pain. 2011;12(2):228–35.
- 549. Stone AA, Schwartz JE, Broderick JE, Shiffman SS. Variability of Momentary Pain Predicts Recall of Weekly Pain: A Consequence of the Peak (or Salience) Memory Heuristic. PSPB. 2002;31(10):1340–6.
- 550. Stone AA, Broderick JE, Kaell AT, DelesPaul PAEG, Porter LE. Does the peak-end phenomenon observed in laboratory pain studies apply to real-world pain in rheumatoid arthritics? J Pain. 2000;1(3):212–7.
- 551. Terry R, Niven C, Brodie E, Jones R, Prowse M. An exploration of the relationship between anxiety, expectations and memory for postoperative pain. Acute Pain. 2007;9:135–43.
- 552. Jain P, Padole D, Bakshi S. Prevalence of acute neuropathic pain after cancer surgery: A prospective study. Indian J Anaesth. 2014;58(1):36–42.
- 553. Livingston WK. Pain Mechanisms. New York: Macmillan Company; 1943.
- 554. McMahon SB, Koltzenburg M, Tracey I, Turk DC, editors. Wall and Melzack's Textbook of Pain. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier/Saunders; 2013.
- 555. Melzack R, Casey K. Sensory, motivational and central control determinants of pain. In: Kenshalo DR, editor. The Skin Senses. Springfield: Charles C. Thomas Publisher; 1968. p. 423–43.

- 556. Wu CL, Naqibuddin M, Rowlingson AJ, Lietman S a., Jermyn RM, Fleisher L a. The Effect of Pain on Health-Related Quality of Life in the Immediate Postoperative Period. Anesth Analg. 2003;97:1078–85.
- 557. Gilron I, Vandenkerkhof E, Katz J, Kehlet H, Carley M. Evaluating the Association Between Acute and Chronic Pain After Surgery: Impact of Pain Measurement Methods. Clin J Pain. 2017;33(7):588–94.
- 558. Gilron I, Tu D, Holden RR. Sensory and Affective Pain Descriptors Respond Differentially to Pharmacological Interventions in Neuropathic Conditions. Clin J Pain. 2013;29(2):124–31.
- 559. Searle RD, Simpson MP, Simpson KH, Milton R, Bennett MI. Can chronic neuropathic pain following thoracic surgery be predicted during the postoperative period? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2009;9(6):999–1002.
- 560. Gagliese L, Jackson M, Ritvo P, Wowk A, Katz J. Age is not an impediment to effective use of patient controlled analgesia by surgical patients. Anesthesiology. 2000;93(3):601–10.
- 561. Bjurstrom MF, Giron SE, Griffis CA. Cerebrospinal Fluid Cytokines and Neurotrophic Factors in Human Chronic Pain Populations: A Comprehensive Review. Pain Pract. 2014;16(2):183–203.
- 562. Brennan TJ. Acute Pain: Pathophysiology and Clinical Implications. ASA Refresh Courses Anesthesiol. 2010;38(1):8–15.
- 563. Boomsma MF, Garssen B, Slot E, Berbee M, Berkhof J, Meezenbroek E de J, et al. Breast cancer surgery-induced immunomodulation. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102(6):640–8.
- 564. Duque P, Terradillos E, Ledesma B, Garutti I. Proinflammatory cytokines following colorectal surgery depend on the type of anesthesia and surgery. Local Reg Anaesth. 2011;136–7.
- 565. Ilias I, Tzanela M, Mavrou I, Douka E, Kopterides P, Armaganidis A, et al. Thyroid function changes and cytokine alterations following major surgery. Neuroimmunomodulation. 2007;14(5):243–7.
- 566. Bäckryd E, Ghafouri B, Larsson B, Gerdle B. Do Low Levels of Beta-Endorphin in the Cerebrospinal Fluid Indicate Defective Top-Down Inhibition in Patients with Chronic Neuropathic Pain? A Cross-Sectional, Comparative Study. Pain Med. 2014;15:111–9.
- 567. da Costa LA, Arora P, García-Bailo B, Karmali M, El-Sohemy A, Badawi A. The association between obesity, cardiometabolic disease biomarkers, and innate immunity-related inflammation in canadian adults. Diabetes, Metab Syndr Obes Targets Ther. 2012;5:347– 55.
- 568. Ri M, Miyata H, Aikou S, Seto Y, Akazawa K, Takeuchi M, et al. Effects of body mass index (BMI) on surgical outcomes: a nationwide survey using a Japanese web-based database. Surg Today. 2015;45(10):1271–9.
- 569. Dobbins TA, Badgery-Parker T, Currow DC, Young JM. Assessing measures of comorbidity and functional status for risk adjustment to compare hospital performance for colorectal cancer surgery: a retrospective data-linkage study. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2015;15:55.
- 570. Dugan S a, Powell LH, Kravitz HM, Everson Rose S a, Karavolos K, Luborsky J. Musculoskeletal pain and menopausal status. Clin J Pain. 2006;22(4):325–31.

- 571. Malutan AM, Costin N, Ciortea R, Mihu D. Variation of Anti-Inflammatory Cytokines in Relationship With Menopause. Appl Med Inf. 2013;32(2):30–8.
- 572. Rosenberger PH, Jokl P, Ickovics J. Psychosocial Factors and Surgical Outcomes: An Evidence-Based Literature Review. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2006;14(7):397–405.
- 573. Masselin-dubois A, Attal N, Fletcher D, Jayr C, Albi A, Fermanian J, et al. Are Psychological Predictors of Chronic Postsurgical Pain Dependent on the Surgical Model? A Comparison of Total Knee Arthroplasty and Breast Surgery for Cancer. J Pain. 2013;14(8):854–64.
- 574. Theunissen M, Peters ML, Bruce J, Gramke H-F, Marcus M a. Preoperative anxiety and catastrophizing: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the association with chronic postsurgical pain. Clin J Pain. 2012;28(9):819–41.
- 575. Pinto PR, Mcintyre T, Almeida A, Araújo-soares V. The mediating role of pain catastrophizing in the relationship between presurgical anxiety and acute postsurgical pain after hysterectomy. Pain. 2012;153:218–26.
- 576. Gatchel RJ, Peng YB, Peters ML, Fuchs PN, Turk DC. The biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain: Scientific advances and future directions. Psychol Bull. 2007;133(4):581–624.
- 577. Lumley MA, Cohen JL, Borszcz GS, Cano A, Radcliffe AM, Porter LS, et al. Pain and emotion: A biopsychosocial review of recent research. J Clin Psychol. 2011;67(9):942–68.
- 578. Quartana PJ, Campbell CM, Edwards RR. Pain catastrophizing: a critical review. Expert Rev Neurother. 2009;9(5):745–58.
- 579. James JE, Hardardottir D. Influence of attention focus and trait anxiety on tolerance of acute pain. Br J Health Psychol. 2002;7:149–62.
- 580. Mounce C, Keogh E, Eccleston C. A Principal Components Analysis of Negative Affect-Related Constructs Relevant to Pain: Evidence for a Three Component Structure. J Pain. 2010;11(8):710–7.
- 581. Keogh E, Book K, Thomas J, Giddins G, Eccleston C. Predicting pain and disability in patients with hand fractures: Comparing pain anxiety, anxiety sensitivity and pain catastrophizing. Eur J Pain. 2010;14(4):446–51.
- 582. Langford DJ, Schmidt B, Levine JD, Abrams G, Elboim C, Esserman L, et al. Preoperative Breast Pain Predicts Persistent Breast Pain and Disability After Breast Cancer Surgery. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2015;49(6):981–94.
- 583. Vilholm OJ, Cold S, Rasmussen L, Sindrup SH. The postmastectomy pain syndrome: an epidemiological study on the prevalence of chronic pain after surgery for breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2008;99(4):604–10.
- 584. Wilson GC, Quillin RC, Hanseman DJ, Lewis JD, Edwards MJ, Shaughnessy E a. Incidence and predictors of neuropathic pain following breast surgery. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(10):3330–4.
- 585. Gerbershagen HJ, Pogatzki-Zahn E, Aduckathil S, Peelen LM, Kappen TH, van Wijck AJM, et al. Procedure-specific risk factor analysis for the development of severe postoperative pain. Anesthesiology. 2014;120(5):1237–45.
- 586. Ene KW, Nordberg G, Bergh I, Johansson FG, Sjostrom B. Postoperative pain management the influence of surgical ward nurses. J Clin Nurs. 2008;17(15):2042–50.
- 587. Daly FM, Fass A, Costar E, Tsang F. Adequacy of post-operative analgesia following day case breast surgery. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45(5):919.

- 588. Li W, Liu T, Wu L, Chen C, Jia Z, Bai X, et al. Blocking the function of inflammatory cytokines and mediators by using IL-10 and TGF-beta: A potential biological immunotherapy for intervertebral disc degeneration in a beagle model. Int J Mol Sci. 2014;15(10):17270–83.
- 589. Fine PG. IL10 and Neuropathic Pain. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother. 2008;22(1):26–7.
- 590. Hamidullah, Changkija B, Konwar R. Role of interleukin-10 in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;133:11–21.
- 591. Santa Mina D, Scheede-Bergdahl C, Gillis C, Carli F, Mina DS, Scheede-bergdahl C, et al. Optimization of surgical outcomes with prehabilitation. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2015;40(9):966–9.
- 592. Dear BF, Titov N, Perry KN, Johnston L, Wootton BM, Terides MD, et al. The Pain Course: A randomised controlled trial of a clinician-guided Internet-delivered cognitive behaviour therapy program for managing chronic pain and emotional well-being. Pain. 2013;154(6):942–50.
- 593. Mead K, Theadom A, Byron K, Dupont S. Pilot study of a 4-week Pain Coping Strategies (PCS) programme for the chronic pain patient. Disabil Rehabil. 2007;29(3):199–203.
- 594. Smeets RJEM, Vlaeyen JWS, Kester ADM, Knottnerus JA. Reduction of Pain Catastrophizing Mediates the Outcome of Both Physical and Cognitive-Behavioral Treatment in Chronic Low Back Pain. J Pain. 2006;7(4):261–71.
- 595. Burns JW, Kubilus A, Bruehl S, Harden RN, Lofland K. Do changes in cognitive factors influence outcome following multidisciplinary treatment for chronic pain? A cross-lagged panel analysis. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2003;71(1):81–91.
- 596. Darnall BD. Pain Psychology and Pain Catastrophizing in Perioperative Setting: A Review of Impacts, Interventions, and Unmet Needs. Hand Clin. 2016;32(1):33–9.
- 597. Tsai HF, Chen YR, Chung MH, Liao YM, Chi MJ, Chang CC, et al. Effectiveness of Music Intervention in Ameliorating Cancer Patients' Anxiety, Depression, Pain, and Fatigue: A Meta-analysis. Cancer Nurs. 2014;37(6):1–16.
- 598. Tatrow K, Montgomery GH. Cognitive behavioral therapy techniques for distress and pain in breast cancer patients: A meta-analysis. J Behav Med. 2006;29(1):17–27.
- 599. Goerling U, Foerg A, Sander S, Schramm N, Schlag PM. The impact of short-term psychooncological interventions on the psychological outcome of cancer patients of a surgicaloncology department - A randomised controlled study. Eur J Cancer. 2011;47(13):2009– 14.
- 600. Sullivan MJL, Adams H, Rhodenizer T, Stanish WD. A Psychosocial Risk Factor-target intervention for the prevention of chronic pain and disability following whiplash injury. Phys Ther. 2006;86(1):8–18.
- Darnall BD, Sturgeon JA, Kao M-C, Hah JM, Mackey SC. From Catastrophizing to Recovery: a pilot study of a single-session treatment for pain catastrophizing. J Pain Res. 2014;7:219–26.
- 602. Wilson CJ, Mitchelson AJ, Tzeng TH, El-Othmani MM, Saleh J, Vasdev S, et al. Caring for the surgically anxious patient: a review of the interventions and a guide to optimizing surgical outcomes. Am J Surg. 2016;212:151–9.
- 603. Lin L-Y, Wang R-H. Abdominal surgery, pain and anxiety: preoperative nursing intervention. J Adv Nurs. 2005;51(3):252–60.

- 604. Ertug N, Ulusoylu O, Bal A, Ozgur H. Comparison of the effectiveness of two different interventions to reduce preoperative anxiety: A randomized controlled study. Nurs Health Sci. 2017;19(2):250–6.
- 605. Granziera E, Guglieri I, Del Bianco P, Capovilla E, Dona' B, Ciccarese AA, et al. A multidisciplinary approach to improve preoperative understanding and reduce anxiety: a randomised study. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2013;30(12):734–42.
- 606. Riddle DL, Keefe FJ, Nay WT, McKee D, Attarian DE, Jensen MP. Pain coping skills training for patients with elevated pain catastrophizing who are scheduled for knee arthroplasty: A quasi-experimental study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2011;92(6):859–65.
- 607. Buhrman M, Nilsson-Ihrfelt E, Jannert M, Ström L, Andersson G. Guided internet-based cognitive behavioural treatment for chronic back pain reduces pain catastrophizing: A randomized controlled trial. J Rehabil Med. 2011;43(6):500–5.
- 608. Clarke H, Kirkham KR, Orser BA, Katznelson R, Mitsakakis N, Ko R, et al. Gabapentin reduces preoperative anxiety and pain catastrophizing in highly anxious patients prior to major surgery: a blinded randomized placebo-controlled trial. Can J Anesthesiol. 2013;60:432–43.
- 609. Caumo W, Levandovski R, Hidalgo MPL. Preoperative Anxiolytic Effect of Melatonin and Clonidine on Postoperative Pain and Morphine Consumption in Patients Undergoing Abdominal Hysterectomy: A Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Study. J Pain. 2009;10(1):100–8.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: QUESTIONNAIRES

Short Orientation-Memory-Concentration Test (SOMC)

Ask each question. Score 0 for incorrect answer, and indicated score for each correct answer or part of answer correct. Self-correction is allowed. Indicate date of test at top.

Question	Scoring if	Score
What year is it now?	4	
Answer		
What month is it now?	3	
Answer		
Repeat this address		
Address chosen (A, B, C, D)		
About what time is it now?	3	
(Correct if within one hour)		
Answer		
Count backwards from 20 to 1	4 or 2	
Two points off for each error		
Say the months in reverse	4 or 2	
order		
Two points off for each error		
Repeat the address given	10, 8, 6,	
Two points off for each error	4, or 2	
TOTAL SCORE		

Address A	Address B	Address C	Address D
Mr. John / Brown,	Mr. Joe / Smith,	Mr. Tom / White,	Mr. Philip / Jones,
42 / West Street,	34 / Church Road	26 / Station Road,	18 / North Way,
Gateshead	Banbury	Aylesbury	Oxford

/ = marks separate items within address

Researcher's Initials:

Confusion Assessment Method Instrument (CAM)

Acute Onset:

1. Is there evidence of an acute change in mental status from the patient's baseline? Yes / No

Inattention

- 2. A. Did the patient have difficulty focusing attention, for example, being easily distractible, or having difficulty keeping track of what was being said? (check answer below)
 - □ Not present at any time during interview.
 - Present at some time during interview, but in mild form.
 - □ Present at some time during interview, in marked form.
 - Uncertain.
 - B. (If present or abnormal) Did this behavior fluctuate during the interview, that is, tend to come and go or increase and decrease in severity? (*check answer below*)
 - □ Yes.
 - □ No.
 - □ Uncertain.
 - □ Not applicable.
 - C. (If present or abnormal) Please describe this behavior:

Disorganized thinking

 Was the patient's thinking disorganized or incoherent, such as rambling or irrelevant conversation, unclear or illogical flow of ideas, or unpredictable switching from subject to subject? Yes / No

Altered level of consiousness

- 4. Overall, how would you rate this patient's level of consciousness?
 - \Box Alert (normal).
 - □ Vigilent (hyperalert, overly sensitive to environmental stimuli, startled very easily).
 - □ Lethargic (drowsy, easily aroused).
 - □ Stupor (difficult to rouse).
 - □ Coma (unarousable).
 - □ Uncertain.

Disorientation

 Was the patient disoriented at any time during the interview, such as thinking that he or she was somewhere other than the hospital, using the wrong bed, or misjudging the time of day? Yes / No

Memory impairment

 Did the patient demonstrate any memory problems during the interview, such as inability to remember events in the hospital or difficulty remembering instructions? Yes / No

Perceptual disturbances

 Did the patient have any evidence of perceptual disturbances, for example, hallucinations, illusions, or misinterpretations (such as thinking something was moving when it was not)? Yes / No

Psychomotor agitation

8. Part 1:

At any time during the interview, did the patient have an unusually increased level of motor activity, such as restlessness, picking at bedclothes, tapping fingers, or making frequent sudden changes of position? Yes / No

Psychomotor retardation

8. Part 2:

At any time during the interview, did the patient have an unusually decreased level of motor activity, such as sluggishness, staring into space, staying in one position for a long time, or moving very slowly? Yes / No

Altered sleep-wake cycle

9. Did the patient have evidence of the sleep-wake cycle, such as excessive daytime sleepiness with insomnia at night? Yes / No

Numeric Rating Scale – Rest (NRS-R)

Please circle the number below which best represents your *present* pain, the pain you are feeling right at this moment.

NI -												Dein er hed
pain	0	1	2	3 4	4 :	5 (5	7	8	9 1	0	as it could be

Numeric Rating Scale – Movement (NRS-M)

<u>Instructions</u>: Patient is to roll from a supine to side-lying position and perform two maximal inspirations before rating their pain.

Please circle the number below which best represents your *present* pain, the pain you are feeling right at this moment.



Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ)

Please indicate which words best describe your pain at present. I will read you each word and if the word describes your pain, I will ask you to rate the intensity of that characteristic as mild, moderate or severe.

	<u>NONE</u>	MILD	MODERATE	<u>SEVERE</u>
THROBBING	0)	1)	2)	3)
SHOOTING	0)	1)	2)	3)
STABBING	0)	1)	2)	3)
SHARP	0)	1)	2)	3)
CRAMPING	0)	1)	2)	3)
GNAWING	0)	1)	2)	3)
HOT-BURNING	0)	1)	2)	3)
ACHING	0)	1)	2)	3)
HEAVY	0)	1)	2)	3)
TENDER	0)	1)	2)	3)
SPLITTING	0)	1)	2)	3)
TIRING-EXHAUSTING	0)	1)	2)	3)
SICKENING	0)	1)	2)	3)
FEARFUL	0)	1)	2)	3)
PUNISHING-CRUEL	0)	1)	2)	3)

PPI

Please choose the word which best describes your pain at the present moment.

- 0 NO PAIN
- 1 MILD
- 2 DISCOMFORTING ____
- 3 DISTRESSING ____
- 4 HORRIBLE
- 5 EXCRUCIATING ____

NEUROPATHIC PAIN QUESTIONNAIRE – Short Form

Please use the items below to rate your pain as it usually feels. Indicate a number which represents your pain on each scale. For example, if you have no tingling pain, you would rate the first item "0". If you have the worst tingling pain imaginable, you would rate it "100". IF neither of those fits your pain because it is in between, choose a number which fits your pain.

-	m .		D .:	
	1 1 1 1	aim	σ Pain	
	1 111	200	21 410	ι,
			0	

= → 100 Worst Tingling Pain Imaginable

2. Numbness

0

At All

No Numbness Sensation → 100 Please rate your usual pain: ______
Worst Numbness Imaginable

pain:

Please rate your usual

3. Increased pain due to touch

 = → 100 Please rate your usual pain: _____ Greatest Increase Imaginable

<u>Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI)</u> (Charlson et al., 1987)

Patient Age: years						
Does the Patient Have: (check appropriate response)						
AIDS?	YES	NO				
Cerebrovascular Disease?	YES	NO				
Chronic Pulmonary Disease?	YES	NO				
Congestive Heart Failure?	YES	NO				
Connective Tissue Disease?	YES	NO				
Dementia?	YES	NO				
Hemiplegia?	YES	NO				
Leukemia?	YES	NO				
Malignant Lymphoma?	YES	NO				
Myocardial Infarction?	YES	NO				
Peripheral Vascular Disease?	YES	NO				
Ulcer Disease?	YES	NO				

Select the appropriate column for each condition; give only 1 answer per row

Diabetes Mellitus	NONE	Without End Orga Damage	With End Organ an Damage	
Liver Disease	NONE	MILD	MODERATE	SEVERE
Renal Disease	NONE	MILD	MODERATE	SEVERE
Malignant Solid Tumour	NONE	MILD	MODERATE	SEVERE

Karnofsky Performance Index (KPI)

- 100 Normal, no complaints, no evidence of disease
- 90 Able to carry on normal activity, minor signs or symptoms of disease
- 80 Normal activity with effort, some signs or symptoms of disease
- 70 Cares for self. Unable to carry on normal activity or to do active work
- 60 Requires occasional assistance, but is able to care for most of his needs
- 50 Requires considerable assistance and frequent medical care
- 40 Disables, requires special care and assistance
- 30 Severely disabled, hospitalization is indicated although death is not imminent
- 20 Hospitalization is necessary, very sick, active supportive treatment necessary
- 10 Moribund, fatal processes progressing rapidly
- 0 Dead

CES-D

Below is a list of the ways you might have felt or behaved. Please tell me how often you have felt this way during the past week.

Rarely or none of the time (less than 1 day)
Some or a little of the time (1-2 days)
Occasionally or a moderate amount of the time (3-4 days)
Most or all of the time (5-7 days)

During the Past Week	Rarely	A little	Moderate	Most
1. I was bothered by things that usually don't bother me	0	1	2	3
2. I did not feel like eating; my appetite was poor	0	1	2	3
3. I felt that I could not shake off the blues Even with help from my family or friends	0	1	2	3
4. I felt that I was just as good as other peop	le 0	1	2	3
5. I had trouble keeping my mind on what I was doing	0	1	2	3
6. I felt depressed	0	1	2	3
7. I felt that everything I did was an effort	0	1	2	3
8. I felt hopeful about the future	0	1	2	3
9. I thought my life had been a failure	0	1	2	3
10. I felt fearful	0	1	2	3
11. My sleep was restless	0	1	2	3
12. I was happy	0	1	2	3

During the Past Week	Rarely	A little	Moderate	Most
13. I talked less than usual	0	1	2	3
14. I felt lonely	0	1	2	3
15. People were unfriendly	0	1	2	3
16. I enjoyed life	0	1	2	3
17. I had crying spells	0	1	2	3
18. I felt sad	0	1	2	3
19. I felt that people disliked me	0	1	2	3
20. I could not get "going"	0	1	2	3

Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS)

Everyone experiences painful situations at some point in their lives. Such experiences may include headaches, tooth pain, joint or muscle pain. People are often exposed to situations that may cause pain such as illness, injury, dental procedures or surgery.

We are interested in the types of thoughts and feelings that you have when you are in pain. Listed below are thirteen statements describing different thoughts and feelings that may be associated with pain. Using the following scale, please indicate the degree to which you have these thoughts and feelings when you are experiencing pain.

0	1	2	3	4
Not at all	To a slight degree	To a moderate degree	To a great degree	All the time

When I am in pain...

1.	I worry all the time about whether the pain will end.	1	2	3	4	5
2.	I feel I can't go on.	1	2	3	4	5
3.	It's terrible and I think it's never going to get any better.	1	2	3	4	5
4.	It's awful and I feel that it overwhelms me.	1	2	3	4	5

0	1 2		3		4		
Not at all	To a slight degree	To a moderate degree	To a deg	great ree	All the time		
5. I feel I can't stand it anymore.			1	2	3	4	5
6. I become afraid that the pain will get worse.			1	2	3	4	5
7. I keep thinking of other painful events.			1	2	3	4	5
8. I anxiously want the pain to go away.			1	2	3	4	5
9. I can't seem to keep it out of my mind.			1	2	3	4	5
10. I keep thinking about how much it hurts.			1	2	3	4	5
11. I keep thinking about how badly I want the pain to stop.			1	2	3	4	5
12. There's nothing I can do to reduce the intensity of the pain.			1	2	3	4	5
13. I wonder whether something serious may happen.			1	2	3	4	5

State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI-S)

DIRECTIONS: A number of statements which people have used to describe themselves are given below. Read each statement and then blacken the appropriate circle to the right of the statement to indicate how you *feel* right now, that is, *at this moment*. There are no right or wrong answers. Do not spend too much time on any one statement but give the answers which seem to describe your present feelings best.



1. I feel calm	0000
2. I feel secure	
3. I am tense	0000
4. I am regretful	0000
5. I feel at ease	0000
6. I feel upset	0000
7. I am presently worrying over possible misfortunes	0000
8. I feel rested	0000
9. I feel anxious	0000
10. I feel comfortable	0000
11. I feel self-confident	0000
12. I feel nervous	0000
13. I am jittery	0000
14. I feel "high strung"	
15. I am relaxed	
16. I feel content	
17. I am worried	0000
18. I feel over-excited and "rattled"	
19. I feel joyful	0000
20. I feel pleasant	0000

Researcher's Initials:

<u>STAI - T</u>

Instructions: Read each statement and then select the appropriate response to indicate how you generally feel. Do not spend too much time on any one statement, but give the answer which seems to describe your present feelings best.

A Little

Somewhat

Very Much So

Not At All

1. I feel calm 2. I feel secure 3. I feel tense 4. I feel strained 5. I feel at ease 6. I feel upset 7. I am presently worrying over possible misfortunes 8. I feel satisfied 9. I feel frightened 10. I feel uncomfortable 11. I feel self confident 12. I feel nervous 13. I feel jittery 14. I feel indecisive 15. I am relaxed 16. I feel content 17. I am worried 18. I feel confused 19. I feel steady 20. I feel pleasant

APPENDIX B: DATA COLLECTION TIMELINE

Assessment	Pre-	OR day	Intra-	6 hours	24 hours	1 week, 6
Time	admission	before	operatively	post-op.	post-op.	weeks, 3
	visit	surgery			· ·	months, and
						6 months
						post-op.
Pain Measures						
Pain History	X					
SF-MPQ	X	X			X	H
NRS-R	X	X		X	X	X
NRS-M	X	X		X	X	X
Satisfaction					X	X
BPI	Н					H
Physical Function a	and Well Bei	ng Measures	;			
Arm Function	X				X	X
(range of motion,						
grip strength,						
edema)						
Menstrual Status	X	X				X
Wound healing						X
ESAS	X	X			X	X
SF-12	H					H
CCI	RA					RA
KPI	RA					RA
Cognitive Screen		_				_
SOMC	X					X
CAM				X	X	
Psychological Meas	sures					_
PASS	H					
STAI	H (S & T)	X (S)			X (S)	H (S)
PCS	H					
Allodynia Measure	s (Quantitat	ive Sensory 1	Testing)	-		
Punctate, thermal &	X	X			X	X
pressure pain	Baseline I	Baseline II				
threshold						
Blood Work						
Estradiol		x			x	X (6 weeks excluded)
Progesterone		Х			X	X (6 weeks
						excluded)
Cytokines	x	x			x	X (6 weeks excluded)
Morphine, M3G, M6G					x	
Analgesic Consum	ption					

APPENDIX C: MODEL ASSUMPTION TESTING

NRS-R

The Durbin-Watson statistic for the NRS-R model was 1.836. The average variance inflation factor (VIF) value, a measure of multicollinearity, was 1.057, indicating no multicollinearity. Outliers were assessed using standardized residuals. 7.2% of standardized residuals were above 2 and the largest standardized residual had an absolute value of 2.14 suggesting no outliers. The standardized residuals were normal based on a histogram and z-values of skewness and kurtosis. All Cook's distance values were below 1 and the highest value was 0.085. All leverage values were below the proposed cut-off suggesting no cases exerted undue influence on the model.

<u>NRS-M</u>

The Durbin-Watson statistic for this model was 1.657. The average VIF value was 1.1535. All standardized residuals were below the cut-off of 3.3. The model for movement-evoked pain had one individual with a standardized residual of 3.177. All leverage values were below the designated cut-off and all Cook's distances were below the threshold of 1. In addition, the standardized residuals were normal according to a histogram and z-scores of skewness and kurtosis. There were only two cases with standardized residuals greater than 2, so a total of 2.4% of cases were above 2.

<u>SF-MPQ</u>

The Durbin-Watson statistic for the model predicting SF-MPQ scores was 1.535. The average VIF value was 1.067. VIF values met the designated criteria to prevent multicollinearity. Standardized residuals were normal and all were below 3. The largest was 2.79. The largest Cook's distance was 0.154 and all leverage points were below the designated cut-off.

SF-NPQ

The Durbin-Watson statistic was 1.545. The average VIF value in the final model was 1.02, indicating no multicollinearity issues. Standardized residuals were normally distributed based on a histogram and z-scores of skewness and kurtosis. The highest standardized residual was 2.16. The highest Cook's distance was 0.11 and all leverage values were below the designated cut-off.